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The color portion of Sealed Air's 2003 Annual Report
is printed on 100% recycled content paper produced

entirely at the Company’s Reading, PA facilities.



Dear Fellow Stockholders The year 2003 reflected the strength of Sealed Air’'s global organization

We achieved record

net sales in 2003

- by leveraging our

global reach, which

Now ENCAMPASSES

operaltions in

50 countries.

and the value of our longstanding commitment to continuous
improvement in our business. We achieved record net sales in 2003 by
leveraging our global reach, which now encompasses operations in

50 countries. During the year, Sealed Air completed a significant
recapitalization that we expect will provide ongoing benefits for our
business and our stockholders. We invested in three new manufacturing
facilities to meet the growing needs of our customers. Moreover, we
continued to make a difference in our business and in our world through

our products and through our World Class Manufacturing initiatives.

Our net sales increased 10% for the year, which helped us to meet our
diluted earnings per common share expectations for 2003. In.fact, we
achieved new quarterly sales records in each of the last three quarters
of the year. Although the positive effects of foreign currency transilation
were a significant part of our growth in net sales for the year, every
region of our business delivered a positive contribution to growth even

excluding the currency effects.

Sealed Air's food packaging segment beneﬁted from our global
operations, as well as strong results in our strategic growth programs.
Overall, Sealed Air's food packaging segment sales iﬁcreased 12%, or
5% excluding the effects of foreign currency translation, which helped
drive an 11% increase in operating profit for the food segment in

2003. Our leadership position in the global case ready packaging and .
vertical pouch packaging markets as well as the strength of our global
perishable food packaging business helped contribute favorably to the

growth of the food packaging segment in 2003.



Our protective and specialty packaging segment also benefited from
the advantage of our global réach and the differentiated value of our
products. As a result, this segment achieved 8% growth in net sales

in 2003, or 3% growth excluding the positive effects of foreign currency
translation. For the year, we continued to emphasize the differentiated
value and performance of Sealed Air’s products for our customers’
businesses around the world. Improvements in price/mix were the most
significant factors contributing to growth in the protective business,
excluding currency effects. Despite these gains, persistent challenging
economic conditions and higher petrochemical-based raw material
costs for the year continued to affect the protective and speciaity
packaging segment. These factors contributed to a 4.5% decrease in
segment operatihg profit in 2003. However, Sealed Air's constant focus
on differentiated value and performance in the marketplace helped
dampen the negative impact of higher raw material costs on the

business in 2003.

A significant highlight of Sealed Air’s year in 2003 was the redemption
in July of the Company’s Series A convertible preferred stock. We
financed the redemption primarily through the private issuance of
approximately $1.3 billion of senior notes and convertible senior notes.
We raised these fixed rate funds when long-term interest rates were
near their lowest point in the past forty years. This recapitalization
provides long-term value to our stockholders and our business
consistent with Sealed Air’s priorities and operating principles. It
contributes to our cash flow, as the net after-tax interest expense

on the new debt is less than the dividends that we would have paid
on the preferred stock. Earnings per common share in future years

will no longer be diluted by the potential conversion of the Series A

-=:@VEry region of our

business delivered a

positive contribution

to growth even

excluding the

currency eflects.



All of us at Sealed

&Afr will continue to

drive preductivity

improvement in 2004

using the tools of WCW

to help deliver value

to our custeomers and

our business.

convertible preferred stock. Finally, Sealed Air's business will benefit

from the extended maturities and lower cost of the new borrowings.

In the fourth quarter, we used our significant cash position to repurchase
approximately $122.5 million face amount of our 8.75% senior notes
due July 1, 2008 and $50 million face amount of our 6.95% senior notes
due May 15, 2009. Although Sealed Air made these repurchases at

a premium to the face amount of the notes, which resulted in a net
after-tax charge to tﬁe Company’s earnings in 2003, the repurchases
reduce interest costs and repayment obligations in future years. We
expect that this debt reduction, combined with the improvements we
made in our capital structure by redeeming our convertible preferred
stock, will benefit our busi|_1ess and our stockholders going forward.
Our significant cash flows from operating activities, which are part

of our focus and culture and a key to our long-term success, supported
these actions. We expect to continue using our strong cash flows to

provide for the future growth and added value of our businesses.

Global reach was a key component of our success in 2003 and it will
likely contribute to our success in the future. Our operations around
the world allow us to provide Sealed Air’s high performance, value-
enhancing products and services to our customers almost anywhere at
any time. In 2003, we invested in ihree new manufacturing facilities

to meet the growing needs of our customers. New plants in Hungary
and Arkansas will support the worldwide growth of our food packaging
businesses. Sealed Air's new facility in South Carolina will provide
packaging products for medical and pharmaceutical solutions for our

global customers’ growth in the international medical market. As we




have always done, Sealed Air will continue to invest to support the

growth of our customers around the world.

The theme of this year’s annual repbrt is “making a difference in our
business and in our world.” In the pages that foliow, we highlight a few
of our many products and some examples of the people and projects
under our World Class Manufacturing (WCM) initiative that bring real
value to our customers, our business and our world. At Sealed Air, we
are convinced that leadership in our products and our business goes

hand-in-hand with making a positive difference in our world.

In an environment of high petrochemical-related costs and the ever-
increasing cost of doing business, our‘ commitment to WCM provides
the means for productivity iniprovement to help offset these costs.
All of us at Sealed Air\'willbcontinue to drive productivity improvement
in 2004 using the tools of WCM to help deliver value to our customers

and our business.

We remain focused on making a difference in our business every day —
making a difference to bring value to our customers, employees and
stockholders and to our wbrld. We are confident in our long-term
outiook and in our positioning. On behalf of the nearly 18,000 employees

of Sealed Air, 1 thank you for your support in 2003 and your commitment

/%/4.,//,44;7

William V. Hickey

President and Chief Executive Officer

Willizam V. Hickey -

President and
Chief Execulive Officer

Sealed Afr Corporation



Sealed Air

Making a difference in our business and in our world

Top: Lightweight Sealed Air®

protective packaging
innovations save energy by

reducing freight.

Bottom: Sealed Air's
Cryovac® performance food
packaging products have
enabled the safe, secure
distribution of fresh food for

more than 50 years.

Betler packaging ldeas make a positive difference not only in our

business, bul In eur werld.

Sealed Air revolutionized protective packaging with the invention of Bubble
Wrap® cushioning in 1960. This innovation, like the many others from Sealed Air,
continues to demonstrate that better packaging ideas make a positive
difference, not only in our business, but in our world. Lightweight Sealed Air®
protective packaging innovations save energy by reducing freight. Efficient
and effective Sealed Air food packaging éysterhs help feed a hungry world
and.save scarce resources by protecting meat and other food products from

spoilage during distribution.

Our Bubble Wrap product line has significantly reduced damage and breakage
during shipping and storage for more than a generation. This incredibly
lightweight material has also reduced freight and postage costs compared to
the heavier paper used before Bubble Wrap cushioning. We probably don't
even need to mention the countless hours of simple fun enjoyed by milions

of children every year popping Bubble Wrap bubbles. In fact, Sealed Air's
Bubble Wrap brand is so widely recognized that the last Monday of January
every year has been declared national Bubble Wrap Appreciation Day by

Chase’s Calendar of Events.
Our Cryovac® performance food packaging products have enabled the safe,

secure distribution of fresh meat, poultry and other food products for more

than 50 years. Cryovac packaging efficiently extends shelf life and reduces the



incidence of spoilage so that fresh, wholesome and nutritious food products
travel safely from the processor to the dinner table. Sealed Air's Cryovac
business pioneered the use of vacuum packaging technology that is essential
to the year-round distribution of meat, poultry and seafood for a growing,
hungry world. Today, Cryovac® packaging systems help to spread the conven-
ience of case ready fresh meat distribution in modern supermarkets, as well
as the health and convenience of refrigerated meat distribution in developing

economies.

For three decades, shippers have used our Instapak® foam-in-place cushioning
to reduce packaging material requirements and minimize damage during
shipping and storage. By our score, Sealed Air packaging engineers have used
Instapak foam to help our customers eliminate an average of 2 milion pounds

per year of excess packaging material since 1998.

Fill-Air® inflatable cushioning and our new Inflatable Bubble Wrap® cushioning
efficiently protect goods in shipping and eliminate the mess and inconvenience
of loose-fil packaging altematives. A few Fill-Air bags or a fittle Inflatable Bubble
Wrap cushioning goes a long way toward enabling the convenience of e-tail

shopping and home delivery.

Top: Instapak® foam has

helped our customers
eliminate an average of
2 million pounds per year
of excess packaging

material since 1998.

Bottom: Fill-Air® inflatable
cushioning eliminates

the mess and inconvenience
of loose-fill packaging

alternatives.



WCM — Making a difference in our

business and in our world

World Class WManufacturing (WGCGM)
has had a major impact on Sealed
Alr's success for many years:
WCM principles are an mportant
E@@Eﬁﬁ of our culture and motivate
us to MS@ our resources efficiently
and saffely. Meet four dedicated
teams from aroune the world |
that exemplify the value of WCM
In making a diference in both our

business and in our worlds



The value of the Due
Carrare {eam’s work
means cost reductions

for Sealed Alrs

One plant’s trash is
another plant’s treasure

business and less

material in the seolid

waste stream.

Reusing Scrap

Our Due Carrare, Italy operation produces intermediate components and packaging materials for
other Sealed Air protectMe packaging products. A local team from Due Carrare discovered a way
“to recycle scrap materials from ot‘her Sealed Air products and locations back into the products
produced in Due Carrare. The team’s initial work demonstrated the ability to incorporate a

variety of percentages of scrap as high as 100% depending on the end-use product application.
Today, our Due Carrare operation incorporates scrap in flm materials in a range of blends for

a variety of standard and new Sealed Air products. Indeed, the Due Carrare team proved that

one plant’'s trash is another plant's treasure. The value of the Due Carrare team’s work means

cost reductions for Sealed Air's business and less material in the solid waste stream.



Reduces Waste

AN A A o e

The Due Carrare team Daniele Furlan, Polymate Coordinator;
Antonio Zuin, Operator; Mario Canziani, Plant Quality Supervisor; Vasile Zetu, Operator;

Massimo Scarparo, Plant Manager; Roberto Squarcina, Production Supervisor



Challenging Assumptions

The $t. Neots team Steve Jarvis, Shift Leader; Bob Wade, Shift Leader;

Darren Crampton, Shift Leader; Kevin Tipping, Shift Leader; John Hill, Films Trainer;

Dave O'Driscoll, Shift Supervisor; Steve Wilson, Films Process Engineer



Today, this new idea
is being transferred
tec other Sealed Al

facilities around the

Challenging conventional
meaningti savings wisdom leads a team
in our eperations. to turn waste into value

worid resulting in

Commercial Success

Our St. Neots, United Kingdom facility produces a variety of products for Sealed Air customers.
A team from St. Neots worked to reprocess shrink film scrap directly back into the same
commercial shrink film. The team challenged a long-established notion that shrink film scrap

¢
could not be recycled back into the product. Wdrking very deliberately beginning with low, but
progressively incrfaasing qguantities of reprocessed materials, the team successfully demonstrated
that manufgcturing process performance. and final product quality attributes were not diminished.
Their success refuted old ideas gnd proved that scrap reprocessing is commercially viable. Today,
this new approach is being transferred to other Sealed Air facilities around the world resulting

in meaningful savings in our cperations. By challenging conventional wisdom, the St. Neots team

was able to tum waste into value for Sealed Air’s business.



The work of the
Simpsonviile team
resuited in improved

equipment uptime and

A ‘pit stop’ idea leads

with vivtuaty £ rapid response team
investment required. to increase capacity and
improve productivity

a yield enhancement

Rapid Response

Our Simpsonville, South Carolina operation produces a wide variety of Sealed Air's food and
protective and specialty packaging products. Although we constantly seek ways to reuse scrap
in our operations, our ultimate goal is to eliminate scrap generated in our processes — and
sometimes the focus on scrap yields unexpected capacity and productivity increases. Recently,
a team at our Simpsonville, South Carolina facility tackled long-held assumptions about scrap
generation during a part of the manufacturing process. After careful study that included team-
based problem solving, detailed cause and effect analysis and rank ordering of the opportunities,
the team implemented a new idea. Borrowing from automaobile racing, the new action plan
adopted a “pit stop” approach, which provided rapid, organized responses to line problems. The
. work of the Simpsonville team resutted in improved equipment uptime and a yield enhancement

with virtually no investment required. Their work improved productivity, reduced scrap and

effectively increased capacity — all of which add value to Sealed Air's business.



lelas Result

The Simpsonville team Bobby Brock, Fims Operator, David Knight, Fims Operator;

Alvin Young, Fims Operator; Lioyd Paxton, Films Operator; Bill Anderson, Fims Production
Supervisor; Joe Mullaney, Films Process Engineer; Allan Brockman, Films Operator;

Luke Hitt, Fims Operator; Ken Entwistle, Films Process Technician

®



Ssalety Awareness

The Teluca team Sergio Hernandez, Mechanic; Karla Lara, Assistant to Technical

Services; Ulises Conejo, EH&S Superintendent; Hector Arredondo, Maintenance
Superintendent; Eduardo Medina, Warehouse Superintendent; José Luis Hermandez, QC
Supervisor; Noel Sanchez, Instapak Lab Responsible; Emeterio Nava, Warehouse Operator;

Francisco Valenzuela, Laminates Operator; Marco Antonio Cuevas, Barrier Operator

®



The employees aﬂlﬁhe
Toluca operation have

achieved a remariable

level of safety perform- | ‘ The safe way is the

ance for the last five -
yvears helping to sel the _ only way at sealed Alr
stendard for all Sealed anywhere, anytime

Alr operations around

the world.

Sound Performance

Our Toluca, Mexico plant is positioned geographically to supply Sealed Air's growing business in
Latin America. The employees in this operation have held saféty as a piliar of sound plant
performance for many years. Their application of safety management tools, safety awareness
and the development of a strong safety culture within their operation is clearly evident at the site.
Thé’employees at the Toluca operation have achieved a remarkable level of safety performance
for the last five years, helping to set the standard for all Sealed Air operations around the world. In
- addition, the Toluca operation participates in a voluntary safety and environmental audit program
in its local community. In 2002 the Governor of the State of Mexico honored cur Toluca plant
as “A Safe Environment Company.” At Sealed Air, the safe way is the only way for our operations
around the world. Our goal, as exemplified in Toluca, is to create a productivé work environment

where all employees leave work at the end of the day just as healthy as when they arrived.
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Corporate Intormation

Countries in which Sealed Air
and its Subsidiaries Operate

Asia
China
India
Indonesia
Japan
Korea
The Americas Malaysia
Argentina Philiopines
Brazit Singapore
Canada Taiwan
Chile Thailand
Colombia
Costa Rica
éi:i::al a ’ Europe, Middle East, Africa ' :::tt:;il:sna
Mexico Belgium Hungary Sou.th Africa New Zealand
Peru Botswana Ireland Spain
United States Czech Republic Israel Sweden
Uruguay Denmark ltaly Switzerland
Venezuela Finland Luxembourg  The Netherlands
France Norway Turkey
Germany Poland Ukraine
Greece Portugal United Kingdom
Russia

Safety and Environment

Sealed Air is committed to providing safe working conditions for our employees and to investing in
product research, development and testing to promote the safe design, use and handiing of our products
throughout the world. '

We are dedicated to being pro-active on environmental issues affecting our business and industry and to
providing a safe workplace. Our Environment, Health and Safety Steering Committee, comprised of
cormporate and operating personnel, is committed to seeing that our operations are conducted in a way
that is consistent with sound environmental, health and safety practices.

We use significant amounts of recycled materials in our protective packaging products both by acquirng
such materials from third parties, such as newspapers which are used in our Jiffy® padded mailers, and by
recycling and reprocessing scrap materials generated in our manufacturing processes. We also participate
in programs to collect packaging materials from our distributors and other customers and recycle and
reprocess those materials.

Through management leadership and the use of key safety process tools, we strive to improve workplace
safety and reduce injuries. We also work toward safety and environmental excellence as an integral part of
our World Class Manufacturing program.



Directors ancl Orincers

Directors

Hank Brown @

President and Chief Executive Officer,
The Raniels Fund (Charitable Foundation)
Elected to the Board in 1987

Michael Chu"®

Managing Director and Founding Partner,
Pegasus Capital (Private Investment Firm)
Elected to the Board in 2002

Lawrence R. Codey "@

Former President, Public Service Electric
and Gas Company

Elected to the Board in 1993

(1) Member of Audit Committee.

T. J. Dermot Dunphy

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Kildare Enterprises, LLC (Private Equity
Investment and Management Firm)
Elected to the Board in 1969

Charles F. Farrell, Jr. @9

President, Crystal Creek Associates, LLC
(Investment Management and Business
Consuitting Firm)

Elected to the Board in 1971

William V. Hickey

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Sealed Air Corporation

Elected to the Board in 1899

(2) Member of Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
(3) Member of Organization and Compensation Committee.
The dates shown indicate the year in which each of the directors was first elected a director of the Company or of the former Sealed Air.

Officers

William V. Hickey
President and

Chief Executive Officer

First elected an officer in 1980

David H. Kelsey

Senicr Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

First elected an officer in 2002

Robert A. Pesci
Senior Vice President
First elected an officer in 1990

J. Stuart K. Prosser
Senior Vice President
First elected an officer in 1899

Jonathan B. Baker
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1894

Mary A. Coventry
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1994

James P. Mix
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1894

Manuel Mondragdn
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1999

Carol Lee O’Neill
Vice President
First elected an officer in 2002

Hugh L. Sargant
Vice President
First elected an officer in 1999

Kenneth P, Manning

Chairman, President and Chief Executive
Officer, Sensient Technologies
Corporation (Supplier of Flavors, Colors
and Inks)

Elected to the Board in 2002

William J., Marino ©

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Horizon Blue Cross Blue Shield

of New Jersey

Elected to the Board in 2002

Frederick Smagorinsky
Vice President
First elected an officer in 2001

James Donald Tate
Vice President
First elected an officer in 2001

H. Katherine White

Vice President,

General Counsel and Secretary
First elected an officer in 1996

Tod S. Christie
Treasurer
First elected an officer in 1999

Jeffrey S. Warren
Controller
First elected an officer in 1996

The dates shown indicate the year in which each of the officers was first elected an officer of the Company or of the former Sealed Air.




Steckholder Intormation

Annual Meeting

The Annual Meeting of stock-
holders of the Company is
scheduled to be held on May 5,
2004 at 10.00 am ED.T. at the
Saddle Brook Marriott, Garden
State Parkway at |-80, Saddle

Brook, New Jersey 07663-5894.

Sealed Air's Annual Report to
Stockholders is sent to stock-
holders of record and to the
street name holders through
banks and brokerage houses
in March unless electronic
access has been authorized
by the stockholder. It can
also be accessed through
the Company's web site at
www.sealedair.com.

Press Releases

As a New York Stock Exchange
listed company (NYSE symbol
SEE), Sealed Air issues guarterly
earning reports and other news
releases to the general media.
They can also be accessed
through the Company’s web
site at www.sealedair.com.

Stockholders who wish to
receive paper copies of
these releases should advise
the Company by calling
866-551-7925 or by writing
to Investor Relations at the
foliowing address:

Investor Relations

Sealed Air Corporation
Park 80 East

Saddle Brook, New Jersey
07663-5291

Securities and Exchange
Commissicn Reports
Sealed Air's Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange
Commission is available in
March, and guarterly Form
10-Q reports are available in
May, August, and November.

The Company's SEC filings

are available in the Investor
Information section of the
Company's web site at
www.sealedair.com. Copies
may also be obtained by calling
866-551-7925. For additional
information, please contact:

Eric D. Burrell, Director of
Corporate Communications
201-791-7600

Code of Conduct and
Corporate Governance

Sealed Alr is committed to
conducting business in
accordance with the highest
standards of business ethics
as described in the Company’s
Code of Conduct. Sealed Air's
Code of Conduct and additional
corporate governance
information can be accessed
in the Investor Information
section of the Company’'s web
site at www.sealedair.com.

Stock Transfer Agent
Mellon Investor Services LLC

Regular mail:

P.O. Box 3315

South Hackensack, NJ
07606-1915

Registered or Overnight Mail:
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660

Internet:
www.melloninvestor.com

Telephone:

800-648-8381 (US and Canada)
201-329-8660 (Intemational)
201-329-8354 (TDD for hearing
impaired)

Automated telephone support
services are available 24

hours per day 7 days per week.
Mellon customer service
representatives are available
from 9:00 am to 7:00 pm
Eastern Time, Monday through
Friday.

When calling, please have
your social security number or
taxpayer identification number
available, and please identify
yourself as a Sealed Air
stockholder. You will also need
to furnish them with the name
in which your account is being
maintained.

independent Auditor
KPMG LLP
Short Hills, New Jersey
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003
OR

U TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 1-12139

SEALED AIR CORPORATION

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 65-0654331
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer Identification Number)
Incorporation or Organization)

Park 80 East, Saddle Brook, New Jersey . 07663-5291
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, including Area Code: (201) 791-7600

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par vatue $0.10 per share New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period
that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for
the past 90 days. Yes No []

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or
information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this
Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Act). Yes No [0

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant on
June 30, 2003 was approximately $3,952,000,000.

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant’s Common Stock as of February 27, 2004 was 85,576,482.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE: Portions of the registrant’s definitive proxy statement
for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this Form 10-K.
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PART 1

Item 1. Business

Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”), operating through its subsidiaries, manufactures and sells a
wide range of food, protective and specialty packaging products.

The Company conducts substantially all of its business through two direct wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation (US). These two subsidiaries directly and indirectly own
substantially all of the assets of the business and conduct operations themselves and through
subsidiaries around the globe. References herein to the Company include, collectively, the Company
and its subsidiaries, except where the context indicates otherwise.

Segments

The Company operates in two reportable business segments: (i) Food Packaging and (ii) Protective and
Specialty Packaging, described more fully below. Information concerning the Company’s reportable
segments appears in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part I, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Food Packaging Products

The Company’s principal food packaging products are its flexible materials and related systems
marketed primarily under the Cryovac® trademark for packaging a broad range of perishable foods
and the Company’s rigid packaging and absorbent pads. The Company primarily sells the products in
this segment to food processors, distributors and food service businesses.

Flexible Materials and Related Systems

The Company produces a variety of high-performance proprietary flexible films, bags and associated
packaging equipment marketed and sold primarily under the Cryovac® trademark. Customers use these
products to package a broad range of perishable foods such as fresh meat and poultry, smoked and
processed meat, cheese, processed and prepared foods such as soups and sauces for restaurants and
institutions, and produce. '

The Company’s principal food packaging products are shrink bags, shrink films and laminated films
sold for food packaging applications. Shrink bags and films are co-extruded, multi-layered, shrinkable
plastic bags and films that, when exposed to heat, mold themselves to the shape of the product.
Laminated films are multi-layered, non-shrinkable plastic materials used to package perishable foods
and shelf-stable products such as syrups and toppings. The Company produces films and bags in barrier
and permeable forms, depending on the extent to which customers want oxygen or other gases to pass
through the material. For fresh-cut produce, the Company produces films that permit gases to pass
through at various rates, thereby matching the varying respiration rates of different vegetables and
permitting longer shelf life.

The Company’s principal food packaging equipment offerings are dispensing and loading units to
package foods in shrink, vacuum or vacuum skin packages, which can utilize the Company’s films and
bags; form-fill-seal units to package foods in pouches, which can be made using the Company’s films;
shrink tunnels; bagging systems; and auxiliary equipment. The Company markets systems to the food
processing industry under the Cryovac® and other trademarks. The Company’s case ready packaging
customers, principally meat and poultry processors, purchase trays and pads as discussed below,
specially designed films, and packaging equipment to centrally package meat and poultry products prior
to shipment to the supermarket. Case ready packages are ready for the meat case upon arrival at the
retail store.




Rigid Packaging and Absorbent Pads

The Company manufactures and sells polystyrene foam and solid plastic trays and containers that
customers use to package a wide variety of food products. Supermarkets and food processors use these
products to protect and display fresh meat, poultry, dairy, produce and other food products. The
Company also manufactures and sells absorbent pads used for food packaging, such as its Dri-Loc®
absorbent pads.

Protective and Specialty Packaging Products

The Company’s principal protective and specialty packaging products provide cushioning, surface
protection and void fill. The Company primarily sells its protective and specialty packaging products
and systems to distributors and manufacturers in a wide variety of industries. The products in this
segment enable end users to provide a high degree of protection in packaging their items by means of
cushioning or surface protection, or a combination thereof, as well as void fill.

Cushioning and Surface Protection Products

The Company manufactures and markets Bubble Wrap® and AirCap® air cellular packaging materials,
which consist of air encapsulated between two layers of plastic film, each containing a barrier layer to
retard air loss, that form a pneumatic cushion to protect products from damage through shock or
vibration during shipment. The Company sells performance shrink films under the Cryovac® and
Opti® trademarks for product display and merchandising applications. Customers use these films .
primarily to “shrink-wrap” a wide assortment of industrial and consumer products. The Company’s
Instapak® polyurethane foam packaging systems (which consist of proprietary blends of polyurethane
chemicals, high performance polyolefin films and specially designed dispensing equipment) provide
protective packaging for a wide variety of products. The Company generally sells CelluPlank® plank
foams and Stratocell® laminated polyethylene foams to fabricators and converters for packaging and
non-packaging applications. The Company also manufactures thin polyethylene foams in roll and sheet
form under the trademarks Cell-Aire® and Cellu-Cushion®. Korrvu® packaging is the Company’s
suspension and retention packaging offering. The Company makes insulation products with foil-faced
air cellular materials. The Company also offers films, tubing and connectors for use in manufacturing
containers and pouches for a wide variety of medical applications.

The Company manufactures and markets Jiffy® protective mailers and other durable mailers and bags
in several standard sizes. The Company’s principal protective mailers are lightweight, tear-resistant
mailers marketed under various trademarks, including Jiffylite® and Mail Lite™, lined with air cellular
cushioning material, as well as the widely used Jiffy® padded mailers made from recycled kraft paper
padded with macerated recycled newspaper. The Company’s durable mailers and bags, composed of
multi-layered polyolefin film, are lightweight, water-resistant and puncture-resistant and are available in
tamper-evident varieties. The Company markets these mailers and bags under the ShurTuff®, Trigon®,
Lab Pak®, Keepsafe® and Tuffgard® trademarks and other brands. The Company also manufactures
and sells paper packaging products under the trademarks Kushion Kraft®, Custom Wrap™, Jiffy
Packaging™ and Void Kraft™.

The Company also offers inflatable packaging systems. The Fill-Air® system converts rolls of
polyethylene film into continuous perforated chains of air-filled cushions, and the Rapid Fill® system
consists of a compact, portable infiator and self-sealing inflatable plastic bags. The Company produces
and markets converting systems that convert some of the Company’s packaging materials, such as air
cellular cushioning materials, thin polyethylene foam and paper packaging materials, into sheets of a
pre-selected size and quantity or, for the Company’s recycled kraft paper, into paper dunnage material.
The Company also offers Shanklin® and-other shrink packaging systems.




Other Products

The Company manufactures and sells a number of other products, such as specialty adhesive tapes,
solar collectors and covers for swimming pools, and products related to the elimination and
neutralization of static electricity. The Company-also manufactures recycled kraft paper and loose-fill
polystyrene packaging. :

Foreign Operations

The Company operates in the United States and in 49 other countries, and its products are’ distributed
in those countries as well as in other parts of the world. In maintaining its foreign operations, the
Company faces risks inherent in these operations, such as those of currency fluctuations. Information
on currency exchange risk appears in Part I, Item 7A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which
information is incorporated herein by reference. Financial information about geographic areas setting
forth net sales and total long-lived assets for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2003 appears in Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Marketing, Distribution and Customers

The Company employs over 2,600 sales and marketing personnel in the countries in which it operates,
who market the Company’s products through a large number of distributors, fabricators and converters,
as well as directly to end users such as food processors, food service businesses, and manufacturers.

To support its food packaging customers, the Company operates food science laboratories that assist
customers in identifying the appropriate food packaging materials and systems to meet their needs. The
Company also offers customized graphic design services to its food packaging and mailer customers.

To assist its marketing efforts for its protective and specialty packaging products and to provide
specialized customer services, the Company operates packaging laboratories in many of its United
States and foreign facilities. These laboratories are staffed by professional packaging engineers and
equipped with drop-testing and other equipment used to develop and test cost-effective package designs
to meet the particular protective and specialty packaging requirements of each customer.

The Company has no material long-term contracts for the distribution of its products. In 2003, no
customer or affiliated group of customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s consolidated
net sales.

Although net sales of both food packaging products and protective and specialty packaging products
tend to be slightly higher in the fourth quarter, the Company does not consider seasonality to be
material to its consolidated business.

Competition

Competition for most of the Company’s packaging products is-based primarily on packaging
performance characteristics, service and price. Since competition is also based upon innovations in
packaging technology, the Company maintains ongoing research and development programs to enable it
to maintain technological leadership. There are other companies producing competing products that are
well established and may have greater financial resources than the Company.

There are other manufacturers of food packaging products, some of which are companies offering
similar products that operate on a global basis and others that operate in a region or single country.
Competing manufacturers produce a wide variety of food packaging based on plastic, paper, metals and
other materials. The Company believes that it is one of the leading suppliers of flexible food packaging
materials and related systems in the principal geographic areas in which it offers those products and




one of the leading suppliers of absorbent pads for food products to supermarkets and poultry
processors in the United States.

The Company’s protective and specialty packaging products compete with similar products made by
other manufacturers and with a number of other packaging materials that customers use to provide
protection against damage to their products during shipment and storage. Among the competitive
materials are various forms of paper packaging products, expanded plastics, corrugated die cuts,
loosefill packaging materials, strapping, envelopes, reinforced bags, boxes and other containers, and
various corrugated materials. The Company’s Instapak® packaging and its plank and laminated foam
products also compete with various types of molded foam plastics, fabricated foam plastics and
mechanical shock mounts and with wood blocking and bracing systems. The Company believes that it is
one of the leading suppliers of air cellular cushioning materials containing a barrier layer, shrink films
for industrial and commercial applications, protective mailers, polyethylene foam and polyurethane
foam packaging systems in the principal geographic areas in which it sells these products.

Raw Materials

The raw materials for the Company’s products generally have been readily available on the open
market and in most cases are available from several suppliers. Some. materials used in the Company’s
protective packaging products are reprocessed from scrap generated in the Company’s manufacturing
operations or obtained through participation in recycling programs. The principal raw materials used in
both of the Company’s reportable business segments are polyolefin and other petrochemical-based
resins and films, paper and wood pulp products, and blowing agents used in foam packaging products.
In addition, the Company offers a wide variety of specialized packaging equipment, some of which it
manufactures or has manufactured to its specifications, some of which it assembles and some of which
it purchases from other suppliers.

Product Development

The Company maintains a continuing effort to develop new .products and improvements to its existing
products and processes as-well as new packaging and non-packaging applications for its products. From
time to time, the Company also acquires new packaging designs or techniques developed by others that
it believes to be promising and commercializes them. The Company has joint research and development
projects combining the technical capabilities of its food packaging operations and its protective and
specialty packaging operations. The Company incurred expenses of $69.0 million related to Company-
sponsored research and development in 2003, compared with $59.3 million during 2002, and

$55.8 million during 2001.

Patents and Trademarks

The Company is the owner or licensee of a number of United States and foreign patents, patent
applications and trademark registrations that relate to many of its products, manufacturing processes
and equipment. The Company believes that its patents and trademarks collectively provide a
competitive advantage. Neither of the Company’s reportable segments, however, is dependent upon any
single patent or trademark alone. Rather, the Company believes that its success depends primarily on
its marketing, engineering and manufacturing skills and on its ongoing research and development
efforts. The Company believes that the expiration or unenforceability of any of its patents, applications,
licenses or trademark registrations would not be material to the Company’s business or financial
position. o '




Environmental Matters

The Company, like other manufacturers, is subject to various laws, rules and regulations in the
countries, jurisdictions and localities in which it operates covering the discharge of materials into the
environment, regarding standards for the treatment, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes
or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment. The Company reviews the effects of
environmental laws and regulations on its operations and believes that compliance with current
environmental laws and regulations has not had a matenal effect on the Company s capital
expenditures or financial position. P

In some jurisdictions in which the Company’s packaging products are sold or used, laws and regulations
have been adopted or proposed that seek to regulate, among other things, recycled or reprocessed
content and sale or disposal of packaging materials. In addition, customer demand continues to evolve
for packaging materials that are viewed as being “environmentally responsible” and that minimize the
generation of solid waste. While these issues can be a competitive factor in the marketplace for
packaging materials, the Company maintains programs designed to comply with these laws and
regulations, to monitor their evolution, and to meet this customer demand.

The Company also supports its customers’ interests in eliminating waste by offering or participating in
collection programs for some of the Company’s products or product packaging and for materials used
in some of the Company’s products. When possible, matérials collected through these programs are
reprocessed and either reused in the Company’s protectrve packaging operations or offered to other
manufacturers for use in other products.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, the Company had approximately 17,600 employees worldwide.
Approximately 7,900 of those employees were in the U.S., with approximately 450 of those covered by
collective bargaining agreements. Of the approximately 9, 700 Company employees who were outside
the U.S., .approximately 6,100 were covered by collective bargaining agreements. Outside of the U.S,,
many of the covered employees are represented by works councils or industrial boards, as is customary

in'the jurisdictions in which these employees are employed. The Company belreves that its employee
relations are satisfactory.

Available Information

The Company’s Internet address is www.sealedair.com. The Company makes available, free of charge,
on or through its web site at www.sealedaircom, its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished under
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably practicable after
the Company electronically fllCS these materials with, or furnishes them to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Item 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2003, the Company produced food packagmg products in 52 manufactunng
facilities, of which 15 were in North America, 16 in the European region, 9 in Latin America, 11 in the
Asia Pacific region, and 1 in Africa. The Company produced protective and specialty packaging
products in 92 manufacturing facilities, of which 40 were in North America, 26 in the European region,
10 in Latin America, 14 in the Asia Pacific region, and 2 in Africa. A number of the Company’s
manufacturing facilities serve both segments. The Company occupies other facilities containing sales,
distribution, technical, warehouse or administrative functions at a number of locations in the United
States and in various foreign -countries.




In the United States, the Company manufactures food packaging products at facilities in Arkansas,
Indiana, Towa, Mississippi, Missouri, New York, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, South Carolina and
Texas. It manufactures protective and specialty packaging products at facilities in California,
Connecticut, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Massachusetts, Mississippi, Missouri, New Jersey, New York,
North Carolina, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Texas and Washington. Because of the light but bulky
nature of the Company’s air cellular, polyethylene foam and protective mailer products, the Company
realizes significant freight savings by locating manufacturing facilities for these products near customers.

The Company owns the large majority of its manufacturing facilities. Some of these facilities are subject
to secured or other financing arrangements. The Company also leases sites for warehouse and office
needs, as well as for the balance of its manufacturing facilities, which are generally smaller sites. The
Company’s manufacturing facilities are usually located in general purpose buildings that house the
Company’s specialized machinery for the manufacture of one or more products. The Company believes
that its manufacturing, warehouse and office facilities are well maintained, suitable for their purposes
and adequate for the Company’s needs.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in Part II, Item 8 of this Annﬁal Report on Form 10-K in Note 18 under the
captions “Cryovac Transaction” and “Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction” is
incorporated herein by reference. '

At December 31, 2003, the Company was a party to, or otherwise involved in, several federal, state and
foreign environmental proceedings and private environmental claims for the cleanup of “Superfund”
sites under the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980-and
other sites. The Company may have potential liability for investigation and cleanup of some of these
sites. It is the Company’s policy to accrue for environmental cleanup costs if it is probable that a
liability has been incurred and if the Company can reasonably estimate an amount or range of costs
associated with various alternative remediation strategies, without giving effect to any possible future
insurance proceeds. As assessments and cleanups proceed, the Company reviews these liabilities
periodically and adjusts its reserves as additional information becomes available. At December 31, 2003,
environmental related reserves were not material to the Company’s results of operations or financial
condition. While it is often difficult to estimate potential liabilities and the future impact of
environmental matters, based upon the information currently available to the Company and its
experience in dealing with these matters, the Company believes that its potential future liability with
respect to these sites is not material to the Company’s consolidated results of operations or
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company is also involved in various other legal actions incidental to its business. The Company
believes, after consulting with counsel, that the disposition of these other legal proceedings and matters
will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of operations or consolidated
balance sheets.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were _submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders during the fourth quarter of 2003.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information appearing in the table below sets forth the current position or positions held by each
executive officer of the Company, his or her age as of February 27, 2004, the year in which he or she
was first elected to the position currently held with the Company or with the former Sealed Air
Corporation, now known as Sealed Air Corporation (US) and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the




Company, and the year in which he or she was first elected an officer thereof (as indicated in the
footnote to the table). ;

All of the Company’s officers serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors. The Company or its
subsidiaries have employed all officers for more than five years except for Mr. Kelsey, who first was
elected an officer of the Company effective January 1, 2002. Previously, Mr. Kelsey was, since 1998,
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Oglebay Norton Company, a public company that mines,
processes, transports and markets aggregates and industrial minerals, and prior to that, Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Host Communications, Inc., then a privately-held
communications firm.

There are no family relationships among any of the Company’s officers or directors.

Age as of First Elected to First Elected
Name and Current Position February 27, 2004  Current Position* An Officer*
William V.Hickey . . ...... ... i 59 2000 1980
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director v
David H.KelSey . . .o v v et e ene i ie e 52 2003 2002
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer .
Robert A.Pesci . ..o vin i e e 58 1997 1990
Senior Vice President .
JStuart K. Prosser . . ...... ittt 58 2003 1999
Senior Vice President

Jonathan B. Baker .......... ... ... .. ... 51 1994 1994

_ Vice President

Mary A, COVERLIY . o o oo e et e e e e 50 1994 1994
Vice President

James P MIX . ... i e 52 1994 1994
Vice President

Manuel Mondragén . .......... ...ty 54 1999 1999
Vice President

Carol Lee O’Neill . . ... .. ... o i e 40 2002 2002
Vice President ' ,

Hugh L. Sargant . .. ........... .. ... .. ... ... 55 1999 1999
Vice President

Fred Smagorinsky . .. ..... ... oo 44 2001 2001
Vice President

James Donald Tate . . ........ ... ... ..., 52 2001 2001
Vice President

H. Katherine White ............... ... ... 58 2003 1996
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Tod S. Christie . . ... ..t 45 . 1999 1999
Treasurer

Jeffrey S. Warren .. ....... ... . ... .. ... 50 1996 1996
Controller

* All persons listed in the table who were first elected officers before 1998 were executive officers of
the former Sealed Air Corporation, now known as Sealed Air Corporation (US), prior to the Cryovac
transaction in March 1998. Mr. Hickey was first elected President in 1996, first elected Chief Executive
Officer in 2000 and first elected a director in 1999. Mr. Kelsey was first elected Senior Vice President
in 2003 and first elected Chief Financial Officer in 2002.-Ms. White was first elected Vice President in
2003, first elected General Counsel in 1998, and first elected Secretary in 1996.




Part 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company’s Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol
SEE. The table below sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices of the Common Stock for 2002
and 2003 as reported in the New York Stock Exchange composite listing. No dividends were paid on
the Common Stock in either year. The Company does not currently intend to begin paying dividends
on its Common Stock. As of February 27, 2004, there were approximately 8,997 holders of record of
the Company’s Common Stock. '

As of December 31, 2003, there were no shares of Series A convertible preferred stock authorized or
outstanding, due to the redemption of all of the Company’s outstanding shares of the preferred stock
on July 18, 2003 at their redemption price of $51.00 per share, plus dividends of $0.0944 per share
accrued on these shares from July 1, 2003 through July 17, 2003. The preferred stock was listed on the
New York Stock Exchange prior to its redemption under the trading symbol SEE PrA. The table below
sets forth the quarterly high and low sales prices for the preferred stock for 2002 and 2003 as reported
in the New York Stock Exchange composite listing. The Company paid quarterly dividends of $0.50 per
share on the preferred stock for each quarter through the second quarter of 2003.

Common Stock

2002

First Quarter . .

Second Quarter

Third Quarter .

Fourth Quarter

2003

First Quarter ..

Second Quarter

Third Quarter .

Fourth Quarter

Preferred Stock

2002

First Quarter . .

Second Quarter

Third Quarter .

Fourth Quarter

2003

First Quarter . .

Second. Quarter

Third Quarter .

High
$48.39
$48.38
$40.68
$38.99

...................................................
...................................................
...................................................

...................................................

High
$41.98
$47.66
$50.05
$54.47

...................................................

...................................................

...................................................

...................................................
...................................................
...................................................

...................................................

...................................................

R R R T T T T T T S e S R R B I A A T

Low

$36.20
$39.11
$13.29
$12.70

Low

$35.42
$39.68
$45.51
$48.21

Low

$37.20
$39.10
$17.20
$18.30

Low
$42.50

$45.25
$50.95

The information set forth in Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption
“Equity Compensation Plan Information as of December 31, 2003” is incorporated herein by reference.




Item 6. Selected Financial Data

(In millions of dollars, except per share data)

2003 2002(1) 2001 2000 1999

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Net sales . . ovvv oot e e e $3,531.9 $3,204.3 $3,067.5 $3,067.7 $2,931.9

Grossprofit . . ........ ... 1,112.8  1,057.6 990.3  1,0353  1,0287

Operating profit(2) . ... .......... ... . oL 539.2 516.4 387.4 468.5 4522

Earnings (loss) before income taxes ... ......... 376.9 (391.9) 2975 413.4 395.7

Net-earnings (Ioss) . ............ ... ...... 240.4 (309.1) 156.7 2253 2115

Series A convertible preferred stock dividends(3) . . . 28.6 538 55.0 64.3 71.4

Earnings (loss) per common share

Basic .. .......c. $ 221 § (4200 $ 130 $§ 247 $ 1.69
Diluted . ......... ... .. $ 200 $ (430) $§ 122 § 193 § 168

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Working capital net asset (net liability)(4) . .. ... .. $ 2374 § (965) $ 1494 § 2025 § 2211

Total assets(4) .. ..o 4,704.1 42608 39079 40909 38876

Long-term debt, less current portion(3)(4) ....... 2,259.8 868.0 788.1 944.5 665.1

Series A convertible preferred stock(3) . ......... —  1,3270  1,366.2 1,3924  1,761.7

Total sharcholders’ equity . ...... e e 1,123.6 813.0 850.2 753.1 551.0
Other Data:

EBIT(S) ... $ 5112 $(3266) $ 3739 $ 4779 § 4538

Depreciation and amortization(2) . . ... ......... 173.2 164.9 +220.6 219.7 223.4

EBITDA(GS) . ..ot e 684.4 (161.7) 594.5 697.6 6772

Capital expenditures . .. ............ . 124.3 91.6 146.3 114.2 75.1
(1) In November 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate parties to

resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against it and its affiliates in connection with
the Cryovac transaction. The parties signed a definitive settlement agreement as of November 10, 2003
consistent with the terms of the agreement in principle. In connection with this settlement, the Company
recorded a pre-tax charge of $850.1 million in the consolidated statement of operations in 2002, which
resulted in the Company’s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2002. See Note 18 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

(2) Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”)
No. 142, the Company stopped recording amortization expense related to goodwill. Goodwill
amortization expense was $57.0 million in 2001, $51.8 million in 2000 and $49.4 million in 1999. See
Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) In July 2003, the Company issued a total of $1,281.3 million of senior notes in transactions exempt from
registration in reliance upon Rule 144A and other available exemptions under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended. On July 18, 2003, the Company used the net proceeds from these offerings and
additional cash on hand of approximately $1,298.1 million in the aggregate to redeem its Series A
convertible preferred stock at the redemption price of $51.00 per share. See Note 15 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4) In December 2001, the Company and a group of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into a U.S. accounts
receivable securitization facility and sold $95.6 million of interests in U.S. accounts receivable to the
financial institutions participating in this facility. This amount was removed from the consolidated
balance sheet and the proceeds were used to pay down outstanding borrowings. As of December 31,
2003 and 2002, these financial institutions held no interests in accounts receivable. See Note 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. '




(5) EBIT is defined as earnings (loss) before interest expense and provisions (benefits) for income taxes.
EBITDA is defined as EBIT plus depreciation and amortization. EBIT and EBITDA do not purport to
represent net earnings or net cash provided by operating activities, as those terms are defined under
generally accepted accounting principles, and should not be considered as an alternative to these
measurements or as indicators of the Company’s performance. The Company’s definitions of EBIT and
EBITDA may not be comparable with similarly-titled measures used by other companies. EBIT and
EBITDA are among the indicators used by the Company’s management to measure the performance of
the Company’s operations and are also among the criteria upon which performance based compensation
may be based. The following is a reconciliation of net earnings (loss) to EBIT and EBITDA:

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999

Net earnings (Joss). . ... ... oot i $2404  $(309.1) $156.7 $2253 $2115
Add:
Interestexpense . . ... i 134.3 65.3 76.4 64.5 58.1
Income tax expense (benefit) . .................. ... 136.5 (82.8) 1408 1831 1842
EBIT . ...t e e e $511.2  $(326.6) $3739 $477.9 $453.8
Add: depreciation and amortization . ................ 173.2 164.9 2206 2197 2234
EBITDA ............... E $684.4  $(161.7) $594.5 $697.6 $677.2

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

The information in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial
Condition” should be read together with the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related
notes set forth in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All amounts and percentages
are approximate due to rounding.

Introduction

The Company manufactures and sells a wide range of food, protective and specialty packaging
products, operating in the United States and in 49 other countries, with products distributed in those
countries and in other parts of the world.

The Company operates in two reportable business segments, Food Packaging and Protective and
Specialty Packaging. The Company’s principal food packaging products are its flexible materials and
related systems marketed primarily under the Cryovac® trademark for packaging a broad range of
perishable foods and the Company’s rigid packaging and absorbent pads. The Company primarily sells
the products in this segment to food processors, distributors-and food service businesses. The
Company’s principal protective and specialty packaging products provide cushioning, surface protection
and void fill. The Company primarily sells its protective and specialty packaging products and systems
to distributors and manufacturers in a wide variety of industries. '

The Company employs over 2,600 sales and marketing personnel in the countries in which it operates,
who market the Company’s products through a large number of distributors, fabricators and converters,
as well as directly to end users such as food processors, food service businesses, and manufacturers.
The Company has no material long-term contracts for the distribution of its products. In 2003, no
customer or affiliated group of customers accounted for 10% or more of the Company’s consolidated
net sales. Although net sales of both food packaging products and protective and specialty packaging
products have tended to be slightly higher in the fourth quarter, the Company does not consider
seasonality to be material to its consolidated business.

Competition for most of the Company’s packaging products is based primarily on packaging
performance characteristics, service and price. Competition is also based upon innovations in packaging
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technology and, as a result, the Company maintains ongoing research and development programs to
enable it to maintain technological leadership.

The Company’s net sales are sensitive to developments in its customers’ business or market conditions,
changes in the global economy, and the effects of foreign currency translation. Its costs can vary
significantly with changes in petrochemical-related costs, which are not within the Company’s control;
consequently, the Company’s management focuses on reducing those costs that the Company can
control and using petrochemical-based raw materials as efficiently as possible. The Company also
believes that its global presence helps to insulate it from localized changes in business conditions that
may more strongly affect some of its competitors.

As is discussed below, the Company’s business generates substantial cash flow. The Company believes
that this cash flow will permit it to continue to invest in research and development at industry-leading
levels compared with its net sales, to make strategic acquisitions and capital expenditures, and to
maintain the flexibility to modify its capital structure as the need or opportunity arises. This cash flow
will also keep the Company prepared for the settlement and interest payment it will be required to
make upon consummation of a plan of reorganization in the W. R. Grace & Co. bankruptcy, as is
discussed below.

Net Sales

The principal factors affecting changes in net sales in the three years ended December 31, 2003 were
changes in unit volume, the added net sales of acquired businesses, changes in product mix and average
selling prices and foreign currency translation.

Net sales in 2003 increased 10% to $3,531.9 million compared to $3,204.3 million in 2002. The
components of the increase in net sales for 2003 were as follows (dollars in millions):

Components of Increase in Net Sales (2003 vs. 2002):

Food Packaging Protective & Specialty
Segment Packaging Segment Total Company
Volume — Units .. .................. 26% $ 51.6 0.8% $ 97 1.9% $ 61.3
Volume — Acquired Businesses ......... ' 0.1 2.4 0.4 5.0 0.2 7.4
Price/MiX . . ... oot 2.5 47.9 1.7 21.5 2.2 69.4
Foreign Currency Translation ........... 64 125.7 5.1 63.8 5.9 189.5
Total ........ ... S 11.6% $227.6 8.0% $100.0 10.2% $327.6.

Net sales for 2002 increased 4% to $3,204.3 million compared to $3,067.5 million in 2001. The
components of the increase in net sales for 2002 were as follows (dollars in millions):

Components of Increase in Net Sales (2002 vs, 2001):

Food Packaging Protective & Specialty
Segment Packaging Segment Total Company
Volume — Units .. .....ovvvinnnn.., 41% $ 774 3.3% $ 39.1 3.8% $116.5
Volume — Acquired Businesses . ........ — — 3.3 38.9 1.3 38.9
Price/Mix . . .. ... 0.5) 9.5) 22) (263) (12) (358
Foreign Currency Translation ........... 0.5 9.9 0.6 7.3 0.6 172

Total ... e 41% $718  50% $590  45% $1368

Foreign currency translation had a favorable impact on net sales of $189.5 million in 2003. Excluding
the positive effect of foreign currency translation, net sales would have increased 4% compared to
2002. Foreign currency translation had a modestly favorable effect on net sales of $17.2 million in 2002.
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The favorable foreign currency translation impact on net sales in 2003 was primarily due to the
strengthening of foreign currencies in Europe and the Asia-Pacific region against the U.S. dollar,
partially offset by the weakness of the Brazilian real. The favorable effect of foreign currency
translation on net sales in 2002 was primarily due to the strengthening of foreign currencies in Europe
and the Asia-Pacific region compared with the U.S. dollar, partially offset by the weakness of the
Argentine peso and the Brazilian real.

Net sales of the Company’s food packaging segment, which consists primarily of the Company’s
Cryovac® food packaging products, constituted 62%, 61% and 61% of net sales in 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively.

The Company’s protective and specialty packaging segment contributed the balance of net sales. This
segment aggregates the Company’s protective packaging products, engineered products and shrink
packaging products, all of which are used principally for non-food packaging applications.

Food Packaging Segment Sales

Net sales of food packaging products increased 12% in 2003 to $2,185.7 million compared to
$1,958.1 million in 2002 and increased 4% in 2002 compared to $1,880.3 million in 2001. Foreign
currency translation had a favorable impact on this segment of $125.7 million in 2003. Excluding the

positive foreign currency translation effect, net sales for this segment would have increased 5% in 2003.

Foreign currency translation had a modestly favorable impact on this segment of $9.9 million in 2002.

Among the classes of products in the food packaging segment, in 2003 net sales of flexible packaging
materials and related systems increased 11% to $1,835.1 million compared to $1,657.2 million in 2002
and increased 4% in 2002 compared with 2001 sales of $1,592.1 million. The components of the
increase in net sales for 2003 and 2002 were as follows (dollars in millions):

Components of Increase in Net Sales:
Flexible Packaging Materials and Related Systems

2003 vs. 2002 2002 vs, 2001
Volume — Units ................. ve 23% $ 384 4.8% $75.8
Volume — Acquired Businesses ........ — — — —
Price/Mix . . ........ .. ... ... ... ... 2.0 34.0 (1.0) (16.6)
Foreign Currency Translation .......... 64 105.5 04 5.9
Total ......... S 10.7% $177.9 4.2% $65.1

Foreign currency translation had a favorable impact of approximately $105.5 million in 2003 for flexible
materials and related systems. Excluding the positive foreign currency translation effect, net sales for -
flexible packaging materials and related systems would have increased 4% in 2003. Foreign currency
translation had a modestly favorable impact of $5.9 million in 2002.
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Net sales of rigid packaging and absorbent pads increased 17% to $350.6 million compared to
$300.9 million in 2002 and increased 4% in 2002 compared with 2001 sales of $288.2 million. The
components of the increase in net sales for 2003 and 2002 were as follows (dollars in millions):

Components of Increase in Net Sales:
Rigid Packaging and Absorbent Pads

2003 vs. 2002 2002 vs. 2001
Volume — Units. . ............ .. ......... 4.4%  $132 0.6% $ 16
Volume -~ Acquired Businesses . . . ............ 0.8 2.4 — —
Price/MiX . ..o vine i e 4.7 13.9 24 7.1
Foreign Currency Translation. . .. ............. 6.7 202 14 4.0
Total ... 16.6%  $49.7 4.4% $12.7

Foreign currency translation had a favorable impact on this segment of $20.2 million in 2003. Excluding
the positive foreign currency translation effect, net sales for rigid packaging and absorbent pads would
have increased 10% in 2003. Foreign currency translation had a favorable impact on this segment of
$4.0 million in 2002. Excluding the positive effect of foreign currency translation, net sales would have
increased 3% in 2002. ’

Protective and Specialty Packaging Segment Sales

Net sales of protective and specialty packaging products increased 8% to $1,346.2 million in 2003
compared to $1,246.2 million in 2002 and increased 5% in 2002 compared with 2001 sales of
$1,187.2 million. Foreign currency translation had a favorable impact of $63.8 million in 2003 for this
segment. Excluding the positive foreign currency translation effect, net sales for the protective and
specialty packaging segment would have increased 3% in 2003. Foreign currency translation had a
modestly favorable impact in 2002 of $7.3 million for the protective and specialty packaging segment.
Excluding the positive foreign currency translation effect, net sales would have increased 4% in 2002.

The classes of products within the protective and specialty packaging segment are cushioning and
surface protection products and other products. Net sales of other products were approximately 1% of
consolidated net sales in 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Sales by Geographic Region

The components of the increase in net sales by geographic region for 2003 were as follows (dollars in
millions): -

Components of Increase in Net Sales (2003 vs. 2002):

Us. International Total Company
Volume — Units . ....... .. i, 1.5% $27.3 24%3$ 340 19% §$ 61.3
Volume — Acquired Businesses .. ................ 0.2 42 02 3.2 0.2 7.4
Price/MiX ... ... . e 31 545 10 149 22 69.4
Foreign Currency Translation .. ... ............... — — 131 1895 59 1895
Total . ..o e 4.8% $86.0 16.7% $241.6 102% $327.6

Net sales from operations in the United States represented 52% and 55% of net sales in 2003 and
2002, respectively. Net sales from U.S. operations increased 5% in 2003 to $1,844.8 million compared
with $1,758.8 million in 2002. Net sales from international operations increased 17% in 2003 to
$1,687.1 million compared to $1,445.5 million for 2002. Excluding the $189.5 million positive foreign
currency translation effect, international net sales would have increased 4% compared to 2002.
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The components of the increase in net sales by geographic region for 2002 were as follows (dollars in
millions):

Components of Increase in Net Sales (2002 vs. 2001):

i us. International Total Company
Volume — Units . ... .. oot 4.8% $81.3  2.5% $35.2 3.8% $116.5
Volume — Acquired Businesses . . ................. 20 335 05 54 13 38.9
Price/Mix ... ... e 21) (362) — 04 (1.2) (35.8)

Foreign Currency Translation . ... ................. — L 172 06 172

TOtal .ot 47%$786  42%§582  45% $1368

Net sales from operations in the United States represented 55% of net sales in 2002 and 2001. Net
sales from U.S. operations increased approximately 5% in 2002 to $1,758.8 million compared with
$1,680.2 million for 2001. Net sales from international operations increased approximately 4% in 2002
to $1,445.5 million compared with $1,387.3 million for 2001. Excluding the $17.2 million positive effect
of foreign currency translation, net sales from international operations would have increased 3%
compared to 2001.

Costs and Margins -

Gross profit as a percentage of net sales was 31.5% in 2003, 33.0% in 2002 and 32.3% in 2001. The
decrease in 2003 compared to the 2002 period was primarily due to increased petrochemical-based raw
materials costs. The increase in 2002 compared to 2001 was primarily due to higher unit volumes in
both reportable business segments. ' "

Marketing, administrative and development expenses increased 6% in 2003 and 6% in 2002. The
increase in 2003 was primarily due to the impact of foreign currency and the impact of increased sales
volumes partially offset by the absence of corporate projects completed during 2002. The increase in
2002 was primarily due to higher expenses for corporate projects, insurance, the effects of businesses
acquired and the impact of foreign currency translation. Marketing, administrative and development
expenses as a percentage of net sales were 16.3% in 2003, 16.9% in 2002 and 16.7% in 2001.

Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company stopped recording goodwill
amortization expense in its consolidated statement of operations. Goodwill amortization expense was
$57.0 million in 2001. See information incorporated by reference below under “Recently Issued
Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, Accounting Guidance and Disclosure Requirements” for
a discussion of this standard.

2001 Restructuring Program

During 2001, based primarily on weakening economic conditions, especially in the U.S., the Company
conducted a review of its business to reduce costs and expenses, simplify business processes and
organizational structure, and to refine further the Company’s manufacturing operations and product
offerings. As a result of this review, which the Company completed in the fourth quarter of 2001, the
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Company announced and began implementing a restructuring program that resulted in charges to
operations of $32.8 million for 2001. These charges consisted of the following (amounts in millions):

Year Ended
December 31, 2001
Employee termination CostS . .. ... ...ttt $23.9
Facility eXit COSIS . . . . .ot e 1.6
Long-lived asset impairments . .. .. ... ... i e 7.3
TOUAl. . e e $32.8

The portion of this restructuring charge related to the Company’s food packaging segment was
$21.1 million, and the portion applicable to the protective and specialty packaging segment was
$11.7 million.

The Company originally expected to incur $25.5 million of cash outlays to carry out this restructuring
program. These cash outlays primarily consisted of severance and other personnel-related costs as well
as lease and other contractual arrangement termination costs. As of December 31, 2003, the Company
had made total cash payments of approximately $22.9 million ($5.3 million in 2003, $11.8 million in
2002 and $5.8 million in 2001). In 2003 and 2002, the Company adjusted the 2001 cash restructuring
accrual for net credits of $0.5 million and $1.3 million respectively, as discussed below. After these cash
outlays and the net credits, the restructuring accrual at December 31, 2003 was $0.8 million,
representing cash outlays expected to be made in 2004 and future years, primarily for severance-related
costs. ‘ ‘

The long-lived asset impairment of $7.3 million consisted of the following write-downs and write-offs
(amounts in millions):

Year Ended
December 31, 2001
Property, plant and equipment . . .. ..\ v vt $3.9
Goodwill. . . ... .. e e 33
Other long-lived assets. . . .......... .. i 01

TOtAl. v ot e e $7.3
These long-lived asset impairments related to decisions to rationalize and realign production of some of
the Company’s small product lines and to close several manufacturing and warehouse facilities in North
America, Europe, South Africa and the Asia Pacific region. The annual reduction of depreciation and
amortization expense as a result of these asset impairments was $0.4 million. The Company has
disposed of .all of the above property, plant and equipment.

During 2003 and 2002, the Company made adjustments to the original 2001 restructuring provision,
resulting in net credits to the consolidated statement of operations of $0.5 million and $1.3 million,
respectively. These adjustments resulted from the completion of portions of the restructuring program
for amounts different than expected, headcount reductions obtained through attrition, and, during 2002,
the revision of a plan to shut down one of the Company’s manufacturing facilities. The 2003 credit
applicable to the Company’s food packaging segment was $0.3 million, while the portion attributable to
the protective and specialty packaging segment was $0.2 million. The portion of the 2002 net credit
applicable to the Company’s food packaging segment amounted to a credit of $2.9 million, while the
portion applicable to the protective and specialty packaging segment amounted to a charge of

$1.6 million. ' .

As a result of the 2002 adjustments to the 2001 restructuring program, the Company expected a net
reduction in headcount of approximately 440 positions. This program originally estimated a net
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headcount reduction of approximately 470. The Company reduced the revised net headcount reduction
by approximately 30 positions that were eliminated by attrition. This net reduction was based on the
elimination of 677 positions from all geographic areas in which the Company does business, primarily
from its. manufacturing, sales and marketing functions in North America and Europe. As of
December 31, 2003, all of the 677 positions estimated to be eliminated under this program had been
eliminated. The Company anticipated the addition of 237 positions in connection with its realignment
or relocation of manufacturing activities.

The Company estimates that it realized approximately $23.0 million in annualized cost savings on a full
year run rate basis by the end of 2002. The estimated annual cost savings reflect the $0.4 million
non-cash annual reduction of depreciation expense discussed above. Although some cost aspects of the
original program have been adjusted, the Company has maintained original cost saving targets.

Operating Profit

Operating profit increased 4% in 2003 and 33% in 2002. Excluding goodwill amortization m 2001 of
$57.0 Imlhon operating profit would have mcreased 16% in 2002,

The 4% increase in 2003 was primarily due to increased net sales offset by increased cost and expenses
associated with higher sales volumes; increased raw material costs and the rmpact of forelgn currency
translation. :

The 33% increase in 2002 was primarily due to increased net sales, the discontinuance in 2002 of the
amortization of goodwill and the restructuring and other charges incurred in 2001, while the Company
recorded a restruct'uring credit in 2002. As a percentage of net sales, operating profit was 15.3% in
2003, 16.1% in 2002 and 12.6% in-2001. Excluding goodwill amortization in 2001, operating profit as:a
percentage of net sales was 14.4% in 2001.

Operating profit by business segment for 2003, 2002 and 2001 was as follows (dollars in millions):

Year Ended December 31, )
2003 2002 2001

Food Packaging Segment ... .........cuiuierinennnnna... $361.6. $3253 $287.7
Protective and Specialty Packaging Segment ................. 2095 2194 2110
Total SEEMENTS . . . .ttt ittt e e e 5711 54477 4987
Restructuring and othercredits. . . .......... ... ... ... oL ~ 0.5 1.3 (32.8) -
Unallocated corporate operating expenses e e e (324) .(29.6) (78.5)
Total ............ e P e [ $539.2 $516.4 $387 4

The food packaging segment contributed 63%, 60% and 58% of the Company’s operating profit in
2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, before taking into consideration unallocated corporate operating
expenses and restructuring and other credits. The Company’s protective and. specialty packagmg )
segment contributed the balance of operating profit. Unallocated corporate operating expenses in 2001 .
consisted primarily of goodwill amortization and also reflected global information technology costs.
Unallocated corporate operating expenses in 2003 and 2002 consisted primarily of global information
technology costs.

Asbestos Settlement and Related Costs

On November 27, 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the appropriate parties
to resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against the Company and its affiliates in
connection with the Cryovac transaction. The settlement will also resolve the fraudulent transfer claims,
as well as indemnification claims by Fresemus Medical Care Holdings, Inc. and affiliated companies,
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that had been made against the Company in connection with the Cryovac transaction. On December 3,
2002, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the agreement in principle. The Company received
notice that both of the Committees had approved the agreement in principle as of December 5, 2002.
For a description of the Cryovac transaction, asbestos-related claims and the parties involved; see Note
18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements under the captions “Cryovac Transaction”
and “Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction.”

The Company recorded a charge of $850.1 million as a result of the asbestos settlement in its
consolidated statement of operatrons as of December 31, 2002, The charge consisted of the following
items:

* a non-cash charge of $512.5 million covering a cash payment that the Company will be required
to make upon the effectiveness of a plan of reorganization in the Grace bankruptcy. Because the
Company cannot predict when a plan of reorganization may become effective, the Company -
recorded this liability as a current liability on the consolidated balance sheet at December 31,
2002. Under the terms of the settlement, this amount accrues interest at a 5.5% annual rate
from December 21, 2002 to the‘date of payment. The Company has recorded this interest in -
interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations and in other current liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheets.

+ a non-cash charge of $321.5 million representing the fair market value of 9 million shares of the
Company’s common stock expected to be issued under the settlement upon the effectiveness of
Grace’s plan of reorganization. These shares are subject to customary anti-dilution provisions
that adjust for the effects of stock splits, stock dividends and other events affecting the
Company’s common stock. The fair market value of the Company’s common stock was $35.72
per share as of the close of business on Decemiber 5, 2002 The Company recorded this amount
in its consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002, as follows: $0.9 million representlng the.
aggregate par value of these shares in common stock réserved for issuance related to the
asbestos settlement, and the remaining $320.6 million, representing the excess of the aggregate
fair market value over the aggregate par value of common shares, in additional paid-in capital.
The December 31, 2003 diluted earnings per common share calculatidn'reflects the shares of
common stock reserved for issuance related to the asbestos settlement.

. $16 1 million ‘of legal and related fees as of Decernber 31, 2002.

Asbestos settlement and related costs in.2003 reflected legal and related fees for asbestos- related
matters of $2.8 million. In 2001, asbestos settlement and related costs of $12.0 million included

$8.1 million related to the Company s guarantee resulting from the Cryovac transactron of debt payable
by W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn,, which filed for reorganization along with its parent ‘company Grace,
and $3.9 million of legal and related fees .

Interest Exjfense’d'nd ‘Other Income (Expénse), net

Interest expense increased in 2003 to $134.4 million compared to $65.3 million in 2002 but decreased
15% in 2002 compared to $76.4 million in 2001. The increase in 2003 was primarily due to additional
accrued interest of $27.3 million in 2003 on the cash portion of the asbestos settlement and interest

paid or accrued of $44.6 million in 2003 on the senior notes discussed below that were issued in April -

and July 2003. The decrease in 2002 was pnmanly due to lower average levels of outstanding debt
compared with 2001. -

Other income (expense), net, consisled of income of $8.4 million in 2003, income of $7.1 million in
2002 and expense of $1.5 million in 2001. The change in 2003 compared to 2002 was primarily due to
an increase in interest income of $3.4 million and lower net foreign exchange losses in 2003 compared

lal
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to the 2002 period of $1.1 million. The change in 2002 compared to 2001 was due to lower net foreign
exchange losses during 2002.

Income Taxes

The Company’s effective income tax rate was an expense of 36.2% in 2003, a benefit of 21.1% in 2002
and an expense of 47.3% in 2001. The change in the effective tax rate from 2002 to 2003 was primarily
due to the effect of the estimated tax benefit for the asbestos settlement and related costs in 2002 and
improved tax efficiency in 2003 resulting from a reorganization of the Company’s international
subsidiaries during 2002. The 2002 effective tax rate was lower than in 2001 due primarily to the
estimated tax benefit of the asbestos settlement and its related costs and the discontinuance of goodwill
amortization in 2002.

In 2003, the effective tax rate was higher than the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate primarily due
to state income taxes and non-deductible expenses, offset by the lower net effective tax rate on foreign
earnings. In 2002, the effective tax rate was lower than the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate
primarily due to the effect of the estimated tax benefit for the asbestos settlement. In 2001, the
effective tax rate was higher than the statutory U.S. federal income tax rate primarily due to the
non-deductibility of goodwill amortization for tax purposes and, to a lesser extent, due to state income
taxes.

The Company expects an effective tax rate of approximately 36.0% for 2004.

Net Earnings (Loss)

*As a result of the factors noted above, net earnings were $240.4 million in 2003 compared to a net loss

of $309.1 million in 2002, which reflected the asbestos settlement and related costs of $850.1 million. In
2001, the Company had net earnings of $156.7 million. Excluding goodwill amortization of $57.0 million
in 2001, net earnings would have been $213.7 million.

Earnings (Loss) per Common Share

‘Basic earnings v(loss) per common share were $2.21 for 2003, $(4.20) for 2002 and $1.30 for 2001.

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share were $2.00 for 2003, $(4.30) for 2002 and $1.22 for 2001.
Excluding goodwill amortization in 2001, basic earnings per common share would have been $1.99 and
diluted earnings per common share would have been $1.89 in 2001.

On July 18, 2003, the Company redeemed all of the outstanding shares of its Series A convertible
preferred stock at a redemption price of $51.00 per share. The Company also paid accrued dividends
on the preferred stock from July 1, 2003 through July 17, 2003 in the aggregate amount of

$2.40 million. The $51.00 per share redemption price included a $1.00 per share redemption premium,
or an aggregate premium of $25.5 million, and is reflected in basic earnings per common share.

Gains attributable to the repurchase of preferred stock for 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $0.8, $10.3 and
$7.4 million, respectively, and are reflected in basic earnings (loss) per common share for these years.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings (loss) per common share for 2002 and 2001, the
Company has adjusted net earnings ascribed to common shareholders to exclude the gains attributable
to the repurchase of preferred stock and to add back dividends attributable to such repurchased
preferred stock and has adjusted the weighted average common shares outstanding to assume
conversion of the shares of preferred stock repurchased during these periods in accordance with the
FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force Topic D-53 guidance.

In calculating diluted earnings per common share, the Company’s calculation of the weighted average
number of common shares for 2003 assumes the issuance of nine million shares of common stock
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reserved for the asbestos settlement (as described in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
under the caption “Asbestos Settlement and Related Costs™), and the exercise of dilutive stock options,
net of assumed treasury stock repurchases. For 2002 and 2001, the calculation of weighted average
number of common shares assumes the effect of the weighted average conversion of repurchased shares
of preferred stock. The Company did not assume the outstanding preferred stock had been converted
in the calculation of diluted (loss) earnings per common share in 2002 and 2001, because the treatment
of the preferred stock as the common stock into which it could have been converted would have been
anti-dilutive, as conversion would have reduced the loss per common share or increased earnings per
common share in those years. The Company did not reflect the shares of common stock reserved for
issuance for the asbestos settlement in the 2002 loss per common share calculation since the effect
would have been anti-dilutive.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The discussion that follows contains:
* a description of the Company’s material commitments and contingencies,
* a description of the Company’s principal sources of liquidity,
* a description of the Company’s outstanding indebtedness,
* an analysis of the Company’s historical cash flows,
* a description of the Company’s derivative financial instruments,

* a description of the Company’s Series A convertible preferred stock, which it redeemed in
July 2003,

* a description of the Company’s shareholders’ equity, and

* a description of the Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates.

Material Commitments and Contingencies
Asbestos Settlement; Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction

The Company recorded a charge of $512.5 million in the fourth quarter of 2002 covering the cash
payment that the Company is required to make upon the effectiveness of a plan of reorganization in
the bankruptcy of W. R. Grace & Co. The Company did not use cash in 2003 or 2002 with respect to
this liability, and the Company cannot predict when it will be required to make this payment. The
Company currently expects to fund this payment by using a combination of accumulated cash and
future cash flows from operations, funds available under its $350.0 million unsecured multi-currency
credit facility or its accounts receivable securitization program, both described below, or a combination
of these alternatives. :

The Company is subject to other contingencies related to the Cryovac transaction. Note 18,
“Commitments and Contingencies,” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is
contained in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, describes these contingencies
under “Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction” and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Contractual Commitments

The following table summarizes the Company’s material contractual ob'ligations at December 31, 2003
and sets forth the amounts of required cash outlays in 2004 and future years (amounts in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Total 2004 2005-2006 -  2007-2008  Thereafter
Short-term borrowings . .................... $ 182 $182 $ — $ — $§ —
Current portion of long-term debt .. ........... 24 24 — — —
Long-term debt, exclusive of debt discounts . . . ... 2,268.0 — 253.2 480.0 1,534.8
Totaldebt(l) ........ ... ... i 2,288.6 20.6 253.2 480.0 1,534.8
Operatingleases .. . .............ooiinn.n.. 98.2 272 37.6 232 10.2
Cash portion of the asbestos settlement, including :
accrued interest as of December 31, 2003(2) . . . . 5416  541.6 - — —
Long-term equipment purchases for resale .. .. ... 18.9 39 9.5 55 —
Telecommunications and network agreement . .... 129 24 7.0 35 —
Raw material contingent payment ........ heen 8.4 —_ — — 8.4
- Raw material supply agreement . .. ... .. S X1 6.0 — — —
Total contractual cash obligations. . ... .. L. $29746 36017  $307.3  $512.2 $1,553.4

(1) Includes principal maturities (at face value) only.

(2) This liability is reflected as a current liability due to the uncertainty of the timing of payment (as
discussed below). Interest accrues on this amount at a rate of 5.5% per annum until it becomes
due and payable. The asbestos settiement is described more fully in “Asbestos Settlement;
Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction” above.

In addition to the obligation to pay the principal amount of the debt obligations discussed above, the
Company is obligated under the terms of various leases covering some of the facilities that it occupies
and some production equipment, most of which are accounted for as operating leases. The contractual
operating lease obligations listed in the table above represent estimated future minimum annual rental
commitments under non-cancelable real and personal property leases as of December 31, 2003. The
long-term debt shown in the above table excludes uhamortized bond discounts as of December 31, 2003
and, therefore, represents the principal amount of the- debt required to be repaid in each penod

The Company has the following long-term contractual commltrnents

* Approximately $18.9 million for the purchase of equlpment'over a five-year period which -began
in 2003, together with a potential termination fee in an amount to be ‘determined. The
‘Company’s obligation is reduced or increased based on market price changes for the equipment
and changes in the Packaging Machinery Manufacturers Index. Failure to purchase any of-the
minimum annual requirements in any year obligates the Company to pay an amount of 45% of
such shortfall. During 2003 the Company did not meet the minimum equipment purchase
requirements and recorded a charge of $1.0 mﬂhon L ‘

* Approximately $12.9 million minimum commitment forthe purchase of telecommunications and
network capacity and services over a four-year period that began in 2004.

* Approximately $8.4 million to a supplier if the Company fails to purchase 126.3 million pounds
of specified raw materials, at the then current market price, over a ten-year period that began in
May 2002. The amount of the potential contingent payment declines in proportion to the
Company’s purchase of minimum quantities required under the contract. At December 31, 2003,
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the Company’s purchases were in line with the minimum quantity requirements under the
agreement.

 Approximately $6.0 million to a raw material supplier under an agreement that provides that the
Company commits to purchase a specified quantity of raw materials at a fixed price through
2004.

Interest Fayments

During 2003 and 2002, the Company paid apprommately $84.3 million and $72.6 rmlllon respectively,
in interest payments. The Company currently expects to pay approximately $110 million to $125 million
in interest payments in 2004. The actual interest paid will be different from this amount if the
Company repurchases existing indebtedniess, issues additional indebtedness, incurs indebtedness under’
its lines of credit or enters into additional interest rate swap transactions. In addition, such amount
does not reflect any accrued interest related to the asbestos settlement.

Income Tax Payments

During 2003 and 2002, the Company paid approximately $161.3 miilion and $165.1 million, respectively,
in income tax payments. The Company currently expects to pay between $135 mllhon and $150 million
in income tax payments in 2004.

Contributions to Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The Company maintains defined benefit pension plans for a limited number of its U.S. and for many of
its non-U.S. employees. During 2003 and 2002, the Company paid approximately $9.1 million and
$14.8 million, respectively, in employer contributions to these defined benefit pension plans.

Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to loss contingencies resulting from environmental laws and regulations, and it
accrues for anticipated costs associated with investigatory and remediation efforts when an assessment
has indicated that a loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. These accruals do not take into
account any discounting for the time value of money and are not reduced by potential insurance
recoveries, if any. The Company does not believe that it is reasonably possible that its liability in excess
of the amounts that it has accrued for environmental matters will be material to its consolidated
statements of operations, balance sheets or cash flows. Environmental liabilities are reassessed
whenever circumstances become better defined or remediation efforts and their costs can be better
estimated. The Company evaluates these liabilities periodically based on available information,
including the progress of remedial investigations at each site, the current status of discussions with
regulatory authorities regarding the methods and extent of remediation and the apportionment of costs
among potentially responsible parties. As some of these issues are decided (the outcomes of which are
subject to uncertainties) or new sites are assessed and costs can be reasonably estimated, the Company
adjusts the recorded accruals, as necessary. The Company believes that these exposures are not
material to its consolidated results of operations and balance sheets. The Company believes that it has
adequately reserved for all probable and estimable environmental exposures.

Principal Sources of Liquidity
Accumulated Cash and Cash Equivalents

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had accumulated cash and cash equivalents of
approximately $365.0 million- and $126.8 million, respectively.
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Cash Flows from Operations

The Company expects that it will continue to generate significant cash flows from operations. See
“Analysis of Historical Cash Flows” below.

Revolving Credit Facilities

The 2006 Facilityy. On December 19, 2003, the Company entered into a new $350.0 million unsecured
multi-currency revolving credit facility that matures in 2006. The Company did not borrow under the
2006 facility at its inception, and no borrowings were outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

The 2006 facility provides that the Company may borrow for working capital and general corporate
purposes, including payment of a portion of the $512.5 million cash payment required to be paid upon
the effectiveness of an appropriate plan of reorganization in the Grace bankruptcey. See Note 18 for
further discussion of this matter. The Company may re-borrow amounts repaid under the 2006 facility
from time to time prior to the expiration or earlier termination of the facility. As of December 31,
2003, facility fees were payable at the rate of 0.15% per annum on the total amounts available under
the 2006 facility.

The Company’s obligations under the 2006 facility bear interest at floating rates, which are generally
determined by adding the applicable borrowing margin to the base rate or the interbank rate for the
relevant currency and time period. The 2006 facility provides for changes in borrowing margins based
on the Company’s long-term senior unsecured debt ratings.

The 2006 facility provides that, upon the occurrence of specified events that would adversely affect the
settlement agreement in the Grace bankruptcy proceedings or would materially increase the Company’s
liability in respect of the Grace bankruptcy or the asbestos liability arising from the Cryovac
transaction, the Company would be required to repay any amounts outstanding under the 2006 facility,
or refinance the facility, within 60 days.

The 2003 Facility. At December 31, 2002, the Company’s principal revolving credit facility was a
$525.0 million facility that the Company allowed to expire in accordance with its terms on March 30,
2003, There were no borrowings outstanding under the 2003 facility as of December 31, 2002,

ANZ Facility. In March 2002, the Company entered into an Australian dollar 175.0 million, which was
equivalent to U.S. $128.4 million at December 31, 2003, dual-currency revolving credit facility that
expires on March 12, 2005, known as the “ANZ facility.” A syndicate of banks made this facility
available to a group of the Company’s Australian and New Zealand subsidiaries for general corporate
purposes and the refinancing of previously outstanding indebtedness. The Company may re-borrow
amounts repaid under the ANZ facility from time to time prior to the expiration or earlier termination
of the facility. No amounts were outstanding under the ANZ facility at December 31, 2003.

Accounts Receivable Facility

In December 2001, the Company and a group of its U.S. subsidiaries entered into an accounts
receivable securitization program with a bank and an issuer of commercial paper administered by the
bank. The Company considers that the receivables facility provides a source of short-term liquidity.

Under the receivables facility, the Company’s two primary operating subsidiaries, Cryovac, Inc. and
Sealed Air Corporation (US), sell all of their eligible U.S. accounts receivable to Sealed Air Funding
Corporation, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that was formed for the sole
purpose of entering into the receivables facility. Sealed Air Funding in turn may sell undivided
ownership interests in these receivables to the bank and the issuer of commercial paper, subject to
specified conditions, up to a maximum of $125.0 million of receivables interests outstanding from time
to time.
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Sealed Air Funding retains the receivables it purchases from the operating, subsidiaries, except those as
to which it sells receivables interests to the bank or the issuer of commercial paper. The Company has
structured the sales of accounts receivable by the operating subsidiaries to Sealed Air Funding, and the
sales of receivables interests from Sealed Air Funding to the bank and the issuer of commercial paper,
as “true sales” under applicable laws. The assets of Sealed Air Funding are not available to pay any
creditors of the Company or of its subsidiaries or affiliates. The Company accounts for these
transactions as sales of receivables under the provisions of SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers
and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.” '

To secure the performance of their obligations under the receivables facility, Sealed Air Funding and
the operating subsidiaries granted a first priority security interest to the bank, as agent, in accounts
receivable owned by them, proceeds and collections of those receivables and other collateral. The bank
and the issuer of commercial paper have no recourse to the Company’s, the operating subsidiaries’ or
Sealed Air Funding’s other assets for any losses resulting from the financial inability of customers to
pay amounts due on the receivables when they become due. As long as a termination event with
respect to the receivables facility has not occurred, the operating subsidiaries service, administer and
collect the receivables under the receivables facility as agents on behalf of Sealed Air Funding, the
bank and the issuer of commercial paper. Prior to a termination event under the receivables facility,
Sealed Air Funding uses coilections of receivables not otherwise required to be paid to the bank or the
issuer of commercial paper to purchase new eligible receivables from the operating subsidiaries. The
Company has undertaken to cause the operating subsidiaries to perform their obligations under the
receivables facility.

The scheduled expiration date for the receivables facility is December 7, 2004. The parties amended
the receivables facility on April 2, 2003 to provide that Sealed Air Funding could sell receivables
interests aggregating up to $60.0 million, originated only by Sealed Air Corporation (US), to the bank
or the issuer of commercial paper until a definitive asbestos settlement agreement, satisfactory to the
bank, had been entered into. The receivables facility again became available for the sale of receivables
interests originated by Cryovac, Inc. as well as Sealed Air Corporation (US), up to the original
maximum of $125.0 million of receivables interests provided for by the receivables facility, on

January 26, 2004.

The parties also amended the receivables facility on April 2, 2003 to exclude the charge for the
asbestos litigation settlement reflected in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2002 from the calculation of the interest coverage and leverage ratios
provided for in the receivables facility. The Company must comply with these interest coverage and
leverage ratio covenants contained in the receivables facility in order to use the facility. The Company
was in compliance with these ratios at December 31, 2003.

Under limited circumstances, the bank and the issuer of commercial paper can terminate purchases of -
receivables interests prior to the above dates. A downgrade of the Company’s long-term senior
unsecured debt to BB- or below by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services or Ba3 or below by Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc., or failure to comply with interest coverage and debt leverage ratios, could result
in termination of the receivables facility. In connection with recording the accounting charge in the
fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos settlement and related costs, the Company requested and
received a waiver of compliance with the interest coverage and leverage ratios provided for in the
receivables facility. After reflecting this waiver, the Company was in compliance with the requirements
of the receivables facility as of December 31, 2002.

The operating subsidiaries did not sell any receivables interests under the receivables facility during
2003 and, therefore, the Company did not remove any related amounts from the consolidated assets
reflected on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003.
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During 2002, Sealed Air Funding sold receivables interests to the issuer of commercial paper from time
to time; however, as of December 31, 2002, neither the bank nor the issuer of commercial paper held
any receivables interests and no related amounts were removed from the consolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2002.

The receivables facility provides for the monthly payment of program fees which currently are 0.375%
per annum (0. 45% per annum at December 31, 2003) on the receivables interests sold by Sealed A1r
Funding and commitment fees which currently are 0.375% per annum (0.40% per annum at
December 31, 2003) on the unused portion of the $125.0 million receivables facility.

The costs associated with the receivables facility are reflected in other income (expense), net, in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001. These costs primarily relate to the loss on the sale of the receivables interests to the bank or the
issuer of commercial paper, which were approximately zero for 2003, $0.4 million for 2002 and

$0.1 million for 2001, and program and commitment fees and other associated costs, which were
approximately $0.6 million, $0.4 million and $0.3 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Lines of Credzt

Substantially all the Company s short-term borrowings of $18.2 mﬂllon and $53.4 million at

December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, were outstanding under lines of credit available to various of
the Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiaries. Amounts available under these credit lines as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 were approximately $215.3 million and $209.0 million, respectively, of
which approximately $197.0 million and $155.0 million, respectively, were unused.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had available committed and uncommitted lines of
credit, including the credit lines discussed above, of $693.7 million and $832.0 million, respectively, of
which $675.4 million and $721.0 million were unused. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the total
available lines of credit included committed lines of credit of $479.2 million and $832.0 million,
respectively, and uncommitted lines of credit of $214.5 million and $210.0 million, respectively. The
Company’s principal credit lines were all committed and consisted of the 2006 facility at December 31,
2003, the 2003 facility at December 31, 2002 and the ANZ facility at both dates. The Company is not
subject to any material compensating balance requirements in connection with its lines of credit.

Debt Ratings

The Company’s cost of capital and ability to obtain external financing may be affected by its debt
ratings, which are periodically reviewed by the credit rating agencies. The Company’s long-term senior
unsecured debt is currently rated Baa3 (stable outlook) by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. and BBB
(negative outlook) by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill Companies.
These ratings are among the ratings assigned by each of these organizations for inveéstment grade
long-term senior unsecured debt. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
securities and may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating organization. Each
rating should be evaluated independently of any other rating.
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Outstanding Indebtedness

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s total debt outstanding consisted of the amounts set
forth on the following table (amounts in millions):

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt:
Short-term bOITOWINES . . .. v vt it it it e e e e e .. $§ 182 $ 534
Current portion of long-term debt . ........... TR AT 2.4 2.0
Total current debt . . .. ... . e e 20.6 55.4
Long-term debt, less current portion: '
5.625% Euro Notes due July 2006, less unamortized discount of $0.7 in _
2003 and $0.81in 2002(1) . . . ..o oo . 2480 205.2
8.75% Senior Notes due July 2008, (plus) less unamortized discount and
interest rate swaps of $(4.0) in 2003 and $1.2in 2002 .............. 181.5 298.8
6.95% Senior Notes due May 2009, less unamortized discount of $1.1 in
2003and $1.6 0 2002 ... ...t e 248.9 2985
5.375% Senior Notes due Apnl 2008, less unamortized discount and
. interest rate swaps of $7.5in2003 . ... .. ... ... L, 292.5 —
5 625% Senior Notes due July 2013, less unamortized discount of $1.3 in
2003(2) « i e 398.7 —
6.875% Senior Notes due July 2033, less unamortized discount of $1.6 i in
2003(2) vt e e e 448.4 —
3% Convertible Senior Notes due June 2033(2) ... 431.3 —
ANZ Credit Facility . .. ... .o i e e e — 575
Other ... ... . . . e R 10.5 8.0
Total long-term debt, less current portion . ............... e e 2,259.8 868.0
Totaldebt........ ... ... i e .o 82,2804 $923.4

(1) The carrying value of the euro notes increased approximately $42.5 million in 2003, primarily as a
result of the strengthening of the euro compared to the U.S. dollar during 2003.

(2) The Company used an aggregate of $1,298.1 million from the proceeds of these offerings and
additional cash on:hand to redeem the outstanding shares of its Series. A convertible preferred
. stock. .,

Senior ‘Notes Issued iﬁ July 2003; Recapitalization

In July 2003, the Company issued a total of $1,281.3 million of senior notes in transactions exempt
from registration in reliance upon Rule 144A and other available exemptions under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended. On July 18, 2003, the Company used the net proceeds from these offerings and
additional cash on hand to redeem its Series A convertible preferred stock at the redemption price of
$51.00 per share, for which the Company used $1,298.1 million of cash, plus an amount equal to
dividends accrued from July 1, 2003 through July 17, 2003, for which the Company used $2.4 million of
cash. As discussed in “Analysis of Historical Cash Flows — Repurchases of Capital Stock” below and
Note 15 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company had previously
repurchased an aggregate of 750,600 shares of its Series A convertible preferred stock during 2003,
prior to the July 18, 2003 redemption. As discussed in “Analysis of Historical Cash Flows — Debt
Repurchase” below and Note 12 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company
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subsequently used net cash of $208.2 million to repurchase an aggregate of $172.5 million of its senior
notes and to terminate related interest rate swaps.

The senior note offerings consisted of the following:

* $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due July 15, 2013. Accrued
interest on the 5.625% senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year, commencing on January 15, 2004. The net proceeds from this issuance,
after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount, unamortized bond discount and other offering
expenses, were $395.6 million. The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was
$398.7 million, net of unamortized discount.

* $450.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.875% senior notes. due July 15, 2033. Accrued
interest on the 6.875% senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and-
July 15 of each year, commencing on January 15, 2004. The net proceeds from this issuance,
after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount, unamortized bond discount and other offering
expenses, were $444.0 million. The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was
$448.4 million, net of unamortized discount.

+ $431.3 million aggregate principal amount of 3% convertible senior notes due June 30, 2033.
Accrued interest on the 3% convertible senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on
June 30 and December 30 of each year, commencing on December 30, 2003. The net proceeds
from this issuance, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and other offering expenses,
were $421.5 million. The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was $431.3 million,

Holders of the convertible senior notes may convert those notes into shares of the Company’s
common stock at a conversion rate of 14.2857 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes,
which is equivalent to a conversion price of $70.00 per share, subject to anti-dilution
adjustments, before the close of business on June 30, 2033. Holders may convert their
convertible senior notes only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter,
if the closing sale price of the Company’s common stock exceeds 120% of the conversion price
for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of
the preceding calendar quarter; (2) during any period in which (i) the long-term credit rating
assigned to the notes by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill
Companies, or Moody’s Investors Services, Inc, is lower than BB+ or BaZ, respectively,

(ii) either Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s no longer rates the notes or has withdrawn or
suspended this rating, or (iii) the notes are not assigned a rating by both Standard & Poor’s and
Moody’s; (3) during the five business day period immediately after any five consecutive trading
day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of notes for each day of that
period was less than 98% of the product of the closing sale price of the Company’s common
stock and the conversion rate; (4) if the notes have been called for redemption; or (5) upon the
occurrence of specified corporate events. None of these circumstances that would allow for
conversion of the notes has arisen at any time since their issuance.

The Company has the option to redeem the 3% convertible senior notes beginning July 2, 2007
at a price equal to 101.286% of their aggregate principal amount, declining ratably to 100% of
their aggregate principal amount on June 30, 2010.

The holders of the 3% convertible senior notes have the option to require the Company to
repurchase the 3% convertible senior notes on June 30 of 2010, 2013, 2018, 2023 and 2028, or
upon the occurrence of a fundamental change in or a termination of trading of the Company’s
common stock, at a price equal to 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid
interest.
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In connection with the issuance of the 3% convertible senior notes, on September 5, 2003, the
Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with.the Securities and Exchange
Commission to register for resale the 6,160,708 shares of the Company’s common stock issuable,
subject to anti-dilution adjustments, upon conversion of the notes. The registration statement
became effective on January 23, 2004.

5.375% Senior Notes

On April 14, 2003, the Company issued $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior
notes due April 2008 in transactions exempt from registration in reliance upon Rule 144A and other
available exemptions under the Securities Act. Accrued interest on these senior notes is payable
semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, commencing on October 15, 2003.
The. net proceeds from the issuance of these senior notes after deducting the initial purchasers’
discount, unamortized bond discount and other offering expenses were $296.1 million.

The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was $292.5 million, net of unamortized
discount and an adjustment to record a decrease in the fair value of the 5.375% senior notes of
$6.1 million due to changes in interest rates related to interest rate swaps the Company has entered
into with respect to these notes.

The Company may from time to time continue to repurchase or otherwise retire its outstanding
indebtedness.

Covenants

Each issue of the Company’s outstanding senior notes and the Company’s outstanding euro notes
imposes limitations on the Company’s operations and those of specified subsidiaries. The principal
limitations restrict liens, sale and leaseback transactions and mergers, acquisitions and dispositions. The
2006 facility contains financial covenants relating to interest coverage, debt leverage and minimum
liquidity and restrictions on the creation of liens, the incurrence of additional indebtedness,
acquisitions, mergers and consolidations, asset sales, and amendments to the asbestos settlement
agreement discussed above. The ANZ facility contains financial covenants relating to debt leverage,
interest coverage and tangibie net worth and restrictions on the creation of liens, the incurrence of
additional indebtedness and asset sales. The Company was in compliance with these limitations at
December 31, 2003. The 2003 facility had similar covenants to those of the ANZ facility. In connection
with recording the accounting charge in the fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos settlement and
related costs (see Note 18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements), the Company
requested and received a waiver of compliance with the interest coverage and-leverage ratios provided
for in the 2003 facility. After reflecting such waiver, the Company was in compliance with all applicable
requirements of each of the above instruments as December 31, 2002.

Analysis of Historical Cash Flows
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $469.7 million in 2003, $323.9 million in 2002 and
$578.7 million in 2001. The increase in 2003 compared with 2002 was primarily due to the following:

* changes in the accounts receivable facility, which is described below;
and:

* changes in operating assets and liabilities in the ordinary course of business, as discussed below
under “Changes in Working Capital.”
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The decrease in 2002 compared with 2001 was primarily due to the following:
* changes in the accounts receivable facility, which is described below; and

» changes in operating assets and liabilities in the ordinary course of business, as discussed below
under “Changes in Working Capital;”

partially offset by:
* increased earnings, excluding the non-cash impact of the asbestos settlement.

In the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company sold receivables interests totaling $95.6 million to the
financial institutions participating in the Company’s accounts receivable facility, which is described
below. Such receivables interests were not replaced with additional receivables interests in 2002. As a
result, the Company recorded cash provided by operating activities totaling.$95.6 million in 2001 and
an equal and offsetting reduction in the net cash provided by operating activities in 2002. The financial
institutions participating in the accounts receivable facility held no receivables interests at the beginning
or end of 2003. Therefore, the accounts receivables facility had no effect on net cash provided by
operating activities in 2003. ‘

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activitics amounted to $123.4 million in 2003, $96.9 million in 2002 and
$177.9 million in 2001. In each year, investing activities consisted primarily of capital expenditures and
acquisitions. The increase in net cash used in these activities in 2003 was due to higher capital
expenditures. The decrease in net cash used in these activities in 2002 was due to lower levels of capital
expenditures and, to a lesser extent, acquisitions. Cash used to complete acquisitions was $2.5 million in
2003, $10.5 million in 2002 and $36.0 million in 2001. In each year, cash used for acquisitions was net -
of cash acquired in those acquisitions. Cash acquired in acquisitions was not material in 2003, 2002 or
2001. The Company did not assume any debt in acquisitions in 2003 or 2002..In 2001, the Company
assumed approximately $19.0 million of debt in acqulsmons

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures were $124.3 million in 2003, $91.6 million in 2002 and $146.3 million in 2001.
Capital expenditures for the Company s food packaging segment amounted to $86.2 million, ,
$61.8 million and $103.8 miillion and for the protective and specialty packaging segment amounted to
$38.1 million, $29.8 million and $42.4 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The increase in capital expenditures in 2003 was primarily due to spending related to-construction of .
new plants in the United States and Eastern Europe. The decrease in capital expenditures in 2002 was
primarily due to improved productivity of existing assets, which allowed the Company to defer spending
on incremental capacity. The Company expects to continue to make capital expenditures as it deems
appropriate to expand its business, replace depreciating property, plant and equipment and invest in-
more efficient capacity and productivity gains. The Company currently anticipates that capital
expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2004 will be in the range of $125 million to

$150 million. The Company’s projection of capital expenditures for 2004 is based upon its capital
expenditure budget for 2004, the status of approved but not yet completed capital projects, anticipated
future projects and historic spending trends.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities amounted to $108.9 mllhon in 2003, $101.5 million in 2002 and
$402.6 million in 2001.
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The increase in net cash used in financing activities in 2003 compared with 2002 was primarily due to
the following:

+ cash of $1,298.1 million used in 2003 to redeem all of the outstanding shares of Series A
convertible preferred stock on July 18, 2003, as discussed above;

» cash of $208.2 used to repurchase debt in December 2003, as discussed below;

* an increase of $7.9 million in 2003 compared with 2002 in cash used to purchase the Company’s
Series A convertible preferred stock, as.discussed below;

partially offset by:

* net cash proceeds of $1,557.2 million from issuance of the 5.375% senior notes in Aprrl 2003 .
and of the 5.625% senior notes, the 6. 875% senior notes and the 3% convertible senior notes in
July 2003, as discussed above;

* decrease in net debt repayments in the 2003 period of $212.0 million; and

* net proceeds of $13.9 million in 2003 from the Company’s termination of U.S. Treasury lock
agreements that were entered into to manage interest rate risks arising from the then-planned
issuance of the 5.375% senior notes, the 5. 625% senior notes and the 6.875% semor notes, as
described more fully in “Derivative Flnancml Instruments below.

The change in financing activities in 2002 compared with 2001 was primarily due to the following:

* net debt repayments of $35.8 million in 2002 compared to $312.9 million in 2001. During 2001,
the Company repaid all amounts outstanding under a former revolving credit facility and most .of
the borrowings under the 2003 facility, which resulted in lower outstanding bank borrowings at

December 31, 2001 All remaining borrowings under the 2003 facility were paid off during 2002;
and

¢ a timing difference relating to the payment of dividends on the Company ] outstandmg Series A
_convertible preferred stock arising from the Company’s pre- -funding in December 2001 of the
d1v1dend payable on January 2, 2002;

partlally offset by:

* an increase in cash used of $10.1 million to repurchase shares of the Company’s preferred stock.

Repurchases of Capital Stock

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the Company repurchased 750,600 shares of its Series A convertible
preferred stock at a cost of $36.7 million, 782,500 shares of its preferred stock at a cost of
approximately $28.8 million, and 524,220 shares of its preferred stock at a cost of approximately

$18.8 million, respectively. The average price per share of these preferred stock répurchases was $48.94,
$36.85 and $35.78 in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. As discussed in “Outstanding Indebtedness —
Senior Notes Issued in July 2003; Recaprtahzatlon above and Notes 12 and 15 to the Company s
Consolidated Financial Statements, in July 2003 the Company issued $1,281.3 million of senior notes.
The Company used an aggregate of $1,298.1 million from the proceeds of these offenngs and
additional cash on hand to redeem the outstanding shares of its Series A convertible preferred stock.

The share repurchases described above 'were made under a program previously adopted by the
Company’s Board of Directors. The share repurchase program authorized the repurchase of up to
approximately 16,977,000 shares of common stock, which included Series A convertible preferred stock
on an as-converted basis prior to its redemption. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had
repurchased approximately 10,116, 000 shares of common stock and preferred stock on an as-converted
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basis, and the remaining repurchase authorization covered approximately 6,861,000 shares of common
stock. The Company may from time to time continue to repurchase its capital stock.

Debt Repurchase

In December 2003, the Company used net cash of $208.2 million to repurchase in the open market
$122.5 million face amount of its 8.75% senior notes and $50.0 million face amount of its 6.95% senior
notes and to terminate interest rate swaps on the 8.75% senior notes with a total notional amount of
$100.0 million. The net cash used of $208.2 million consisted of cash used to purchase the senior notes
at a premium plus accrued interest and related fees of $208.9 million and cash received of $0.7 million
related to the termination of the interest rate swaps. These repurchases were made at premiums to the
face amounts of the notes and, therefore, resulted in a loss of $33.6 million, which the Company
reflected in the statement of operations as “Loss on debt repurchase.” The Company may from time to
time continue to repurchase or otherwise retire its outstanding indebtedness.

Changes in Working Capital

At December 31, 2003, working capital (current assets less current liabilities) was a net asset of
$237.4 million compared to a net liability of $96.5 mllhon at December 31, 2002. The net liability
position in working capital at the end of December 2002 was primarily due to recording the

$512.5 million cash portion of the asbestos settlement habmty as a current liability at December 31,
2002. :

The increase in the Company’s net asset for working capltal during 2003 arose primarily from the
following changes:

* increase of $41.8 million in inventories, primarily due to $30 million from the effects of foreign
currency translation, increased petrochemical-based raw materials costs from December 31, 2002
and quantity increases in the ordinary course of business;

s increase in cash and cash equivalents primarily due to the net cash proceeds of $296.1 million
from the April 2003 issuance of the 5.375% senior notes, described above, cash flows generated
from operations and the net proceeds of $1,261.1 million from the July 2003 issuance of three
series of senior notes, partially offset by $1,298.1 million of cash used for the redemption of the
Company’s Series A convertible preferred stock;

* increase of $68.4 million in notes and accounts receivable primarily due to $50.9 million from
the positive effects of foreign currency translation and, to a lesser extent, an increase in net sales
(excluding foreign exchange) during the fourth quarter of 2003 compared to the fourth quarter
of 2002; and

* decrease in short-term borrowings primarily due to net repayments;
partially offset by:

* increase of $24.7 million in accounts payable primarily due to $16.0 million from the effects

of foreign currency translation and, to a lesser extent, due to the timing of payments to
vendors and the increased levels of inventory as discussed above; and

* increase in other current liabilities, primarily due to the following:

* increase in accrued interest of $27.3 million related to the asbestos settlement liability, -
$9.9 million from the issuance in April 2003 of the 5.375% senior notes and
$32.6 million from the July 2003 issuance of senior notes; partially offset by

* decrease of $13.3 in accrued preferred dividends since all of the outstanding shares of
Series A convertible preferred stock were redeemed on July 18, 2003, as discussed
above.
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Current and Quick Ratios

The ratio of current assets to current liabilities, known as the current ratio, was 1.2 at December 31,
2003 and 0.9 at December 31, 2002. The ratio of current assets less inventory to current liabilities,
known as the quick ratio, was 0.9 at December 31, 2003 and 0.6 at December 31, 2002.

Derivative Financial Instruments
U.S. Treasury Lock Agreements

During the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company entered into U.S. Treasury lock
agreements with a total notional amount of $700.0 million that qualified and were designated as cash
flow hedges. U.S. Treasury lock agreements are instruments used to manage the risks associated with
movements in U.S. Treasury rates. The Company entered into these agreements to manage interest rate
risks arising from the planned issuance of the 5.375% senior notes in April 2003 and the planned
issuance of the 5.625% senior notes and the 6.875% senior notes in July 2003 (see Note 12): The
Company terminated these U.S. Treasury lock agreements prior to June 30, 2003 and received net cash
proceeds of $13.9 million. The Company has reflected this amount in other comprehensive income and
is amortizing and reflecting it as a net reduction of interest expense over the lives of the respective
senior notes. At December 31, 2003, the Company was not party to any U.S. Treasury lock agreements.

Interest Rate Swaps

During 2003, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of

$500.0 million that qualify and were designated as fair value hedges. The interest rate swaps were
entered into in order to convert a portion of the 5.375% senior notes and the 8.75% senior notes into
floating rate debt.

In connection with the Company’s repurchase of a portion of the 8.75% senior notes in
December 2003, the Company terminated interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of
$100.0 million and received net cash proceeds of $0.7 million. -

At December 31, 2003, the Company recorded the following adjustments to long-term debt:

* an adjustment to record a decrease in the fair value of the 5.375% senior notes due to changes
in interest rates of $6.1 million and an offsetting adjustment to other liabilities to record the fair
value of the related interest rate swaps; and

* an adjustment to record an increase in the fair value of the 8.75% senior notes due to changes
in interest rates of $3.8 million and an offsetting adjustment to other assets to record the fair
value of the related interest rate swaps.

The Company also reduced interest expense $4.2 rmlllon for the year ended December 31, 2003, due to
the impact of interest rate swaps that were outstanding during the year.
Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

At December 31, 2003, the Company was party to foreign currency forward contracts, which did not
have a significant impact on the Company’s liquidity.

For further discussion about these contracts and other financial instruments, see Item 7A, “Quantitative
and Quahtanve Disclosures about Market Risk.”"

Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to its redemption in July 2003, the Company’s Series A convertible preferred stock was listed on
the New York Stock Exchange and was convertible at any time into approximately 0.885 of a share of
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common stock for each share of preferred stock. The holders of these shares voted with the holders of
the common stock on an as-converted basis and were entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends,
when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at an annual rate of $2.00 per share, payable quarterly
in arrears on the first business day of the succeeding calendar quarter. The Series A convertible
preferred stock ranked senior to the Company’s common stock and junior to the Company’s
indebtedness.

Because it was subject to mandatory redemption, the Series A convertible preferred stock was classified
outside of the shareholders’ equity section of the consolidated balance sheet. At its date of issuance,
the fair value of the Series A convertible preferred stock exceeded its mandatory redemption amount
primarily due to the common stock conversion feature. Accordingly, the book value of the Series A
convertible preferred stock was reflected in the consolidated balance sheet at its mandatory redemption
value.

Shareholders’ Equity

The Companjl’s shareholders’ equity was $1,123.6 million at December 31, ‘2003, $813.0 million at
December 31, 2002, and $850.2 million at December 31, 2001.

Shareholders’ equity increased in 2003 principally due to the following:
* net earnings of $240.4 million;
» reduction of foreign currency translation adjustment of $75.2 million;
* conversion of preferred stock into common stock of $16.9 millﬂion; '
* the net effect of transactions under the Company’s contingent stock plan of $8.3 million;

* the exercise of stock options granted prior to the Cryovac transaction under the Company’s
stock option plans of $4.7 million;

* unrecognized gain on derivative instruments of $8.0 million, net of income tax, related to the
termination of the Company’s U.S. Treasury lock agreements discussed above; and

* the Company’s contribution of its common stock to its profit sharing plan of $9.8 million;
- partially offset by:

* the Company’s redemption of its Series A convertible preferred stock at its redemption price of
$51.00 per share, which included a $1 00 per share redemptlon premium, or $25.5 million in the
aggregate; and .

» Series A convertible preferred stock dividends of $28.6 ‘million.
Shareholders’ equity decreased in 2002 princilﬁally due to 'the folldWi_ng:

* a reduction in retained earnings arising from the Company’s net loss of $309.1 million and the
payment of preferred stock dividends of $53.8 million; and

». foreign -currency translation adjustments of $14.5 million;
partially offset by:
* the net effect of transactions under the Company’s contingent stock plan of $7.3 million;

¢ the $321.5 million value of the 9,000,000 shares of common stock reserved for issuance related
to the asbestos settlement; and

* the excess of book value over the repurchase price of $10.3 million recognized in connection
with preferred stock repurchases.
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Recently Issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, Accounting Guidance and Disclosure
Requirements

The Company is subject to numerous recently issued statements of financial accounting standards,
accounting guidance and disclosure requirements. Note 19, “New Accounting Pronouncements —
Recently Issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, Accounting Guidance and Disclosure
Requirements,” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is contained in Item 8 of
Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, describes these new accounting pronouncements and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The Company’s discussion and analysis of its results of operations and financial condition are based
upon its consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, known as US GAAP. The preparation
of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing
basis and are based on historical and other factors believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The results of these estimates may form the basis of the carrying value of assets and liabilities and may
not be readily apparent from other sources. Actual results, under conditions and circumstances
different from those assumed, may differ from estimates, and while any differences may be material to
the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the Company does not believe that the differences,
taken as a whole, will be material.

The Company believes the following accounting policies are critical to its business operations and the
understanding of results of operations and affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in
the preparation of its consolidated financial statements:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts — The Company maintains accounts receivable allowances for
estimated losses resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments. Additional
allowances may be required if the financial condition of the Company’s customers deteriorates.

Commitments and Contingencies — Litigation — On an ongoing basis, the Company assesses the
potential liabilities related to any lawsuits or claims brought against the Company. While it is typically

very difficuit to determine the timing and ultimate outcome of these actions, the Company uses its best

judgment to determine if it is probable that it will incur an expense related to the settlement or final
adjudication of these matters and whether a reasonable estimation of the probable loss, if any, can be
made. In assessing probable losses, the Company makes estimates of the amount of insurance
recoveries, if any. The Company accrues a liability when it believes a loss is probable and the amount
of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome
of litigation and potential insurance recovery, it is possible that disputed matters may be resolved for
amounts materially different from any provisions or disclosures that the Company has previously made.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — The Company periodically reviews long-lived assets, other than
goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Goodwill, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, is reviewed
for possible impairment at least annually during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. A review of
goodwill may be initiated prior to conducting the annual analysis if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired. Assumptions and estimates used in the
determination of impairment losses, such as future cash flows and disposition costs, may affect the
carrying value of long-lived assets and possible impairment expense in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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Self-Insurance — The Company retains the obligation for specified claims and losses related to
property, casualty, workers’ compensation and employee benefit claims. The Company accrues for
outstanding reported claims, claims that have been incurred but not reported, and projected claims
based upon management’s estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims using historical
experience, insurance company estimates and the estimated trends in claim values. Although
management believes it has the ability to adequately project and record estimated claim payments,
actual results could differ significantly from the recorded liabilities.

Pensions — Although the Company maintains a non-contributory profit sharing plan and contributory
thrift and retirement savings plans in which most U.S. employees of the Company are eligible to
participate, the Company does maintain defined benefit pension plans for a limited number of its U.S.
employees and for many of its non-U.S. employees. The Company accounts for these pension plans in
accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.” Under these accounting
standards, assumptions are made regarding the valuation of benefit obligations and performance of
plan assets. The principal assumptions concern the discount rate used to measure future obligations,
the expected future rate of returri on plan assets, the expected rate of future compensation increases
and various other actuarial assumptions. Changes to these assumptions could have a significant impact
on costs and liabilities recorded under SFAS No. 87. '

Income Taxes — The Company’s deferred tax assets arise from net deductible temporary differences
and tax benefit carryforwards. The Company believes that its taxable earnings during the periods when
the temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets become deductible or when tax benefit
carryforwards may be utilized should be sufficient to realize the related future income tax benefits. For
those foreign jurisdictions where the expiration date of tax benefit carryforwards or the projected
taxable earnings indicate that realization is not likely, a valuation allowance is provided.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, the Company estimates future taxable earnings, with
consideration for the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies and the realizability of tax benefit
carryforwards, to determine which deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized in the
future. Valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets can be impacted by changes to tax laws,
changes to statutory tax rates and future taxable earnings. In the event that actual results differ from
these estimates in future periods, the Company may need to adjust the valuation allowance, which
could materially impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Forward-Looking' Statements

Some of the statements made by the Company in this report, in documents incorporated by reference
herein, and in future oral and written statements by the Company, may be forward-looking. These
statements reflect the Company’s beliefs and expectations as to future events and trends affecting the
Company’s business, its results of operations and its financial condition. These forward-looking
statements are based upon thé Company’s current expectations concerning future events and discuss,
among other things, anticipated future performance and future business plans. Forward-looking
statements are identified by such words and phrases as “anticipates,” “believes,” “could be,”
“estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans to,” “will” and similar expressions. Forward-looking
statements are necessarily subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside the control of
the-Company, which could cause actual results to differ materially from these statements.

The Company recognizes that it is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that may affect the
future performance of the Company, such as:

* economic, political, business and market conditions in the geographic areas in which it conducts
business; '
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« factors affecting the customers, industries and markets that use the Company’s packaging
materials and systems;

» competitive factors;

* production capacity;

« raw material availability and pricing;

* changes in energy-related expenses;

» disruptions in energy supply or communications;

* changes in the value of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar;

» changes in interest rates, credit availability and ratings;

* the effect on the Company of new pronouncements by accounting authorities;

= the Company’s ability to hire, develop and retain talented employees worldwide;
* the Company’s development and commercialization of successful new products;

* the Company’s accomplishments in entering new markets and acquiring and integrating new
businesses;

* the Company’s access to financing and other sources of capital;

* the success of the Company’s key information systems projects;

* the magnitude and timing of the Company’s capital expenditures;

* the Company’s inventory management proficiency;

* changes in the Company’s relationships with customers and suppliers;

* the approval and implementation of the settlement agreement with the Official Committee of
Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants and the Official Committee of Asbestos Property Damage
Claimants in the Grace bankruptcy proceeding;

* other effects on the Company of the bankruptcy filing by Grace and its subsidiaries;
* other legal and environmental proceedings, claims and matters involving the Company;

* the effects of animal and food-related health issues, such as bovine spongiform encephalopathy,
also known ‘as BSE or “mad-cow” disease, avian influenza, also known as “bird flu,” and
foot-and-mouth disease; as well as other health issues affecting trade;

» acts and effects of war or.terrorism; and

» changes in domestic or foreign laws, rules or regulations, or governmental or agency actions,
including the effects of proposed federal asbestos legislation, if enacted.

Except as required by the federal securities laws, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events

or otherwise.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market R]Sk

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and forexgn currency exchange
rates,-which may adversely affect its results of operations and financial condition. The Company seeks
to minimize these risks through regular operating and financing activities and, when deemed
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appropriate, through the use of derivative financial instruments. The Company does not purchase, hold
or sell derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Interest Rates

From time to time, the Company may use interest rate swaps, collars or options to manage its exposure
to fluctuations in interest rates.

2003 Interest Rate Swaps:

During 2003, the Company entered into interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of
$500.0 million that qualify and were designated as fair value hedges. The interest rate swaps were
entered into in order to convert a portion of the 5.375% senior notes and the 8.75% senior notes
into floating rate debt.

In connection with the Company’s repurchase of a portion of the 8.75% senior notes in
December 2003, the Company terminated interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of
$100.0 million and received net cash proceeds of $0.7 million.

At December 31, 2003, the Company recorded the following adjustments to long-term debt:

» an adjustment to record a decrease in the fair value of the 5.375% senior notes due to
changes in interest rates of $6.1 million and an offsetting adjustment to other liabilities to
record the fair value of the related interest rate swaps; and

* an adjustment to record an increase in the fair value of the 8.75% senior notes due to
changes in interest rates of $3.8 million and an offsetting adjustment to other assets to
record the fair value of the related interest rate swaps.

The Company also reduced interest expense $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003,
due to the impact of interest.rate swaps that were outstanding during the year.

2002 Interest Rate Swaps:

In June 2002, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements (with a total notional
amount of $50.0 million) that were qualified and designated as fair value hedges in accordance
with SFAS No. 133. These agreements were entered into in order.to convert a portion of the
8.75% senior notes fixed rate debt into floating rate debt. During September 2002, the Company
terminated these swaps and reflected a basis adjustment to the 8.75% senior notes for a portion of
the cash received of approximately $2.4 million. The Company is amortizing this amount and
reflecting it as a component of interest expense .over the remaining life of the 8.75% senior notes.
The Company was not party to any interest rate swap -agreements at December 31, 2002.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had no interest rate collars or options outstanding.

The fair value of the Company’s fixed rate debt varies with changes in interest rates. Generally, the fair
value of fixed rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and.decrease as interest rates rise. At
December 31, 2003, the carrying value of the Company’s total debt, giving effect to the impact of the
interest rate swaps, was $2,280.4 million, of which $2,262.2 million was fixed rate debt. At

December 31, 2002, the carrying value of the Company’s total debt was $923.4 million, of which
approximately $812.6 million was fixed rate debt. The estimated fair value of the Company’s total debt,
giving effect to the impact of the interest rate swaps, which reflects the cost of replacing the Company’s
fixed rate debt with borrowings at current market rates, was $2,445.3 million at December 31, 2003
compared to $958.3 million at December 31, 2002.. A hypothetical 10% decrease in interest rates would
result in an increase in the fair value of the total debt balance at December 31, 2003 of $101.2 million. .
These changes in the fair value of the Company’s fixed rate debt do not alter the Company’s
obligations to repay the outstanding principal amount of this debt.
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Foreign Exchange Rates

The Company may use other derivative instruments from time to time, such as foreign exchange
options to manage exposure due to foreign exchange rates and interest rate and currency swaps to gain
access to additional sources of international financing, while limiting foreign exchange exposure and
limiting or adjusting interest rate exposure by swapping borrowings in one currency for borrowings
denominated in another currency. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had no foreign
exchange options or interest rate and currency swap agreements outstanding.

The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts to fix the amount payable on transactions
denominated in foreign currencies. The terms of these instruments are generally twelve months or less.
At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had foreign currency forward contracts with an
aggregate notional amount of approximately $161.9 million and $146.9 million, respectively. The
estimated fair values of these contracts, which represent the estimated net payments that would be paid
or received by the Company in the event of termination of these contracts based on the then current
foreign exchange rates, was a net payable of $0.2 million and zero at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. A hypothetical 10% adverse change in foreign exchange rates at December 31, 2003 would
have caused the Company to pay approximately $0.4 million to terminate these contracts,

The Company’s foreign subsidiaries had outstanding debt of approximately $22.7 million and ‘
$322.7 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. This debt is generally denominated in the
functional currency of the borrowing subsidiary. The Company believes that this enables it to better
match operating cash flows with debt service requirements and to better match foreign currency-
denominated assets and liabilities, thereby reducing its need to enter into foreign exchange contracts.

Commodities

The Company uses various commodity raw material and energy products in conjunction with its
manufacturing processes. Generally, the Company acquires these components at market prices and does
not use financial instruments to hedge commodity prices. As a result, the Company is exposed to
market risks related to changes in commodity prices of these components.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are filed as part of this report.
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Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
of Sealed Air Corporation:

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sealed Air Corporation and subsidiaries as
listed in the accompanying index. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial
statements, we also have audited the financial statement schedule as listed in the accompanying index.
These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the-audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. ’

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Sealed Air Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and
2002, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole presents falrly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the-
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets,” as of January 1, 2002.

KPMe LP

KPMG LLP
Short Hills, New Jersey
January 26, 2004
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(In millions of dollars, except for per share data) -

2003 2002 2001

Net sales . . oot e $3,5319 $3,2043 $3,067.5
Costofsales ..................... T 02,4191 - 2,146.7 2,077.2

Grossprofit . .. ... e 1,112.8  1,057.6 990.3
Marketing, administrative and development expenses . ... .......... 574.1 5425 5131
Goodwill amortization . ... ... ... ... e U — — 57.0
Restructuring and other (credits) charges .................. e - (0.5) (1.3) 32.8

Operating profit . . . ............... e 5392 5164 3874
Interest expense. ................ e Gl e W (134.3) (65.3) . (76.4)
Asbestos settlement and related costs .. ... .. e s (2.8) (850.1) -(12.0)
Loss on debt repurchase .............. e e (336). =~ =
Other income (expense), met .............. e Ve e - 84 7.1 - (1.5)

Earnings (loss) before income taxes.............. e 3769 - (391.9) = 2975
Income tax expense (benefit) . ................... e .. 1365 (82.8) 1408

Net eammgs (0SS) vt et $ 2404 $(309.1) § 156.7
Less: Excess of redemptlon price over book value of Series A ' '

convertible preferred stock . .. ....... . i i 255 - — —
Add: Excess of book value over repurchase price of Series A : T

convertible preferred StOCK vttt e e 038 103 . .14
Less: Series A convertible preferred stock dividends . e e 286 538 55 0

Net earnings (loss) ascribed to common shareholders ... ......... $ 187.1 § (352. 6)- $ 109.1
Earnings :(loss). per common share _

Basic....... R P PRI e $ 221 § (420) $. 130

DIUtEd . .o e e e $ 200 $ (430) § 1.22

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets -
.. December 31, 2003 and 2002
(In millions of dollars, except share data)

2003 2002
Assets
Current assets: :
Cashandcashequivalents . ......... ... ... ... .. . i, $ 3650 § 126.8
Notes and accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful accounts of $17.9 in 2003
and $18.7 10 2002 . . . ..t e e e e e e e e 615.2 546.8
B0 73 11 () 1=~ O 3712 329.4
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . .. ........... . .. ... Lo, 18.8 11.7
Deferred INCOME 1aXES . . . . . . ottt et e e e et et e e e e s 57.6 41.6
Total current @ssets . . . . . . .o e e e e e 1,427.8 1,056.3
Property and equipment, net .. ... ... ... ... e 1,0424  1,013.0
GoodWIll . . o e e e e e e e 19395  1,926.2
Deferred INCOME tAXES. . . . v vt v it it ettt et it e et e e e et e e e 85.0 84.3
1 13 T3 11X O 209.4 181.0
TOtAl ASSEtS . & . v v v e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $4,704.1  $4,260.8
Liabilities, Preferred Stock and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings . ... ....... S $ 182 § 534
Current portion of long-term debt . ... . . ... ... .. e 24 20
Accounts payable. . . . .. .. e e 191.7 167.0
Deferred MCOME taXES . . . . . vt v it et et et ettt e e e e 58 4.3
Asbestos settlement Hability . ...................... e e 512.5 5125
Other current Habilities . . . . ... . .. i i e e e 459.8 413.6
Total current liabilities . . . . . .. . it e 1,1904  1,152.8
Long-term debt, less current portion . .. ... ..l 2,259.8 868.0
Deferred iNCOmE taXes. . . . v v v v vttt e et e i e e e e e 349 31.0
Other liabilities . . . . ... it e e e e e 954 69.0
Total Liabilities . . ... ... i i e e e 3,580.5 . 2,120.8

Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Authorized 50,000,000 preferred shares. Series A convertible preferred stock, $50. OO per
share redemptxon value, no shares authorized in 2003 and 27,365,594 shares authorized in
2002, no shares outstanding in 2003 due to redemption of all outstanding shares on July
18, 2003 and 26,540,099 shares outstanding in 2002, mandatory redemption in 2018 ... .. —  1,327.0

Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.10 par value per share. Authorized 400,000,000 shares; issued 85,547,227

shares in 2003 and 84,764,347 shares in 2002 . ........ ... .. .. ..o, 8.6 8.5
Cost of treasury common stock, 461,785 shares in 2003 and 723,415 shares in 2002 . . . . .. (19.6) -(31.1)
- Common stock reserved for issuance related to asbestos settlement, 9,000,000 shares, $.10 -

par value pershare in 2003 and 2002 . .. ......... ... L. i, 0.9 0.9
JAdditional paid-in capital . . ... .. . 1,046.9 1,037.1
Retained €arnings . .. ... ... ittt i e e 2437 31.9
Deferred compensation . ... ..... ... ... i e e 163y - (9.9
1,2642 10374

Minimum pension Hlability. .. ... ... . i (1.6) (2.2)
Accumulated translation adjustment . . .. ... ... (147.0)  (2222)
Unrecognized gain on derivative instruments . . . ... . ... .o it e, 8.0 —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss . . ... . L i (140.6)  (224.4)
Total Shareholders’ Equity . . . . .. ..ottt e e 1,123.6 813.0
Total Liabilities, Preferred Stock and Shareholders’ Equity . . ................... $4,704.1 $4,260.8

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

(In millions of dollars)

Common
Stock
Resle;ved Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Issuance Unrecognized
Related to Additional Treasury Accumulated Gain (Loss) on Minimum
Common Asbestos  Paid-in  Retained Deferred Common Translation Derivative Pension
Stock  Settlement' - Capital Earnings Compensation Stock  Adj t  Instr t: Liability.  Total
Balance at December 31,2000 . .. $84 $— § 689.1 §293.1 $(17.1) $ (31.1) $(1878) § - $(15) " § 7531
Effect of contingent stock
transactions, net . . ... ... .. — — 17 — 6.1 —_ — — — 7.8
Shares issued for non-cash
compensation . . ......... — — 03 — — — — - — 03
Exercise of stock options . . . . .. — — 0.5 — — — — —_ — 0.5
Purchase of preferred stock . . . . . — — 7.5 — — — — — — 7.5
Conversion of preferred stock . . . —_ — — — — —_ — — — —
FAS- 87 pension adjustment . . . . . — — — — — — — - 0.7) 0.7)
Foreign currency translation . . . . — — — — — — (15.9) — — (19.9)
Unrecognized loss on derivative
instruments . . .. ... ... .. — — — — — —_ —_ (0.1) — 0.1)
Net eamnings . . ........... —_ —_ —_ 156.7 — — — - — 156.7
Dividends on preferred stock . . . . — —_ - (55.0) — — — — — (55.0)
Balance at December 31, 2001 . . . 8.4 — 699.1 394.8 (11.0) 31.1)  (207.7) 0.1) 22) 850.2
Effect of contingent stock .
transactions, net . . ... ..., . 0.1 -— 6.1 _ 1.1 — _ — — 7.3
Shares issued for non-cash
compensation . ... ....... - — 0.1 — — — —_— — — 0.1
Exercise of stock options . . . . .. — — 0.9 — — — — — — 0.9
Purchase of preferred stock . . . . . — — 103 — — — - - — 10.3
Conversion of preferred stock . . . — — - — — — — -— - —_
FAS 87 pension adjustment . . . . . — — - — — — — — — —
Foreign currency translation . . . . — — — — — — (14.5) — — (14.5)
Unrecognized gain on derivative
_instruments . . ... ... ... L. — — —_ — —_ — — 0.1 —_ 0.1
Netloss . . .............. - - —  (30%.1) —_ — — — — (309.1)
Dividends on preferred stock . . . . — — — (53.8) —_ — - -— — (53.8)
Common stock reserved for
issuance related to the asbestos
settlement . . ... ... ..... — 09 320.6 — — —_ —_ — — 3215
Balance at December 31, 2002 . . . 8.5 0.9 10371 319 9.9) (31.1) (222.2) — 22) 813.0
Effect of contingent stock
transactions, net . . . . ... ... 0.1 — 14.6 — (6.4) — — — — 83
Shares issued for non-cash -
compensation . . .. ....... —_ — 1.7 — — 11.5 — — — 9.8
Exercise of stock options . . . . . . — — 4.7 — — — — — — 4.7
Redemption of preferred stock . . . — — . - (2355) — — - — — — (25.5)
Purchase of preferred stock . . . . . — - 08 — — - - —_ —_ 0.8
Conversion of preferred stock . — - 169 — — — — — — 169
FAS 87 pension adjustment . . . . . - - ) —_ - B — — - 0.6 0.6
Foreign currency translation — — — — — —_ 75.2 —_ — 752
Unrecognized gain on derivative
instruments . . . ... ... ... - — _ — —_ -— — 8.0 _ 8.0
Netearnings . ............ — — 2404 —_ — — — — 240.4
Dividends on preferred stock . . . . — — — (28.6) —_ — — — — (28.6)
Balance at December 31,2003 ... $86 $0.9 $1,046.9 § 2437 $(163) 3§ (19.6) $(147.0) $ 80 $ (16) $1,1236

|
|
)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(In millions of dollars)

2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings (I0SS) . . . oo e $§ 2404 $(309.1) $156.7
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities: ‘
Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment .. ... ... L 154.1 144.1 141.7
Other amortization, including goodwill in 2001 .. .................. 19.1 209 78.9
Amortization of bond discount . ... ... . Lo o i 0.9 0.7 0.6
Amortization of terminated treasury lock agreements ... ............. (0.5) — —
Non-cash portion of restructuring and other charges (credits) .......... — — 7.3
Non-cash portion of asbestos settlement . . .. .................. ... — 3215 —
Deferred tax provisions . .. ... ...t (234) (257.2) (9.1)
Net loss on long-term debt repurchased . ... ......... ... ... .... 33.6 — —
Net loss (gain) on disposals of property and equipment . ............. 2.3 0.1 0.2)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of businesses acquired:
Change in the Receivables Facility . . ........ ... ... .. ... .. — {95.6) 95.6
Change in notes and accounts receivable, net of Receivables Facility . . . . (20.3) 22.7) 271
INVENtOTIES . . o . v it e (11.6)  (32.6) 16.5
Other CUITEent @SSELS . . . . vttt e i e e e (5.4) 2.1) amn
Oher @88BtS . . v v vt ittt e e 0.9y (200 (3.9
Accounts payable . . .. ... e 9.2 23.7 5.7
Income taxes payable . ......... .. ... ... . . 4.0 12.7 35.7
Asbestos settlement liability . . . .. ... .. .. ... L, — 512.5 —
Other current liabilities . . . .. ... . ... . o 575 251 40.3
Other liabilities . ... ... ... .. ... 10.7 1.9 (1.1)
Net cash provided by operating activities .. ...................... 469.7 3239 5787
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures for property and equipment . ..................... (124.3) (91.6) (146.3)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment . . ... ...... ... .. ... 34 52 4.4
Businesses acquired in purchase transactions, net of cash acquired . ......... 25y (105 (360
Net cash used in investing activities . ... ......... ... ......... L (123.4)y  (96.9) (177.9)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from long-termdebt .. ... ... ... . L 1,582.0 2814 4382.4
Payment of long-term debt . ... ... ... ... . ... .. ... (276.7)  (240.0) (631.5)
Payment of senior debtissuance costs . . . .. ..., ... . oo, (19.5) — (2.2)
Net proceeds from the termination of interest rate swap agreements. . . ... ... 0.7 27 —
Net proceeds from the termination of treasury lock agreements .. .......... 13.9 — —
Net payments of short-term borrowings . . .......... ... ............ (373) (77.1) (163.8)
Repurchases of preferred stock . . ... ... ... . ... ... ... . ..., 36.7) (28.8)  (18.8)
Redemption of preferred stock . ......... ... ... ... . (1,298.1) — —
Dividends paid on preferred stock .. ........ ... ... .. ... .. ... ... (419)  (40.5)  (69.2)
Proceeds from stock option exercises ... ........... ... ..., 4.7 0.8 0.5
Net cash used in financing activities . .. ............. ... ........ (108.9) (101.5) (402.6)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . . . ............ 0.8 (12.5) 4.4
Cash and cash equivalents:
Net change during the period ... ..... ... ... . ... . ... ... o ... 238.2 113.0 2.6
Balance, beginning of period . . .. ... ... .. . 126.8 13.8 11.2
Balance,end of period .. .. .. ... ... ... $ 3650 $1268 $ 138

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(In millions of dollars)

2003

2002 2001

Net earnings (I088) . . . . ..o oo iinnnn. e $2404
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Minimum pension liability, net of income tax expense (benefit) of $0.5,
$0.1 and $(0.5) in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively .............. 0.6
Unrecognized gain (loss) on derivative instruments, net of income tax
expense (benefit) of $5.3, $0.1 and $(0.1), in 2003, 2002 and 2001,

$(309.1) $156.7
— (07

01 (0.1)
(145) (19.9)

TESPECHVELY . . . ot e 8.0
Foreign currency translation adjustments .. ...................... 75.2
Comprehensive income (10sS) .. ... ..o co. 83242

$(323.5) $136.0

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 1 General

Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”), operating through its subsidiaries, manufactures and sells a
wide range of food, protective and specialty packaging products.

The Company conducts substantially all of its business through two direct wholly-owned subsidiaries,
Cryovac, Inc. and Sealed Air Corporation (US). These two subsidiaries directly and indirectly own
substantially all of the assets of the business and conduct operations themselves and through
subsidiaries around the globe. The Company adopted this corporate structure in connection with the
Cryovac transaction. See Note 18 for a description of the Cryovac transaction and related terms used in
these notes. ’

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. The
Company has eliminated all significant intercompany transactions and balances in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates-and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenue and expenses during the period
reported. These éstimates include assessing the collectibility of accounts receivable, the use and
recoverability of inventory, the realization of déferred tax assets, useful lives and recoverability of
tangible and intangible assets and accruals for commitments and contingencies, among others. The
Company reviews estimates and assumptions periodically and reflects the effects of revisions in the
consolidated financial statements in the period it determines any revisions to be necessary. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue earning activities primarily involve manufacturing and selling goods, and the -
Company considers revenues to be earned when the Company has completed the process by which it is
entitled to receive revenue. The following criteria are used for revenue recognition: persuasive evidence
that an arrangement exists, shlpment has occurred, selling price is fixed or determinable, and collection
is reasonably assured.

Cash and Cash Equiva‘leli-ts

The Company considers: investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. The Company’s policy is to invest-cash in excess of short-term operating and debt service
requirements in cash equivalents. These instruments are stated at cost, which apprommates market
value because of the short maturity of the instruments. :
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains accounts receivable allowances for estimated losses resulting from the inability
of its customers to make required payments. Additional allowances may be required if the financial
condition of the Company’s customers deteriorates.

Commitments and Contingencies — Litigation

On an ongoing basis, the Company assesses the potential liabilities related to any lawsuits or claims
brought against the Company. While it is typically very difficult to determine the timing and ultimate
outcome of these actions, the Company uses its best judgment to determine if it is probable that it will
incur an expense related to the settlement or final adjudication of these matters and whether a
reasonable estimation of the probable loss, if any, can be made. In assessing probable losses, the
Company makes estimates of the amount of insurance recoveries, if any. The Company accrues a
liability when it believes a loss is probable and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Due to
the inherent uncertainties related to the eventual outcome of litigation and potential insurance
recovery, it is possible that disputed matters may be resolved for amounts materially different from any
provisions or disclosures that the Company has previously made.

Self-Insurance

The Company retains the obligation for specified claims and losses related to property, casualty,
workers’ compensation and employee benefit claims. The Company accrues for outstanding reported
claims, claims that have been incurred but not reported and projected claims based upon management’s
estimates of the aggregate liability for uninsured claims using historical experience, insurance company
estimates and the estimated trends in claim values. Although management believes it has the ability to
adequately project and record estimated claim payments, it is possible that actual results could differ
significantly from the recorded liabilities.

Pensions

Although the Company maintains a non-contributory profit sharing and contributory thrift and
retirement savings plans in which most U.S. employees of the Company are eligible to participate, the
Company also maintains defined benefit pension plans for a limited number of its U.S. and for many of
its non-U.S. employees. The Company accounts for these pension plans in accordance with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.” Under
these accounting standards, the Company makes assumptions regarding the valuation of benefit
obligations and performance of plan assets. The principal assumptions concern the discount rate used
to measure future obligations, the expected future rate of return on plan assets, the expected rate of
future compensation increases and various other actuarial assumptions. Changes to these assumptions
could have a significant impact on costs and liabilities recorded under SFAS No. 87.

Financial Instruments

The Company has limited involvement with derivative financial instruments. The Company may use
CTOSS currency swaps, interest rate swaps, caps and collars, U.S. Treasury lock agreements and foreign
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

exchange forward contracts and options relating to the Company’s borrowing and trade activities. The
Company may use these financial instruments from time to time to manage its exposure to fluctuations
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The Company does not purchase, hold or sell derivative
financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The Company faces credit risk if the
counterparties to these transactions are unable to perform their obligations. However, the Company
seeks to minimize this risk by entering into transactions with counterparties that are major financial
institutions with high credit ratings.

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company accounts for derivative transitions in accordance with SFAS
No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended by SFAS No. 137
and SFAS No. 138, referred to collectively as SFAS No. 133, which requires that the Company report
all derivative instruments on its balance sheet at fair value and establish criteria for .designation and - ..
effectiveness of transactions entered into for hedging purposes. Prior to entering into any derivative
transaction, the Company identifies the specific financial risk it faces, the appropriate hedging
instrument to use to reduce the risk and the correlation between the financial risk and: the hedging -
instrument. The Company uses purchase orders and historical data as the basis for determining the
anticipated values of the transactions to be hedged. The Company does not enter into derivative
transactions that do not have a high correlation with the underlying financial risk. The Company
regularly reviews 1ts hedge positions and the correlatlon between the transaction risks and the hedgmg
instruments.

The Company accounts for derivative instruments as hedges of the related underlying risks if the
Company designates these derivative instruments as hedges and the derivative instruments are effective
as hedges of recognized assets or liabilities, forecasted transactlons, unrecogmzed firm commxtments or
forecasted intercompany transactions.

The Company records gains and losses on derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges in other
comprehensive income (loss), to the extent that hedges are effective and until the underlying - *"-.
transactions are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations, at which time the Company
recogmzes the gains and losses in the consolidated statement of operations. The Company recognizes
gains and losses on qualifying fair value hedges and the related loss or gain on the hedged item
attnbutable to the hedged risk i m ‘the consolidated statement of operatlons

The Company’s practice is to terminate derivative transactions if the underlying asset or hablhty
matures or is sold or terminated, or if the Company determmes the underlymg forecasted transaction is
no longer probable of occurring. T .

Accounts Recewable Secunnzatmn

The Company’s two primary U.S. operating subsidiaries are party to an- accounts recelvable
securitization program under which they can sell eligible U.S. accounts receivable to an indirectly
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company that was formed for the sole purpose of entering into this
program. The wholly-owned subsidiary in turn sells an undivided ownership interest in these receivables
to a bank or an issuer of commercial paper.administered by that bank. The wholly-owned subsidiary
retains the receivables'it purchases from the two. operating subsidiaries, except those as to which it sells
interests to the bank or to the‘issuer of commercial paper. The Company removes the transferred:-:
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SEALED ATIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to-Consolidated Financial Statements..(Continued)
(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

undivided ownership interest amounts from its consolidated balance sheets at that time and: reflects the
proceeds from the sale in cash provided by operating activities in the consolidated statement of .cash -
flows. The Company reflects rétained receivables in notes and accounts receivable on its consolidated
balance sheets, and the carrying amounts thereof approximate fair yvalue because of. the relatively
short-term nature of the receivables. The Company reflects costs associated with the sale of receivables.-
in other income (expense), net, in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

Inventones -

The Company determmes the cost of most-U.S. inventories on a last-in, first-out or LIFO cost ﬂow
basis.Fhe-cost of U.S. equipment inventories and most non-U.S. inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out or FIFO cost flow basrs The Company states inventories at the lower of cost or
‘market. e :

Property andvKuipment
-The Company states property and equipment at cost, except for property and equipment that have
been impaired, for which the Company reduces the carrying amount to the estimated fair value at the
1mpa1rment date. The Company caprtahzes significant improvemments; the Company charges repairs and
maintenance costs that do not extend the lives of the assets to expense as incurred. The Company =~

removes the cost and accumulated depreciation of assets sold or otherwise disposed of from the
accounts and recogmzes any resultmg gain or.loss upon the dlsposmon of the assets

~~~~~

straight- -line basis as follows: buildings — 20 to 40° years, machinery and other property and
equipment — 3 to 20 years

Goodwill and Identlﬁable Intangible Assets

Goodwﬂl represents the excess of the purchase price of net tangible and identifiable mtangrble assets'
acquired in business combmatlons over their estimated fair value. The Company reflects 1dent1ﬁable '
intangible assets in other assets at cost. These assets consist primarily of “patents, licenses, trademarks -
and non-compete agreements, The Company amortizes them over the shorter of their legal lives'or
their estimated useful lives:on a straight-line basis, generally ranging from 3 to 20 years. Identifiable -
intangibles; other.than goodwill, individually and in the aggregate, comprise less than 5% of the. .«
Company’s consolidated assets and therefore are immaterial to the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets,

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board or the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business
Combinations” and SFAS No..142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires -
that companies use the purchase method of accounting for all business combinations:initiated after
June 30, 2001 -as well as all purchase method business combinations completed after June 30, 2001, .
SFAS No. 142 requires that companies no longer amortize goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives, but instead test for impairment on a reporting unit basis at least annually in accordance. .:;
with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. A company may initiate:a review. of goodwill prior to conducting
the annual analysis if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Ambountsin tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share.data)

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) -

may be impaired. A reporting unit is the operating segment unless, at businesses one level below that . -
operating segment — the “component” level — discrete financial information is prepared and regularly
rewewed by management and the component has e¢onomic characteristics that are different from the
economnc ‘characteristics of the other’ components of the operating segment, in which case the
component is the reporting unit. A company must use a fair value approach to test goodwill for
impairment. A compary must recognize an impairment charge for the amount, if any, by which the
carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair value. The Company derives an estimate of fair values for -
the Company as a whole and for each of the Company’s reporting units using various methods, such’ as
discounted cash flows, equity market capitalization and comparative market multiples. The Company
performs this annual test for impairment during the fourth quarter of each year. This standard also
requires that the Company amortize intangible assets with definite useful lives over their respective
estimated useful lives to their estimated residual values and review these for impairment in accordance
with SFAS No: 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”

The Company ‘ad'opted the provisions of SFAS No. 141 upon issuance and adopted SFAS No. 142
effective Jariary 1, 2002. The Company did not amortize any goodwill:or any intangible assets :: -
determined to have an-indefinite ‘useful life that were acquired ina purchase business combination
completed after:June 30, 2001, but evaluated these for impairment. The Company amortized goodwill
and intangible assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001 through the end
of 2001.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically reviews long-lived assets, other than goodwill, for impairment whenever. _ .-
events.or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be. o
recoverable. The Company. recognizes impairments when the expected future undiscounted cash flows
derived: from long-lived assets are less than their carrying value. For these cases, the Company. -
recognizes losses in-an amount equal to the difference between the fair value and the carrying amount.
The Company records assets to.be. disposed of by sale or abandonment, where management has the.: -
current-ability to,remove these assets from operations, at the lower of carrying amount or fair value - .:
less cost:of disposition: The Company-suspends.depreciation for thése assets during the disposal period,
which is generally less than one year. Assumptions and estimates used in the determination-of: .
impairment losses, such as future cash flows and disposition costs, may affect the carrying value of
long-lived 'assets and possible impairment expense in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. .

Stock—Based Compensatlon

The Cornpany follows the dlsclosure provxsxons of SFAS ‘No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based R
Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No.:148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-— - x
Transmon and Disclosure.” As permitted by SFAS No. 123, the Company continues to follow the . ,
ment prowsnons of Accountmg Prmcxples Board Oplmon or APB No. 25 “Accountmg for Stock

s

Issued fo Employees

FArA SIS

[N SR S . o e . . oL L, : .
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Amounts in tables in miilions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Contingent Stock Plan

The Company’s primary stock-based employee compensation program is a contingent stock plan. See
Note 15 for further information on this plan. The Company has adopted only the disclosure provisions
of SFAS No. 123 but applies APB No. 25 and related interpretations in accountmg for the contingent
stock plan. Since the compensation cost under this plan is consistent with the compensation cost that
the Company would have recognized for such plan under the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the pro
forma dlsclosure requirements under SFAS No. 123 are not applicable for this plan.

Terminated Stock Option Plans

The Company terminated stock option plans in which specified employees of the Cryovac packaging .
business participated prior to March 31, 1998 as of that date in connection with the Cryovac transaction
(see Note 18), except with respect to options that remained outstanding as of that date. All of these
options had been granted at an exercise price equal to their fair market value on the date of grant.

The Company has adopted only the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, but applies APB No. 25
and related interpretations in accounting for these stock options. All options outstanding upon the
termination of the stock option plans in 1998 had fully vested prior to December:31, 2000; therefore,
there is no pro forma effect on earnings and earnings per common share as a result of applying SFAS
No. 123 for years subsequent to 2000.

Foreign Currency Translation

In non- -U.S. locations that are not considered highly inflationary, the Company translates the balance
sheets at the end of period exchange rates with translation adjustments accumulated in shareholders”
equity. The Company translates statements of operations at the average exchange rates during the
applicable period. The Company translates assets and liabilities of its operations in countries with -
highly inflationary economies at the end of period exchange rates, except that it translates certain -
financial statement amounts at historical exchange rates. The Company translates items reflected in
statements. of operations of its operations in countries with highly inflationary economies at average -
rates'of exchange prevailing during the period, except that it translates specxfied ﬁnancnal statement
amounts at hlstorlcal exchange rates." Lo RV

Income Taxes

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries file a consolidated U. S federal i income tax return. The
Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries file income tax returns in their respective local jurisdictions. The
Company provides for income taxes on those portions of its foreign subsidiaries’ accumulated earnings
that it believes are not reinvested mdefimtely in their businesses. ' :

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and habxhty method The Company recogmzes
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between‘
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases”
and tax benefit carryforwards. The Company determines deferred tax liabilities and assets at the end of
each period using enacted tax rates. ' '
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Company believes that its taxable earnings during the periods when the temporary differences
giving rise to deferred tax assets become deductible or when tax benefit carryforwards may be utilized
should be sufficient:to realize the related future income tax benefits. For those jurisdictions where the
expiration date of tax benefit carryforwards or the pro;ected taxable earmngs indicate that realization is
not hkely, a valuation allowance is. prowded

In assessing the need for a ‘'valuation allowance, the ‘Company estimates future taxable earnmgs ‘with
consideration for the feasibility of ongoing tax plannmg strategies and the realizability of tax beneﬁt
carryforwards, to determine which deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized in the
future. Changes to tax laws, changes to statutory tax rates and future taxable earnings can affect
valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets. In the event that actual results differ from these
estimates in future periods, the Company .may need to adjust the valuation allowance, which could::
materlally affect the Company’s consohdated ﬁnancxal statements,

Research and Development

The Company expenses research and development costs as incurred. Research and development costs )
were $69 0 mdhon $59. 3 mlllxon and $55. 8 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. -

Earnings (Loss) per Common Share

The Company calculates basic earnings (loss) per common share by dividing net earnings (loss)
ascribed to common shareholders by the weighted average common shares outstanding for the period.
Net earnings (loss) ascribed to common shareholders represents net earnings (loss) adjusted for gains
(losses) attributable to the repurchase or redemption of preferred stock for an amount below or above -
its book value, less preferred stock dividends. The computation of diluted earnings (loss) per common
share is similar, except that the welghted average common shares outstanding for the period are
adjusted to reflect the potential issuance of dilutive shares, and the related change in net earnings
(loss) ascribed to common shareholders that would occur is factored into the calculation.

Environmental Ex_penditures

The Company expenses or capitalizes environmental expenditures that relate to ongoing business
activities, as appropriate. The Company expenses expenditures that relate to an existing condition
caused by past operations and which do not contribute to current or future net sales. The Company
records liabilities when it determines that environmental assessments or remediation expenditures are
probable and that 1t can reasonably estimate the cost or a range of costs associated therewith.

Note 3 Business Segment Information’

The Company operates in two reportable business segments: (i) Food Packaging and (ii) Protective and
Specialty Packaging. The Food Packaging segment comprises primarily the Company’s Cryovac® food
packaging products. The Protective and Specialty Packaging segment includes the aggregation of the -
Company’s protective packaging products, engineered products and shrink packaging products all of
which products are used principally for non-food packaging apphcatlons
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Note 3 Business Segment Information (Continued)

The Food Packaging segment consists primarily ‘of flexible materials and related systems such as shrink
bag and film products, laminated films, and packaging systems marketed primarily under the Cryovac®
trademark for packaging a broad range of perishable.foods. Also included in this segment are rigid
packaging and absorbent pads such as foam-and solid plastic. trays and containers for-the packaging of
a wide variety of food products and absorbent pads used for the packaging of meat, fish and poultry. -
Net sales of flexible materials and related systems were: 2003 — $1,835.1 million; 2002 — $1,657.2
mrlhon, and 2001 — $1,592.1 million. Net sales of ngrd packaging and absorbent pads were: 2003 —
$350.6 miillion; 2002 — $300.9 million; and 2001 — $288.2 million. The Compary primarily sells
products i in this segment to food processors, drstnbutors and food service busmesses

The Protectrve and Specialty Packaging segment consists: prrmarrly of cushronmg and suxface protectron
products such as Bubble Wrap® cushioning and other air cellular cushioning materials; shrink and
non-shrink films principally for non-food applications; polyurethane foam packaging systems sold under
the Instapak® trademark; polyethylene foam sheets and planks; Jiffy® mailers and bags and other
protective and durable mailers and bags; paper-based protective packaging materials; suspension and
retention packaging; inflatable packaging; and packaging systems Net sales of cushromng and surface
protection products were: 2003 — $1, 2983 million; 2002 — $1 201.4 miflion; and 2001 — $1, 153.1
million. Net sales of other products for 2003, 2002 and 2001 wére approximately 1% of consolidated

net sales. The Company primarily sells products in this segment to distributors and manufacturers ina
wide variety of mdustnes

ke
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Note 3 Business Segment Information (Continued)

2003 2002 2001

Net sales )
Food Packaging . .............ooitiriniin ey, $2,1857 $1,9581 $1,880.3
Protective and Specialty Packaging .............. ... ... .. oL 1,346.2 1,2462 1,187.2
Total ........... B e .. 835319 $32043  $3,0675

Operating profit : - BN
Food Packaging . ...... Y $ 3616 § 3253 § 2877
Protective and Specialty Packaging . ... .................... e 209.5 2194 211.0
Total segments . . ... .. P 571.1 5447 4987
Restructuring and other credits (charges)(1) . ... ........ ... .. ... ... 05 1.3 (32.8)
Unallocated corporate operating expenses (including goodwill amortization of I

85700 2001)(2) . . v e e (324) (29.6) (78.5)
TOtal ..o e ... $5392 § 5164 $ 3874

Depreciation and amortization(3)

. Food Packaging . ................ e $ 1105 $ 1059 $ 1053
Protective and Specialty Packaging . ... ..........oueuiiuinnen... 62.7 59.1 574
Total segments . . . ... ... e ) 1732 165.0 162.7
Corporate (mcludmg goodwnll amomzatxon in 2001) T — - 579
Total ©.L...LL Cveeeee i o, $717320°8 1650 § 2206

Capital expenditures(3) ‘ o R T
Food Packaging . .:24% .. .. . Sty iy sl e 8 862 8 618 -.$:1103.8
Protective and Specialty Packagmg ............................... 381 29.8 42.5
TOtAl .o v et e LU e§01243 80 916 771463

ASSEtS(3) : R B R - ' . Ler
Food Packaging . . . oo v v v v i e e ie e e e e e $1,750._9U :$1,476.2  $1,284.1
Protective and Specialty Packaging . ........... T I 957.0 - 8411 7042
Totalscgments...........,................................;. 2,707.9 23173 .1,9883
Corporate (including goodwill. of $1,939.5, $1,926.2 and $1,913.0 in 2003, 2002 _ : e

and 2001, respectively) . . . ... ... S 19962 19435 1919.6
TOtal ..o e $4,704.1- $4,260.8 - $3,907.9
(1) In 2003, includes a credit of $0.3 for Food Packaging and a credit of $0.2 for Protective and Specialty

Packaging. In 2002, includes a credit of $3.0 for Food Packaging and a charge of $1.6 for Protective and
Specialty Packaging. In 2001 includes a $21.1 charge related to the Food Packaging segment (including a net
non-cash charge of $1.4) and a $11.7 charge related to the Protective and Specialty Packaging segment
(including a net non-cash charge of $5.9).

(2) Unallocated corporate expenses in 2001 consisted primarily of goodwill amortization and global information
technology costs. Unallocated corporate expenses in 2003 and 2002 consisted primarily of global information
technology costs.

S HoT

(3) The Company uses plant, equipment and other resources of the Food Packaging segment to manufacture films
sold by the Protective and Specialty Packaging segment for non-food applications. The Company allocates a
proportionate share of capital expenditures, assets, depreciation and other costs of manufacturing to the
Protective and Specialty Packaging segment.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes.to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Amounts:in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 3 Business Segment Information (Continued)

Geographic Information

2003 2002 2001
Net sales:(1) - .
JUnited States. . .. ..o e $1,8448 §1,7588 $1,680.2
cCanmada. .. - 1137 100.8 93.5
CBurope L. e 968.8 819.5 “775.7
Latin AmMerica . .. ...ttt i i s 2281 217.0 225.6
AsiaPacific ............ ... .. ... .. e Tl R 376.5 3082 . 2925
Total ............ FE e e i SN $35319° $32043 83,0675
Tbtal long-lived assets: (1) . o
United States(2) . . ... o voveveennnn.. et i $2,592.5 $2,589.1 - $2,606.7
Canada . ... ... e e 304 . 273 270
| 2311 7¢) SN P e 3713 3289 3092
Latift AMECA .« & & v v v o e e et e e e - 46.2 43.8 63.4
AsiaPacific.............. ... ... . e . . 1509 1311 +-119.6
Total ......... e S oo, $3,1913 0 $3,1202 83,1259

(f) Net sales attributed to the geographic areas represent. trade sales to external cxi_stomers. No-. ..
"~ non-U.S. country has net sales in excess of 10% of consolidated net sales or long-lived assets in
- excess of 10% of consolidated long-lived assets.

(2) Includes goodwill,.net, of $1,939.5, $1,926.2 and $1,913.0 in 2003, 2002 and 2001

Goodw:ll by Reportable Business Segment

In accordance with SFAS No. 131 “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information,” and because the Company’s management views goodwill as a corporate asset, the
:Company has allocated all of its goodwill to the corporate level rather than to the individual segments.
‘However, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” the Company has
allocated goodwill to each reportable segment in order to perform its annual impairment review of
goodwxll which it does during the fourth quarter of each year. See Note 19 for a discussion of the:
anfiual goodwill impairment review. :
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Notes to.Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 3 Business Segment Information (Continued)

The allocation of goodwill in accordance with SFAS No. 142 for the years ended December 31, 2003
and 2002 was as follows: _

Goodwill

Balance at  Acquired Balance
Beginning During Foreign Currency .at End of
o of Period the Year Translation . Period
Year Ended December 31, 2003 ,
Food Packaging . ..........ccocuiuvnnnnenn.. $ 5353  $— $119 . § 5472
Protective and Specialty Packaging. ........ ... 13909 05 09 1,392.3
Total ................... P e $1,926.2  $0.5 - $12.8 $1,939.5
Year Ended December 31, 2002 '_ SRR o
Food Packaging ... ......... ... ..., $ 5289 §$— $ 6.4 $ 5353
Protective and Specialty Packaging.............. 13841 73 05) 13909
TOtal et $1,913.0  $73 $59 819262

Note 4 Accounts Recewable Secuntlzatmn

In December 2001,-the- Company and.a group of its U.S. subsrdianes ‘entered into an accounts
receivable securltizatlon program with a bank and an issuer of commercial paper admmrstered by:the -
bank. : , S

Under this receivables facility, the Company’s two primary operating subsidiaries, Cryovac, Inc. and
Sealed Air Corporation (US), sell :all of their eligible U.S. accounts receivable to Sealed Air Funding
Corporation, an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the. Company that was formed for the sole -
purpose of entering into the receivables facility. Sealed Air Funding in turn may sell undivided
ownership interests in these receivables to the bank and the issuer of commercial paper, subject to
specified conditions, up to a maxrmum of $125.0 million of recervables 1nterests outstanding from time
to time. . ‘ .

Sealed All’ Fundmg retains the recervables it purchases from the operatmg subsidiaries, except those. as,
to which it sells recéivables-interests to the bank or the issuer of commercial paper. The Company has
structured the sales of accounts receivable by the operating subsidiaries to Sealed Air Funding, and the
sales. of receivables interests from Sealed Air Funding to the bank and the issuer of commercial paper,.
as “true sales” under applicable laws. The ‘assets of Sealed ‘Air Funding are not available to pay:any
creditors of the Company or of its subsidiaries or affiliates. The Company accounts for these
transactions as sales of receivables under the provisions of SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for ’Iransfers
and Semcmg of Fmancml Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities.”

To secure the perforimance of their obligations under the receivables facility, Sealed Air Funding and"
the operating subsidiaries granted a first priority security interest to the bank, as agent, in accounts

.....

,,,,,,,,

pay amounts due on the _receivables when they become due. As longva‘s a termination event with
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial -Statements (Continued)
(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share:and per share data)

Note 4 Accounts Receivable Securitization (Continued)-

respect to. the receivables facility has not occurred, the operating subsidiaries service, administer and
collect the receivables under the receivables facility as agents on behalf of Sealed Air Funding, the
bank and the issuer of commercial paper. Prior to a termination event under the receivables facility,
Sealed Air Funding uses collections of receivables not otherwise required to be paid to the bank or the
issuer of commercial paper to purchase new eligible receivables from the operating subsidiaries. The
Company has undertaken to cause the operating subsidiaries to perform their obhganons under the
receivables facility.

The. scheduled expiration date for the receivables facility is December 7, 2004. The parties amended
the recewables facility on April 2, 2003 to provide that Sealed Air Funding could sell rec¢ivables
interests aggregating up to $60.0 million, originated only by Sealed Air Corporation (US), to the bank
or the issuer of commercial paper until a definitive asbestos settlement agreement, satisfactory. to the.
bank, had been entered into. The receivables facility again became available for the sale of receivables
mterests originated by Cryovac, Inc. as well as Sealed Air Corporation (US), up to the orxgmal .
maximum of $125.0 million of receivables mterests provided for by the receivables famhty, on
January 26, 2004.

Vi

The parties also amended the receivables facility on April 2, 2003 to exclude the charge for the |
asbestos litigation settlement reflected in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations for the
year ended December 31, 2002 from the calculation of the interest coverage and leverage ratios -
provided for in the receivables facility. The Company must comply with these interest coverage and . .
leverage ratio covenants contained in the receivables facility in order to use the facility. The Company.
was m comphance with these ratios at December 31, 2003

Under limited circumstances, the bank and the issuer of commercxal paper-can terminate purchases of

receivables interests prior to the above dates. A downgrade -of the Company’s long-term-senior . . .
unsecured debt to BB- or below by Standard & Poor’s Rating.Services or.Ba3 or below:by- Moody’s .. -.
Investors Service, Inc., or failure to comply with interest coverage and debt leverage ratios could result
in.termination of the receivables facility. In connection with: recording the accounting charge in the--_.
fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos settlement and related costs, the Company requested and: .

received a waiver of compliance with the interest coverage and leverage ratios provided for.in the
receivables facility. After reﬂectmg this waiver, the Company was ‘in comphance w1th the reqmrem
of the reeexvables facﬂlty as of December 31, 2002 '

The operatmg subsidiaries.did not sell any recexvables mterests under the recelvables facxhty dunng P
2003, and. therefore the Company. did not remove any related amounts from the,,c,onsohdated, assets
reﬂected on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003. - - . DS

Dunng 2002, Sealed Air Funding sold recelvab]es mterests to the 1ssuer of commercxal paper from time
to time; however, as of December 31, 2002, neither the bank nor the issuer of commercial paper held

any:receivables interests and no related amounts.were.removed from the consohdated balance sheet at
December 31, 2002. , o ' . ST

The ‘receivables facility prov1des for the monthly payment of program fees Wthh currently are 0. 375%
per annum (0.45% per annum at December 31, 2003) on the receivables mterests sold by Sealed A.ll‘ o

Fundmg and commitmient fees which currently are 0.375% per annum (0.40% per annum at o -
December 31, 2003) on the tnused portion of the $125.0 million receivables facility.’ ST
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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Note 4 Accounts Receivable Securitization (Continued)

The costs associated with the receivables facility are reflected in other income (expense), net, in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001. These costs primarily relate to the loss on the sale of the receivables interests to the bank or. the
issuer of commercial paper, which were approximately zero for 2003;:$0.4 million for 2002 and

$0.1 million for 2001, and program and commitment fees and other associated costs, which were
approximately $0.6 million, $0. 4 million and $0.3 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001 respectlvely

Note § Acqmsltxons

Dunng the three-year period from 2001 to 2003 the Company made several acquisitions. The Company
"acquired these businesses for cash in the aggregate amount of $2.5 m11110n '$10.5 million and

$36.0 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and accounted for the acquisitions under the '
purchase method of accounting. These acquisitions resulted in goodwill of $0.5 million in 2003,

$7.3 million in 2002 and $16.7 million in 2001. Ini each year, cash used for acquisitions was net of cash
acquired in those acquisitions. Cash acquired in acqulsmons was not material in 2003, 2002 or 2001.
The Company did not assume any debt in acquisitions in 2003 and 2002. In 2001, the Company
assumed approximately $19.0 million of debt in acquisitions. These acquisitions were not material to
the Company’s.consolidated financial statements.

Note 6 Inventories

. December 3:1, ]

. | - 200 2002
Inventories (at FIFO, which approximates current cost): fu
Raw materials. .. ..... e [ e e wweere.. $881..8 769

‘Work in process . ...... e e e et e Ce e [ R 821 713
~ Finished goods ................ 223.6 1984
o ' v 3938 346.6
Reduction of certain inventories to LIFO basis .............. ... .. .. . ... (226) (17.2)

Total ...... A S e P $371.2  $329.4

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company determined the value of U.S. inventories by the last m,
first-out or LIFO inventory method. The value of U.S. inventories determined by that method
amounted to $137.3 million and $131.4 million, respectively. If the Company had.used first-in, first-out
or FIFO inventory method, which approximates replacement value, for these inventories, they would
have been $22.6 million and $17.2 million higher at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
(Amounts’'in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 7 Property and Equipment

' December 31,
- 2003 2002
Land and nnpr(')vern'ent's'... e e $ 319 § 274
Buildings ........... R R T EEREEE 485.5 449.9
Machinery and equlpment e e e e - 1,823.6 1, 616.0
Other property and €QUIPIENt . .. . ..ot tvteu e e eee s 131.7 1196
Construction-iN-PIOGIESS « o v v v vttt ittt a e it 93.5 79.6
‘ o 2,566.2 22925
Accuimulated deprec1at10n and amortization . . .. Ceeeee o (1,523, 8)’ *(1,279.5)
Property and equlpment net ... z,;-..‘»; e e, $1,0424 $10130
Interest cost capxtahzed dunng 2003, 20()2 and 2001 was $4. 3 million, $8. 1 mxlhon and $6.8 mdhon
respectlvely
Note 8 Other Liabilities o
- December 31,
2003 2002
Other current liabilities: . -
Accrued salaries, wages and related costs . ........ ... ... . $ 1320 $ 1275
Accrued operatmg EXPEIISES « o o v v et v e e e e 96.2 90.5
Income taxes payable . . ... oottt s 82.2 85.8
Accrued customer volume rebates . ... ... .. R I e 734 . - 660
Accrued dividends and interest............ N PN 75.2 372
Accrued restructuring costs (Note 10) . ........ e e e ~ 08 . 66
Total. ... e U § 4598 § 4136
f " December 31,
. 2003 -.2002
Other liabilities: o _
Other postretirement benefits. . ..... 00 Lo PPV e 8 22080 25
Non-U.S. statutory ‘social security- and pension obhgatxons S o 523 371
Other vanous'liabilities ..... e EEERREERE S N 40.9 294
Total ..l P $° 954 § 690

Non-U.S. statutory social security and pension obligations primarily represent the present value of the
Company’s unfunded future obligations for specified eligible, active non-U.S. employees based on
actuarial calculations.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemeints: (Continued)

(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and- per share data)

Note 9 Income Taxes

The components of earnings (loss) before income taxes were -as follows: -

2003 - 2002 2001
Domestic . . . . . e A e $1732 $(561.4) $213.7
FOTEIZN . .o v ettt e et e et e e e e e e 2037 1695 = 838
Total. . "% eoveienn. e PR D i .. $3769 $(391.9)° $297.5

Ti)e components of the provision (benefit) for income taxes were as follows:

2003. . . 52002 2001

Current tax expense: ' TR - f’;,' o
Federal . ................. T e $ 7558 903 $ 82.1
State and focal ... 15. 0 __19:2‘ 17.9

' Foreign ............... e P 694 "649° 499
Total current . .............. e 159.9° © 1744 1499
Deferred tax (benefit) expense:
Federal . . . . vvvveee e wolETel T o 0 (27 (2380) 24
Stateand local ........ ... . . 27 (229) 04
Foreign. . ... .. i e ' (8.0) 3.7 (11.6)
Total'deferred .. .......... AT O PP o (234) (2572) - (9.)
Total prov1sron (beneft) e e 1 $1365 '$(82.8) $140.8

Deferr‘ednta_x assets (llabllltte_s_) _ooriéist of the ‘fol‘lowingi’ '

December 31,
- 2003 2002
ASDESLOS SEtIEMENt . . ..t vttt e $2734 $261.9
Accruals not yet deductible for tax purposes. .. ............ ... ..., 16.4 . 17.8
Foreign net operating loss carryforwards and investment tax allowances . . . 209 @ 177
InVentories . . .ottt i e e e e 143 141»
Other............ PR e PO e R e 99 6]1‘ .
Gross deferred tax assets . .. .......... ... ... ... i " 3349 3176
Valuation allowance. ......... e EEREEEEE _(209) (175
Total deferred tax assets ........... e L3140 3001 .
Depreciation and amortization ............................ e (103.7) (108.7) -
Unremitted foreign earnmgs e et (44.0) (44.0)
Intangibles . ..... ... 1L .. L el (279) (28.0)
Other.......... P T Ceens e (36.5)  (28.8)"
Tbtal déferred tax habrhtres e e LT 2121)7 (209.5)
Net deferred tax assets. (llabrlmes). T G ... e cee... $101, 9. .$ .90:6

Based upon antlcxpated future results the Company has concluded that it is more hkely than not that 1t
will.realize the $314.0 million balance of deferred tax assets at December 31, 2003, net of the valuatlon
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Note 9 Income Taxes (Continued)

allowance-of $20.9 million. The valuation allowance is related to the uncertainty of utilizing

$39.5 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards, or $11.5 million on a tax-effected basis, and
$33.6 million .of forergn investment tax allowances, or $9.4 million on a tax-effected basis, that have no
exprratron perrod

The U S.. federal statutory corporate tax rate reconciles to the Company’s effective tax rate as follows

. , » . Lo e e
Statutory U.S. federal taxrate ............ FR 350% (35.0)% 35.0%
State income: taxes, net of federal tax benefit. . ...................... 21 (0.6) 4.0
Income (benefits) taxes on forelgn CAMMINES - v v v et e iie e iaa s 2.2) .16 16
Goodwill. amortization . :.............. ... ... e e — L 6.2
Asbestos settlement e e e e e — 150 -
Non deductrble expenses .............................. . . _1:’,_ 14 . a0.5

Effectrve tax rate ... ... .. P e e 36.2%

(21 )% 47.3%

Note 10: Restructurmg Costs and Other Charges
_.2001 Restructunng Program

Durmg 2001, based primarily on weakening economic condrtlons especrally in the U.S., the Company
condr{rcted a review of its business to reduce costs and expenses, simplify business processes and
organizational structure and refine further the Company’s manufacturing operations and product
offerings. As a result of this review, which the Company completed in the fourth ‘quarter of 2001, the .
Company announced and began implementing a testructuring program that resulted in charges’ to
operations of $32.8 million for 2001. These charges consisted of the following: :

Year Ended
‘ December 31, 2001 .-,
Employee termination costs . .. ........ . ......... . 00 i oo _$23 9" '“
Facility ‘exit costs . . . . . O T e 16‘;' o
Long-lived asset impairments . . . . . . L. e e U T3
Total....... RSN P, S P $32.8

The portion of this restructurmg charge related to the Company’s food packaging segment was
$21.1 milliof, and the portron related to the protective and specialty packagmg segment was
$11.7 million. ; :

The Company ongrnally expected to incur $25.5 million of cash outlays to carry out this restructurmg
program. These cash outlays primarily consisted of severance and other personnel-related costs as well
as lease and other contractual arrangement termination costs. As of December 31,.2003, the Company
had made- total cash payments of approximately $22.9 million ($5.3 mrllron m 2003, $11.8 million in
2002 and $5.8 million in 2001). In 2003 and 2002, the Company adjusted the 2001 cash- restructuring”
accrual for net credits of $0.5 million and $1.3 million respectively, as discussed below. After these cash
butlays and the net credits, the restructurrng accriial at December 31, 2003 was' $0.8 million, B
répresenting cash outlays expected to be made ini 2004 ‘and’ future years, primarily for severance- related
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Note 10 Restructuring Costs and Other Charges (Continued)

costs. The long-lived asset impairment of $7.3 million consisted of the followmg write-downs .and ST
write-offs: : : A

Year Ended
December 31, 2001
Property, plant and equipment . .. ... ... .. i e $39 ...
Goodwill. . ... e 33
Other long-lived assets. ... ... ..ottt i e e e 01
Total. . .o e e e et e el 7.3

These long-lived -asset impairments related to decisions to rationalize and realign production of some of
the Company’s small product lines and to close several manufacturing and warehouse facilities in North
America, Europe, South Africa and the Asia Pacific region. The annual reduction of depreciation and
amortization expense as a result of these asset impairments was $0.4 million. The Company has
disposed of all of the above property, plant and equipment.

During 2003 and 2002, the Company made adjustments to the original 2001 restructuring provision,
resuiting in a net credit to the consolidated statement of operations of $0.5 million and $1.3 million,
respectively. These adjustments resulted from the completion of actions for amounts different than
expected, headcount reductions obtained through attrition, and, during 2002, the revision of a plan to
shut down one. of the Company’s manufacturing facilities. The portion of the 2003 credit applicable to
the. Company’s food. packaging segment was $0.3 million, while the portion applicable to the Company s
protective. and specialty packaging. segment was $0.2 million. The portion of the 2002 net credit
applicable.to the Company’s food packaging segment amounted to a credit of $2 9 mllhon, while the
portion applicable to the protective and specialty packaging segment amounted to- -a.charge of .

$1.6 million.

As a result of the 2002 adjustments to the 2001 restructuring program, the Company expected a net -
reduction in headcount of approximately 440 positions. This program originally estimated a net
headcount reduction of approximately 470. The Company reduced the revised net headcount reduction
by approximately 30 positions that were eliminated by attrition. This net reduction was based onthe -
elimination of 677 positions from all geographic areas in which the Company does business, primarily -
from its manufacturing, sales and marketing functions in North America and Europe. As of
December 31, 2003, all of the 677 positions estimated to be eliminated under this program had been
eliminated. The Company anticipated the addition of 237 positions in connection with its realignment
or relocation of manufacturing activities.
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Note 10 Restructuring Costs and Other Charges (Continued) -

The components of the restructuring charges, spending and other activity through December 31, 2003
and the remaining accrual balance at December 31, 2003 were as follows:

Employee Plant/Office Exit
S ) . Termination Costs Cost Total Cost
Restructuring accrual recorded in 2001 .. ............. $23.9 - $16 $255
Cash payments during 2001 ....................... (5.7) (0.1) (5.8)
Restructuring accrual at December 31, 2001 ........... 18.2 1.5 19.7
Reversal of restructuring accrual,net . ............... (1.3) — (1.3)
Cash payments during 2002 . ...................... (11.1) 0.7) (11.8)
Restructuring accrual at December 31,2002 . ... .%«-... 58 0.8 6.6
Reversal of restructuring accrual, net - ... .. I - (0.5) — (0.5)
Cash payments during 2003 .............. I )| 0.8) (5.3)
— $ 08

Restructuring accrual at December 31,2003 ........... 0§ 08 $

Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs

Proﬁt-Sliéﬁhg and Retiremeﬁt Savings Plans

The Company has a non-contributory profit-sharing plan covering most of its U.S. employees.
Contributions to this plan, which are made at the discretion of the Board of Directors, may be made in
cash, shares of the Company’s common stock, or in a combination of cash and shares of the Company’s
common stock. The Company also maintains contributory thrift' and retirement savings plans in which
most of its U.S. employees are eligible to participate. The ‘contributory thrift and retirement savings
plans generally provide for Company contributions based upon the amount contributed to the plans by
the participants. Company contributions to or provisions for its profit-sharing and retirement savings
plans are charged to operations and amounted to $26.9 million, $36.2 million and $26.1 million in 2003,
2002 and 2001, respectively. In 2002 and 2001, there were no shares of common stock issued for the
Company’s contribution to its profit-sharing plan. The value of:the 268,180 shares of common stock
issued as part of the Company’s contribution to. the profit-sharing plan in 2003 was $9.8 million, with
the $17.1 million balance of the 2003 contributions to these plans made in cash.
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Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive. Programs (Continued)

U.S. Pension Plans

A limited number of the Company’s U.S. employees, including some employees who are covered by
collective bargaining agreements, participate in defined benefit pension plans. The following presents
the Company’s funded status for 2003 and 2002 under SFAS No. 132 for its U.S. pension plans. The
measurement date for the defined benefit pension plans presented below is December 31 of each
period. :

1H2003° 2002
Change in benefit obligation: oo

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period . .. ............... S T.‘ . AE$23 8 $19.7
SEIVICE COSE o\ v i ettt i et e PN 0.9:" 0.7
I ErESt COSE . . ot vt et e e e Laliede, 16 14
Plan amendment . ............... ... .. ... 13 12
Actuarial 10SS . . .. ... i P A . 1.3
Benefitspaid .. ............. ... ... ... ... e e _(06) (05)
Projected benefit obligation at end of period ... .......c...uiuunn. il Tl 8288 $23.8
Accumulated benefit obligation at end of period ................... coosi e 84T $210
Change in plan assets: ‘ o : S - :
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of penod ....... e c... 9210 08189
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets . ... .......... P ... 38 (18
Employer contributions. .. ....... ... ... i O W 4.5
Benefits paid .. ...... ..ot e R e (05) 0 (0.6)
Fair value of plan assets at endofperiod...................... vee e . 08260 28210
Funded status: :
Plan assets less than benefit obligation........ SR S $(2.8) $(28)
Unrecognized net prior service cost. . ...... ... A e e S e s 5.1 4.5
Unrecognized net actuarial loss . ............ R SN 8.8 9.6
Net asset recogmzed ‘at'end of perlo‘d ........ B P e o $111 $113
Amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheet-consists of: T
Prepaid benefit cost .. ................ ... e Sooeoaaoe. 8123 8122
Accrued benefit liability ... ... e R T T T IR 6 t) B (1))
Net amount recognized. .. ... .. F e $11.1 $11.3
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Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs (Continued)
The following presents the Company’s pension expense for 2003, 2002 and 2001 under SFAS No. 132
for its U.S. Jpension plans.

Lo i i Year ended Year ended Year ended
o i December 31, December 31, December 31,

. 2003 - 2002 2001
Components of net periodic benefit cost: '
SEIVICE COSE . v vttt et e e e $09 $07 $06
CTRterESt COSE. & ot e e e 1.6 14 13
Expected returnon planassets . ..................... (l 8) (1.9) - (1.6)
. Amortization of prior service cost . . . ... ... . .. 0.6 0.6
Amortization of net actuarial foss .................... 0.5 0.2 —
Net periodic pension Cost . . ... .......ovreenreenn... $1.9 $10 $09

Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31, 2003 and 2002
were as follows: :

L , 2003 2002
DISCOUNE FALE « .« .+ o e e e et e et eee e et 6.0% 6.75%
Rate of compensation increase . ...................... 4.5% 4.5%

Weighted average assumptions used to determine net cost for the year ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2001 were as follows: :

2003 2002 2001
Discount rate ... ... .. 6.75% 7.0% 7.25%
Expected long-term-rate of return . ... ................. 8.5% 8.5% 10.0%
Rate of '.com‘pensation INCICASE . v v o e et s i ienenenss 4.5% 4.5% 4.5%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration the
Company’s asset allocation, historical returns, and the current economic enwronment

The Company’s long-term objectives for plan investments are to ensure that, a) there is an adequate
level of assets to support benefit obligations to participants over the life of the. plans, b) there is .. -
sufficient liquidity in plan assets to cover current benefit obligations, and c) there is a high level of
investment return consistent with a prudent level of investment risk. The investment strategy is focused
on a long-term total return in excess of a pure fixed income strategy with short-term volatility less than
that of a pure equity strategy. To accomplish this obJectlve, assets are invested in a balanced and
'dxversu‘lied mix of equity and fixed income investments. The target asset allocation will typically be
'50-65% in equity securities, with a maximum equity allocation of 75%, and 35-50% in fixed income
securities, with a minimum fixed income allocation of 25% including cash. ' :

The U.S. pension asset allocations at December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

2003 2002
Equities . ... ... .. e e 65.3% 55.0%
Fixed income investments ... ..........c.ccvivnrnn.. 30.4% 37.0%

Cash .. ... e 4.3% 8.0%
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Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs (Continued)

Non-U.S. Pension Plans -

Certain of the Company’s non-U.S. employees participate in defined benefit pension plans in-their
respective countries. The following presents the Company’s funded status for 2003 and 2002 under
SFAS No. 132:for its non-U.S. pension plans. The measurement date for the defined benefit pension
plans presented below is December 31 of each period.

v o 2003 2002
Change in benefit obligation: :
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of period . ............. ... . ... $144.7  $133.8
T IVICE COSt \ . v ittt i e e e i e 6.0 4.8
Interest CoSt ..\ .ot e e e 93 8.0
Plan amendment . . . . ... . . e e — .04
Actuarial 1osS(8aIN) . . . . .. .. e - 557 (109
Pl IETgEr & oot e e — (0.1)
Additional liability for added population. . ... ... e e A —
Benefits paid .. ... ... e e 88) (7.6)
Employee contributions . . ... ....... S e 1.2 1.4
Foreign exchange impact . . ... ... . . e - 264 15.2
Projected benefit obligation at end of period ..............c.ccvvainn... . $1922  $1447
Accumulated benefit obligations at end of period . . ... ... .. e Vi $1713..8129.9
Change in plan assets: S _,;: J . '
Fair value of plan assets at beginningof period. .. .......... ... ... ... ... $121.8 $125.7
Plan merger . ... i e - 0.1
Actual gain (loss) on plan assets . ........... ... ... ... .. . 138 (17.4)
Employer-contributions .. ....... M e e e PuN 7.4 10:3
Benefitspaid . ........... .. ... ... e e - 88 (7.6)
Additional assets recogmzed e e e P Wit 21 —
Assets transferred to defined contribution. plan.............. e, e (19 (12)
Employee contributions . . ... ... ... i P . 12 11
Foreign-exchange impact . . .......... e T E A 226 110
Fair value of plan assets at end of. perlod e DB $1582 $121:8
Funded status o s ‘ - . o
Plan assets.less than beneﬁt obhgatlon P et Looi8(34:1). 8(22.9)
Unrecognized. net obligation ......... e S P P Lo 02702
Unrecognized net prior service cost . . ... .. FE O 10 1.0
- Unrecognized net actuarial loss ........ P et e _ 646 587
Net asset recognized atend of period . .......... ... .. ... ... . ci.t.nn. $.31.7 $ 370
Amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consists of:
Prepaid bemefit coSt . ... .. ... $ 712 $ 634
Accrued benefit lability. . . ....... ... (42.5) (30.5)
Intangible asset. .. ........... ... .. ..., [ e 0.
Accumulated other comprehensive income . .................. PP e 26 3.6
Net amount 1eCOZMIZE . . . . o oot i ettt $ 317 $.37.0
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Note 11 Employee Benefits and Incentive Programs (Continued)

The following presents the Company’s pension expense for 2003, 2002 and 2001 under SFAS No. 132
for its non-U.S. pension plans.

"Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31; . December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Components of net periodic benefit cost:
SEIVICE COSt « . vt et e e $ 60  § 438 $ 49
INtErest COSt. . .« v vvvn e e .93 80719
Expected return on plan assets .. ..............0..... o (10.0) T (105) T (124)
Amortization of obligation {asset) . ................... 0.1 02 . 0.1
Amortization of prior service cost ... ... ... o . 0.2 0.1 0.1
Amortization of net actuarial loss ... ................. 4.9 - 28 - 06
Net periodic pension cost . ... .........v ..., $ 10.5 $ 54 $ 12

The following significant assumptions were used in calculating the non-U.S. pension cost and funded
status presented above:

2003 2002 2001
Discount rate at December 31 .. ...................... 56% 5.5% 5.8%
Expected long-term rate of return. ... ........ .. .. ... .. 7.9% 7.9% 8.1%

Rate of compensation increase . . ............ ... .. 3.8% 3.4% 3.5%

Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

The Company generally does not offer its employees postretu'ement beneflts other than certain
programs which are required by the foreign countries in which the Company operates and-a U.S.
program which is fully funded by the participating retired employees Such programs are not material
to the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Since March 31, 1998, the Company has offered to certain U.S. employees of the Cryovac packaging
business a fixed subsidy applicable to participation in its U.S. postretirement healthcare program. At
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the accrued benefit liability associated with these subsidies
amounted to $2.2 million, $2.5 million and $3.1 million, respectwely The net periodic postretuement
“expense and credit components, together with other remaining postretirement: healthcare plan”
disclosures under SFAS No. 132, are not material to the consohdated financial statements
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Note 12 Debt

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company’s total debt outstanding consisted of the amounts set
forth on the following table:

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002

Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt:

Short-term bOrTOWINES .« . v oo v v vt e et e $ 182 $ 534
Current portion of long-termdebt .. ................. 2.4 20
Totalcurrent debt. . ....... .. . i 20.6 554

Long-term debt, less current portion:
5.625% Euro Notes due July 2006, less unamortized
discount of $0.7 in 2003 and $0.8 in 2002(1) .......... 248.0 205.2
8.75% Senior Notes due July 2008, (plus) less unamortized
discount and interest rate swaps of $(4.0) in 2003 and

$12mn2002. . ... e 181.5 298.8
6.95% Senior Notes due May 2009, less unamortized
discount of $1.1 in 2003 and $1.6in 2002 ............ 2489 298.5
5.375% Senior Notes due April 2008, less unamortized
discount and interest rate swaps of $7.5in 2003 ...... .. 292.5 —
5.625% Senior Notes due July 2013, less unamortized
discount of $1.3in2003(2) .. ... ... . L. 398.7 —
6.875% Senior Notes due July 2033, less unamortlzed ‘
discount of $1.6in 2003(2) .. ........ .. ... . ... 448.4 —
3% Convertible Senior Notes due June 2033(2).......... 431.3 —
ANZ Credit Fac1hty .............................. — 575
Other . ... e 10.5 8.0
Total long-term debt, less current portion . ............... 2,259.8 868.0
Total debt .. ... ... $2,280.4 $923.4

(1) The carrying value of the Euro Notes increased approximately $42.5 million in 2003, primarily as a
result of the strengthening of the euro compared to the U.S. dollar during 2003.

(2) The Company used the net proceeds of these offerings and additional cash on hand, an aggregate
of $1,298.1 million, to redeem the outstanding shares of its Series A convertible preferred stock.

Revolving Credit Facilities:

The 2006 Facility

On December 19, 2003, the Company entered into a new $350.0 million unsecured multi-currency
revolving credit facility that matures in 2006. The Company did not borrow under the 2006 facility at its
inception, and no borrowings were outstanding as of December 31, 2003.

The 2006 facility provides that the Company may borrow for working capital and general corporate
purposes including payment of a portion of the $512.5 million cash payment required to be paid upon
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Note 12 Debt (Continued)

the effectiveness of an appropriate plan of reorganization in the Grace bankruptcy (see Note 18 for
further discussion). The Company may re-borrow amounts repaid under the 2006 facility-from time to
time prior to the expiration or earlier termination of the 2006 facility. As of December 31, 2003, facility
fees were payable at the rate of 0.15% per annum on the total amounts available under the 2006
facility.

The Company’s obligations under the 2006 facility bear interest at floating rates, which are generally
determined by adding the applicable borrowing margin to the base rate or the interbank rate for the
relevant currency and time period. The 2006 facility provides for changes in borrowing margins based
on the Company’s long-term senior unsecured debt ratings.

The 2006 facility provides that, upon the occurrence of specified events that would adversely affect the
settlement agreement in the Grace bankruptcy proceedings or would materially increase the Company’s
liability in respect of the Grace bankruptcy or the asbestos liability arising from the Cryovac '
transaction, the Company would be required to repay any amounts outstanding under the 2006 facility,
or refinance the facility, within 60 days.

The 2003 Facility

At December 31, 2002, the Company’s principal revolving credit facility was a $525.0 million facility
that the Company allowed to expire in accordance with its terms on March 30, 2003. There were no
borrowings outstanding under the 2003 facility as of December 31, 2002.

The 2003 facility provided that the Company and specified subsidiaries could borrow for various
purposes until the expiration or earlier termination of this facility. The Company could borrow to
refinance existing debt, provide working capital, make acquisitions, repurchases of the Company’s
outstanding common and preferred stock and capital expenditures, and meet other general corporate
needs. Amounts repaid under the 2003 facility could be re-borrowed from time to time prior to the
expiration or earlier termination of the facility. As of December 31, 2002, facility fees were payable at
the rate of 0.095% per annum under the 2003 facility on the total amounts available under the credit
facility.

The obligations under the 2003 facility bore interest at floating rates. The floating rates were generally

determined by adding the applicable borrowing margin to the interbank rate for the relevant currency
and time period.

Senior Notes Issued in July 2003; Recapitalization:

In July 2003, the Company issued a total of $1,281.3 million of senior notes in transactions that were
exempt from registration in reliance upon Rule 144A and other available exemptions under the
Securities Act. On July 18, 2003, the Company used the net proceeds from these offerings and
additional cash on hand to redeem its Series A convertible preferred stock at the redemption price of
$51.00 per share, for which the Company used $1,298.1 million of cash, plus an amount equal to
dividends accrued from July 1, 2003 through July 17, 2003, for which the Company used $2.4 million of
cash. As discussed in Note 15 below, the Company had previously repurchased an aggregate of 750,600
shares of its Series A convertible preferred stock during 2003, prior to the July 18, 2003 redemption. As
discussed below in this Note 12, the Company subsequently used net cash of $208.2 million to
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Note 12 Debt (Continued)

repurchase an aggregate of $172.5 million of its senior notes and to terminate related interest rate
swaps.

The senior note offerings consisted of the following:

< $400.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.625% senior notes due July 15, 2013. Accrued
interest on the 5.625% senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year, commencing on January 15, 2004. The net proceeds from this issuance,
after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount, unamortized bond discount and other offering
expenses, were $395.6 million. The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was
$398.7 million, net of unamortized discount.

* $450.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.875% senior notes due July 15, 2033. Accrued
interest on the 6.875% senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year, commencing on January 15, 2004. The net proceeds from this issuance,
after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount, unamortized bond discount and other offering
expenses, were $444.0 million. The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was
$448.4 million, net of unamortized discount.

* $431.3 million aggregate principal amount of 3% convertible senior notes due June 30, 2033.
Accrued interest on the 3% convertible senior notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on
June 30 and December 30 of each year, commencing on December 30, 2003. The net proceeds
from this issuance, after deducting the initial purchasers’ discount and other offering expenses,
were $421.5 million. The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was $431.3 million.

Holders of the convertible senior notes may convert those notes into shares of the Company’s
common stock at a conversion rate of 14.2857 shares per $1,000 principal amount of the notes,
which is equivalent to a conversion price of $70.00 per share, subject to anti-dilution
adjustments, before the close of business on June 30, 2033. Holders may convert their
convertible senior notes only under the following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter,
if the closing sale price of the Company’s common stock exceeds 120% of the conversion price
for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of
the preceding calendar quarter; (2) during any period in which (i) the long-term credit rating
assigned to the notes by Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, a division of the McGraw-Hill
Companies, or Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. is lower than BB+ or Ba2, respectively,

(ii) either Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s no longer rates the notes or has withdrawn or
suspended this rating, or (iii) the notes are not assigned a rating by both Standard & Poor’s and
Moody’s; (3) during the five business day period immediately after any five consecutive trading
day period in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of notes for each day of that
period was less than 98% of the product of the closing sale price of the Company’s common
stock and the conversion rate; (4) if the notes have been called for redemption; or (5) upon the
occurrence of specified corporate events. None of these circumstances that would allow for
conversion of the notes has arisen at any time since their issuance.

The Company has the option to redeem the 3% convertible senior notes beginning July 2, 2007
at a price equal to 101.286% of their aggregate principal amount, declining ratably to 100% of
their aggregate principal amount on June 30, 2010.
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Note 12 Debt (Continued)

The holders of the 3% convertible senior notes have the option to require the Company to
repurchase the 3% convertible senior notes on June 30 of 2010, 2013, 2018, 2023 and 2028, or
upon the occurrence of a fundamental change in or a termination of trading of the Company’s
common stock, at a price equal to 100% of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid
interest.

In connection with the issuance of the 3% convertible senior notes, on September 5, 2003 the
Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission to register for resale the 6,160,708 shares of the Company’s common stock issuable,
subject to anti-dilution adjustments, upon conversion of the notes. The registration statement
became effective on January 23, 2004,

5.375% Senior Notes:

On April 14, 2003, the Company issued $300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.375% senior
notes due April 2008 in transactions exempt from registration in reliance upon Rule 144A and other
available exemptions under the Securities Act. Accrued interest on these senior notes is payable
semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year, commencing on October 15, 2003.
The net proceeds from the issuance of these senior notes after deducting the initial purchasers’
discount, unamortized bond discount and other offering expenses were $296.1 million.

The carrying value of these notes at December 31, 2003 was $292.5 million, net of unamortized
discount and an adjustment to record a decrease in the fair value of the 5.375% senior notes of
$6.1 million due to changes in interest rates related to interest rate swaps the Company has entered
into with respect to these notes.

ANZ Facility:

In March 2002, the Company entered into an Australian dollar 175.0 million, which was equivalent to
U.S. $128.4 million at December 31, 2003, dual-currency revolving credit facility that expires on
March 12, 2005, known as the “ANZ facility”. A syndicate of banks made this facility available to a
group of the Company’s Australian and New Zealand subsidiaries for general corporate purposes and
the refinancing of previously outstanding indebtedness. The Company may re-borrow amounts repaid
under the ANZ facility from time to time prior to the expiration or earlier termination of the facility.
No amounts were outstanding under the ANZ facility at December 31, 2003.

Debt Repurchase:

In December 2003, the Company used net cash of $208.2 million to repurchase in the open market
$122.5 million face amount of its 8.75% senior notes and $50.0 million face amount of its 6.95% senior
notes and to terminate interest rate swaps on the 8.75% senior notes with a total notional amount of
$100.0 million. The net cash used of $208.2 million consisted of cash used to purchase the senior notes
at a premium plus accrued interest and related fees of $208.9 million and cash received of $0.7 million
related to the termination of the interest rate swaps. These repurchases were made at premiums to the
face amounts of the notes and therefore resulted in a loss of $33.6 million, which the Company
reflected in the statement of operations as “Loss on debt repurchase.”
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Covenants:

Each issue of the Company’s outstanding senior notes and the Company’s outstanding Euro Notes
imposes limitations on the Company’s operations and those of specified subsidiaries. The principal
limitations restrict liens, sale and leaseback transactions and mergers, acquisitions and dispositions. The
2006 facility contains financial covenants relating to interest coverage, debt leverage and minimum
liquidity, and restrictions on the creation of liens, the incurrence of additional indebtedness,
acquisitions, mergers and consolidations, asset sales, and amendments to the asbestos settlement
agreement discussed above. The ANZ facility contains financial covenants relating to debt leverage,
interest coverage and tangible net worth, and restrictions on the creation of liens, the incurrence of
additional indebtedness and asset sales. The Company was in compliance with these limitations at
December 31, 2003. The 2003 facility had similar covenants to those of the ANZ facility. In connection
with recording the accounting charge in the fourth quarter of 2002 for the asbestos settlement and
related costs (see Note 18), the Company requested and received a waiver of compliance with the
interest coverage and leverage ratios provided for in the 2003 facility. After reflecting such waiver, the

Company was in compliance with all applicable requirements of each of the above instruments as of
December 31, 2002.

Lines of Credit:

Substantially all the Company’s short-term borrowings of $18.2 million and $53.4 million at

December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, were outstanding under lines of credit available to various of
the Company’s U.S. and foreign subsidiaries. Amounts available under these credit lines as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 were approximately $215.3 million and $209.0 million, respectively, of
which approximately $197.0 million and $155.0 million, respectively, were unused.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had available committed and uncommitted lines of
credit, including the credit lines discussed above, of $693.7 million and $832.0 million, respectively, of
which $675.4 million and $721.0 million were unused. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the total
available lines of credit included committed lines of credit of $479.2 million and $832.0 million,
respectively, and uncommitted lines of credit of $214.5 million and $210.0 million, respectively. The
Company’s principal credit lines were all committed, and consisted of the 2006 facility at December 31,
2003, the 2003 facility at December 31, 2002 and the ANZ facmty at both dates. The Company Is not
subject to any material compensating balance requirements in connection with its lines of credit.
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Debt Maturities

Scheduled annual maturities of long-term debt, exclusive of debt discounts, for the five years
subsequent to December 31, 2003 are as follows:

2004 L e e e e e $ 24
2005 . e e e e e e 3.0
2006 . e e e e e e e 250.2
2007 L e e e e e e e e 1.6
2008 .. e e e e 478.4
Thereafter . .. ... e e e e e e e 1,534.8
Total .. e e e e $2,270.4

Note 13 Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 133, as amended, which requires that the
Company report all derivative instruments on the balance sheet at fair value and establishes criteria for
designation and effectiveness of transactions entered into for hedging purposes. The cumulative effect
of adopting SFAS No. 133 was not material to the Company’s 2001 consolidated financial statements.

The Company is exposed to market Tisk, such as fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and
changes in interest rates. To manage the volatility relating to these exposures, the Company enters into
various derivative instruments from time to time under its risk management policies. The Company
designates derivative instruments as hedges on a transaction basis to support hedge accounting. The
changes in fair value of these hedging instruments offset in part or in whole corresponding changes in
the fair value or cash flows of the underlying exposures being hedged. The Company assesses the initial
and ongoing effectiveness of its hedging relationships in accordance with its documented policy. The
Company does not purchase, hold or sell derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.

Foreign Cu_rrency Forward Contracts

The Company is exposed to market risk, such as fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The
Company’s subsidiaries have foreign currency exchange exposure from buying and selling in currencies
other than their functional currencies. The primary purpose of the Company’s foreign currency hedging
activities is to manage the potential changes in value associated with the amounts receivable or payable
on transactions denominated in foreign currencies. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company was
party to foreign currency forward contracts, with aggregate notional amounts of approximately

$161.9 million maturing through April 2004 and $146.9 million which matured through April 2003,
respectively. These contracts qualified and were designated as cash flow hedges, and had original
maturities of less than twelve months.

Interest Rate Swaps

From time to time, the Company may use interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to fluctuations in
interest rates.
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2003 Interest Rate Swaps:

At December 31, 2003, the Company had interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of

$400.0 million that qualify and were designated as fair value hedges. The Company entered into
interest rate swaps to convert a portion of the 5.375% senior notes and 8.75% senior notes into floating
rate debt. At December 31, 2003, the Company recorded the following adjustments to long-term debt:

* an adjustment to record a decrease in the fair value of the 5.375% senior notes due to changes
in interest rates of $6.1 million and an offsetting adjustment to other liabilities to record the fair
value of the related interest rate swaps; and

* an adjustment to record an increase in the fair value of the 8.75% senior notes due to changes
in interest rates of $3.8 million and an offsetting adjustment to other assets to record the fair
“value of the related interest rate swaps.

The Company also reduced interest expense $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, due to
the impact of interest rate swaps that were outstanding during the year.

In connection with the Company’s repurchase of a portion of the 8.75% senior notes in December 2003
(see Note 12), the Company terminated interest rate swaps with a total notional amount of $100.0 million
and received net cash proceeds of $0.7 million.

2002 Interest Rate Swaps:

In June 2002, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements (with a total notzonal
amount of $50.0 million) that qualified and were designated as fair value hedges in accordance with
SFAS No. 133. The Company had entered into these agreements to, among other things, convert a
portion of the 8.75% senior notes fixed rate debt into floating rate debt. During September 2002, the
Company terminated these swaps and reflected a basis adjustment to the 8.75% senior notes for a
portion of the cash received of approximately $2.4 million. The Company is amortizing this amount and
reflecting it as a component of interest expense over the remaining life of the 8.75% senior notes. The
Company was not party to any interest rate swap agreements at December 31, 2002.

U.S. Treasury Locks

During the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company entered into U.S. Treasury lock
agreements with a total notional amount of $700.0 million that qualified and were designated as cash
flow hedges. U.S. Treasury lock agreements are instruments used to manage the risks associated with
movements in U.S. Tieasury rates. The Company entered into these agreements to manage interest rate
risks arising from the planned issuance of the 5.375% senior notes in April 2003 and the planned
issnance of the 5.625% senior notes and the 6.875% senior notes in July 2003 (see Note 12). The
Company terminated these U.S. Treasury lock agreements prior to June 30, 2003 and received net cash
proceeds of $13.9 million. The Company has reflected this amount in other comprehensive income and
- is amortizing and reflecting it as a net reduction of interest expense over the lives of the respective
senior notes. At December 31, 2003, the Company was not party to any U.S. Treasury lock agreements.

The Company may use other derivative instruments from time to time, such as options and collars to
manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, foreign exchange options to manage exposure to
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Note 13 Derivatives and Hedging Activities (Continued)

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, and interest rate and currency swaps to gain access to additional
sources of international financing while limiting foreign exchange exposure and limiting or adjusting
interest rate exposure by swapping borrowings in one currency for borrowings denominated in another
currency.

The Company records gains and losses on derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges in other
comprehensive income (loss), to the extent that these hedges are effective and until it recognizes the
underlying transactions in earnings, at which time it recognizes these gains and losses in the
consolidated statement of operations. Other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 reflected net unrealized after tax gains of $8.0 million ($13.3 million
pre-tax) and $0.1 million ($0.2 million pre-tax), respectively, all of which the Company expects to be
reflected in the consolidated statement of operations within the next twelve months when the Company
recognizes the underlying transactions in the consolidated statement of operations. The unrealized
amounts in other comprehensive income (loss) will fluctuate based on changes in the fair value of open
contracts during each reporting period. The Company’s practice is to terminate derivative transactions
if the underlying asset or liability matures or is sold or terminated, or if the Company determines the
underlying forecasted transaction is no longer probable of occurring. The Company’s cash flow hedges
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were effective within the meaning of SFAS No. 133,
under which an “effective” hedge is one that qualifies for hedge accounting treatment.

The Company bears credit losses if the counterparties to its outstanding derivative contracts are unable
to perform their obligations. However, it does not expect any counterparties to fail to perform as they
are major financial institutions with high credit ratings and financial strength. Nevertheless, there is a
risk that the Company’s exposure to losses arising out of derivative contracts could be material if the
counterparties to these agreements fail to perform their obligations.

Note 14 Financial Instruments

Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the Company must
disclose its estimate of the fair value of material financial instruments, including those recorded as
assets or liabilities in its consolidated financial statements and derivative financial instruments.

The carrying amounts of current assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to their short-term
maturities.

The fair value of the Company’s euro notes, senior notes and Series A convertible preferred stock are
based on quoted market prices. The Company derived the fair value estimates of the Cormpany’s
various other debt instruments by evaluating the nature and terms of each instrument, considering
prevailing economic and market conditions, and examining the cost of similar debt offered at the
balance sheet date. These estimates are subjective and involve uncertainties and matters of significant
judgment and, therefore, the Company cannot determine them with precision. Changes in assumptions
could significantly affect the Company’s estimates.

The fair value of the debt in the table below differs from the carrying amount due to changes in
interest rates based on the market conditions as of December 31, 2003 and 2002. Generally, the fair
value of fixed rate debt will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. The
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carrying value of the Series A convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2002 in the table below
appears in the consolidated balance sheet at its mandatory redemption value of $50.00 per share.

The fair values of the Company’s various derivative instruments, which are based on current market
rates, generally reflect the estimated amounts that the Company would receive or pay to terminate the -
contracts at the reporting date.

The carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

2003 2002
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Derivative financial assets:
Interest rate SWAapPS . . ..ottt e $ 38 § 38 § — § —
Derivative financial liabilities:
Foreign currency forward contracts ................. $ 02 % 02 % - $ —
Interest rate swaps . ... ... ..o i e 6.1 6.1 oo —
Jotal .. e $ 63 $ 63 $§ — 3 —
Financial liabilities:
Debt:
Euro Notes . . ... i i e $ 2480 § 2618 §$ 2052 $ 196.7
875% Senior Notes . . ... oo v it 181.5 207.2 298.8 333.0
6.95% Senior NOteS . . . . .o i it i et e 248.9 282.1 298.5 306.0
5.375% Senior Notes . . .. ..... PR 2925 3222 — —
5.625% Senior NOteS . . . . .o v i i 398.7 409.1 — —
6.875% Senior Notes . . . ..o it i it 448.4 475.5 —_ -
3% Convertible Senior Notes . . .................. 431.3 454.4 — —_—
Other foreignloans .. .................... .. ... - 22.6 213 117.5 116.4
Other1oans. . . ..o oo e e 85 11.7 34 6.2
Totaldebt . ................ e e $2,280.4 $2,4453 § 9234 § 9583
Series A cornvertible preferred stock .. ................ $ — — $1,327.0 $1,130.6
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Note 15 Shareholders’ Equity
Common Stock

The following is a summary of changes during 2003, 2002 and 2001 in shares of common stock:

2003 2002 2001
Changes in common stock:
Number of shares, beginning of year . .................. 84,764,347 84,494,504 84,352,492
Shares issued for contingent stock . .. .................. 356,705 238,900 113,950
Non-cash compensation . ..................cuvuun... 2,724 2,605 7,926
Conversion of preferred stock . . ...................... 298,174 427 139
Exercise of stock options . .. ........ ... .. ... ... ..., 125,277 27,911 19,997
Number of shares issued, end of year ... ............... 85,547,227 84,764,347 84,494,504
Changes in common stock in treasury:
Number of shares held, beginning of year ............... 723,415 717,615 706,265
Contingent stock forfeited . . ... ............ ... ... .. 6,550 5,800 11,850
Non-cash compensation . ........................... — — (500)
Profit sharing contribution ............ ... ... ....... (268,180) — —
Number of shares held, end of year.................... 461,785 723,415 717,615

Contingent Stock Plan and Directors Stock Plan

The Company’s contingent stock plan provides for the grant to employees of awards to purchase
common stock (during the succeeding 60-day period) for less than 100% of fair market value at the
date of award. Shares issued under the contingent stock plan are restricted as to disposition by the
holders for a period of at least three years after award. In the event of termination of employment
prior to lapse of the restriction, the shares of contingent stock are subject to a repurchase option by the
Company at the price at which the shares were issued. This restriction lapses prior to the expiration of
the vesting period if specified events occur that affect the existence or control of the Company. The
Company credits the aggregate fair value of contingent stock issued to the common stock and
additional paid-in capital accounts and deducts the unamortized portion of the compensation from
shareholders’ equity. The Company charges the excess of fair value over the award price of contingent
stock to operations as compensation expense over a three-year period. These charges amounted to
$8.2 million, $7.8 million, and $10.0 million in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Non-cash compensation in 2003 and 2002 comprises shares issued to non-employee directors in the
form of awards under the Company’s 2002 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, which stockholders
of the Company approved at the 2002 annual meeting. The 2002 Directors Stock Plan provides for
annual grants of shares to non-employee directors, and interim grants of shares to eligible directors
elected at times other than at an annual meeting, at a price per share equal to the par value of the
shares, as all or part of the annual or interim retainer fees for non-employee directors. During 2002,
the Company adopted a plan that permits non-employee directors to elect to defer all or part of their
annual retainer until the non-employee director retires from the Board. The non-employee director can
elect to defer the portion of the annual retainer payable in shares of stock. If a non-employee director
makes this election, the non-employee director may also elect to defer the portion, if any, of the annual

76.




SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 15 Shareholders’ Equity (Continued)

retainer payable in cash. The Company charges the excess of fair value over the price at which shares
are issued under this plan to operations at the date of the grant. This charge amounted to $0.3 million -
in 2003 and $0.4 million in 2002.

In 2001, the Company made grants of shares to non-employee directors at a price of $1.00 per share
under the then-effective Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the 1998 Directors Stock
Plan), which the Company terminated when the stockholders approved the 2002 Directors Stock Plan.
The Company charged the excess of fair value over the price at which shares were issued under this
plan to operations at the date of the grant. These charges amounted to $0.4 million in 2001. Shares
issued' under both plans are restricted as to disposition by the holders as long as these holders remain
directors of the Company.

Amortization expense related to the issuance of 60,000 and 50,000 shares in 2000 and 1999,
respectively, of the Company’s common stock in exchange for non-employee consulting services was
$0.8 million, $1.6 million and $1.6 million, in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. These shares vest
ratably over a three to five year period. The Company amortizes these shares on a straight line basis.

The Company has adopted only the disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation,” but applies APB No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for these
plans. Since the compensation cost noted above is consistent with the compensation cost that the
Company would have recognized for these plans under the provisions of SFAS No. 123, the pro forma
disclosure requirements under this statement are not applicable for these plans.
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A summary of the changes in shares available for the Contingent Stock Plan and the Directors Stock
Plan follows: '

2003 2002 2001
Changes in Contingent Stock Plan shares:
Number of shares available, beginning of year ... ......... 1,251,350 1,484,450 1,587,050
Shares issued for new awards .. ......... . ... ........ (356,705)  (238,900)  (114,450)
Contingent stock forfeited . . ... ........ [ 6,550 5,800 11,850
Number of shares available, end of year ................ 901,195 1,251,350 1,484,450
Weighted average per share market value of stock on grant
date .. ... . e e $ 4309 $ 3027 § 4044
Changes in Directors Stock Plan shares:
Number of shares available, beginning of year .. .......... 92,102 55,800 64,200
Shares no longer available under the 1998 Directors Stock
Plan . ... — (55,800) —
Shares available under the 2002 Directors Stock Plan .. ... .. — 100,000 —
Shares.granted and issued . . .. .......... .. ... .. ... (2,724) (2,605) (8,400)
Shares granted and deferred ... ......... ... . ... ... (4,767) (5,293) —
Number of shares available, end of year ................ 84,611 92,102 55,800
Weighted average per share market value of stock on grant
date . ... e $ 4408 $ 4465 $§ 4465

Redeemable Preferred Stock — Series A Convertible Preferred Stock

On July 18, 2003, the Company used cash of $1,298.1 million, including net proceeds of the Company’s
July 2003 senior notes offering of $1,278.4 million, to redeem all the outstanding shares of its Series A
convertible preferred stock at their redemption price of $51.00 per share. The $51.00 per share
redemption price included a $1.00 per share redemption premium, or $25.5 million in the aggregate.
The $25.5 million paid for the redemption premium reduced shareholders’ equity and net earnings
ascribed to common shareholders in 2003.

Prior to its redemption in 2003, the Company’s Series A convertible preferred stock was listed on the
New York Stock Exchange and was convertible at any time into approximately 0.885 of a share of
comimon stock for each share of preferred stock. The holders of these shares voted with the holders of
the common stock on an as-converted basis and were entitled to receive cumulative cash dividends,
when and as declared by the Board of Directors, at an annual rate of $2.00 per share, payable quarterly
in arrears on the first business day of the succeeding calendar quarter. The Series A convertible
preferred stock ranked senior to the Company’s common stock and junior to the Company’s
indebtedness.

Because it was subject to mandatory redemption, the Company classified the Series A convertible
preferred stock outside of the shareholders’ equity section of the consolidated balance sheet. At its date
of issuance, the fair value of the Series A convertible preferred stock exceeded its mandatory
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redemption amount primarily due to the common stock conversion feature. Accordingly, the Company
reflected the book value of the Series A convertible preferred stock in the consolidated balance sheet
at its mandatory redemption value.

During 2003, prior to its redemption, the Company repurchased 750,600 shares of the Company’s
convertible preferred stock at a cost of $36.7 million, representing a cost of $0.79 million below book
value. During 2002, the Company repurchased 782,500 shares of the convertible preferred stock at a
cost of approximately $28.8 million, representing a cost of approximately $10.3 million below book
value. The Company recorded this excess of book value over the purchase price of the preferred stock
as an increase to additional paid-in-capital.

The following is a summary of changes during 2003, 2002 and 2001 in shares of the Company’s
Series A convertible preferred stock: :

2003 2002 2001

Changes in preferred stock:

Number of shares issued, beginning of year . ............ 27,357,599 27,358,084 28,282,362

Redemption of preferred stock ........... ... ... ... .. (25,452,037) — —

Conversion of preferred stock . .............. ... ..., (337,462) (485) (158)

Retired repurchased preferred stock. .. .......... ... ... (1,568,100) — (924,120)

Number of shares issued, end ofyear . . .. .............. — 27,357,599 27,358,084
Changes in preferred stock in treasury:

Number of shares held, beginning of year. . ............. 817,500 35,000 434,900

Purchase of shares during period . ....... ... ... ... ... 750,600 782,500 524,220

Retired repurchased preferred stock. . ................. (1,568,100) —  (924,120)

Number of shares held, end of year . . ................. — - 817,500 35,000

Stock Options

Stock option plans in which specified employees of the Cryovac packaging business participated were
terminated effective March 31, 1998 in connection with the Cryovac transaction, except with respect to
options that remained outstanding as of this date. All of these .options had been granted at an exercise
price equal to their fair market value on the date of grant. At December 31, 2003, these options had
per share exercise prices ranging from $21.24 to $42:19, a weighted-average remaining contractual life
of approximately 2.6 years, and terms expiring up to March 2007.

During 2003, 2002 and 2001, the holders exercised options to purchase 125,277, 27,911 and 19,997
shares, respectively, with an aggregate exercise price of $4.7 million, $0.9 million and $0.5 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, the cumulative number of options to purchase
23,763, 23,763 and 15,590 shares of commeon stock, respectively, had expired. At December 31, 2003,
2002 and 2001, options to purchase 210,715, 335,992 and 371,178 shares of common stock, respectively,
were outstanding at average per share exercise prices of $39.46, $38.66 and $38.28, respectively.
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Note 16 Supplementary Cash Flow Information

2003 2002 2001

Interest payments, net of amounts capitalized . . ..................... $ 795 $ 645 $ 652
INCOmME taX PAYMENTS . .« o v v ottt e v e e et e $161.3 $165.1 $141.7
Non-cash items:

Issuance of shares of common stock to the profit sharing plan ... ........ $ 98 § — § —

Note 17 Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per common share were $2.21 for 2003, $(4.20) for 2002 and $1.30 for 2001.
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share were $2.00 for 2003, $(4.30) for 2002 and $1.22 for 2001.
Excluding goodwill amortization in 2001, basic earnings per common share would have been $1.99 and
diluted earnings per common share would have been $1.89 in 2001.

On July 18, 2003, the Company redeemed all of the outstanding shares of its Series A convertible
preferred stock at a redemption price of $51.00 per share. The Company also paid accrued dividends
~on the preferred stock from July 1, 2003 through July 17, 2003 in the aggregate amount of
- $2.40 million. The $51.00 per share redemption price included a $1.00 per share redemption premium,
or an aggregate premium of $25.5 million and is reflected in Basic earnings (loss) per common share in
2003.

Gains attributable to the repurchase of preferred stock for 2003, 2002 and 2001 were $0.8, $10.3 and
$7.4 million, respectively, and are reflected in basic earnings (loss) per common share for these years.

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings (loss) per common share for 2002 and 2001, the
Company has adjusted net earnings ascribed to common shareholders to exclude the gains attributable
to the repurchase of preferred stock and to add back dividends attributable to such repurchased
preferred stock and has adjusted the weighted average common shares outstanding to assume
conversion of the shares of preferred stock repurchased during these periods in accordance with the
FASB’s Emerging Issues Task Force Topic D-53 guidance.

In calculating diluted earnings per common share, the Company’s calculation of the weighted average
number of common shares for 2003 assumes the issuance of nine million shares of common stock
resérved for the asbestos settlement (as described in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
under the caption “Asbestos Settlement and Related Costs™), and the exercise of dilutive stock options,
net of assumed treasury stock repurchases. For 2002 and 2001, the calculation of weighted average
number of common shares assumes the effect of the weighted average conversion of repurchased shares
of preferred stock. The Company has not assumed the conversion of the outstanding preferred stock in
the calculation of diluted (loss) earnings per common share in 2002 and 2001, because the treatment of
the preferred stock as the common stock into which it was convertible would be anti-dilutive, meaning
the issuance would reduce the loss per common share or increase earnings per common share, in those
years. The Company did not reflect the shares of common stock reserved for issuance for the asbestos
settlement in the 2002 loss per common share calculation since the effect would have been anti-dilutive.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per common share
computations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 (shares in millions):

2003 2002 2001
Basic EPS:
Numerator
Net earnings (1oss) . ............ e $240.38  $(309.07) $156.70
Less: Excess of redemption price over book value of preferred stock . . . 25.45 — —
Add: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock. . . . 0.79 10.29 7.45
Less: Preferred stock dividends ... .......... ... ..... e 2861 = 53.84 55.02
Net earnings (loss) ascribed to common shareholders — basic ... ... .. $187.11 §(352.62) $109.13
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic . . ... ........ 84.66 83.93 83.69
" Basic earnings (loss) per common share . .. ... P $§ 221 § (4200 § 130
Diluted EPS:
Numerator _ ,
Net earnings (loss) ascribed to common shareholders — basic . . ... ... $187.11  $(352.62) $109.13
Add: Dividends associated with repurchased preferred stock ......... —_— 0.77 0.3
Less: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock . . . — 10.29 7.45
Net earnings (loss) ascribed to common shareholders — diluted . ... .. $187.11 $(362.14) $101.98
prascons
Denominator e
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic . . ........... 84.66 83.93 83.69 L
Effect of assumed issuance of asbestos settiement shares. ........... 9.00 — — §<E‘g;
Effect of conversion of repurchased preferred stock ............... — 0.36 0.21 e
Effect of assumed exercise of options. . .. .. R . 10.03 — — S
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted ........... 93.69 84.29 83.90
Diluted earnings (loss) per common share . e $ 200 $§ (430) § 122

See Note 19 for a reconciliation of basic and diluted earnings petr common share for the year ended
December 31, 2001 as if the Company had adopted SFAS No. 142 as of January 1, 2001.
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Note 18 Commitments and Contingencies
Asbestos Settlement and Related Costs

On November 27, 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the Committees
appointed to represent asbestos claimants in the bankruptcy case of W. R. Grace & Co., known as
Grace, to resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against the Company and its
affiliates in connection with the Cryovac transaction described below. The settlement will also resolve
the fraudulent transfer claims, as well as indemnification claims by Fresenius Medical Care

Holdings, Inc. and affiliated companies, that had been made against the Company in connection with
the Cryovac transaction. On December 3, 2002, the agreement in principle was approved by the
Company’s Board of Directors. The Company received notice that both of the Committees had
approved the agreement in principle as of December 5, 2002. For a description of the Cryovac:
Transaction, asbestos-related claims and the parties involved, see “Cryovac Transaction” and
“Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction” below.

The Company recorded a charge of $850.1 million as a result of the asbestos settlement in its
consolidated statement of operations as of December 31, 2002. The charge consisted of the following
items:

* a non-cash charge of $512.5 million covering a cash payment that the Company will be required
under the settlement to make upon the effectiveness of a plan of reorganization in the Grace
bankruptcy. Because the Company cannot predict when a plan of reorganization may become
effective, the Company recorded this liability as a current liability on the consolidated balance
sheet at December 31, 2002. Under the terms of the settlement, this amount accrues interest at
a 5.5% annual rate from December 21, 2002 to the date of payment. The Company has
recorded this interest in interest expense in the consolidated statement of operations and in
other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

* a non-cash charge of $321.5 million representing the fair market value at the date the Company
recorded the charge of 9 million shares of the Company’s common stock expected to be issued
under the settlement upon the effectiveness of Grace’s plan of reorganization. These shares are
subject to customary anti-dilution provisions that adjust for the effects of stock splits, stock
dividends and other events affecting the Company’s common stock. The fair market value of the
Company’s common stock was $35.72 per share as of the close of business on December 5, 2002.
The Company recorded this amount in its consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2002 as
follows: $0.9 million representing the aggregate par value of these shares in common stock
reserved for issuance related to the asbestos settlement, and the remaining $320.6 million,
representing the excess of the aggregate fair market value over the aggregate par value of these
common shares in additional paid-in capital. The December 31, 2003 diluted earnings per
common share calculation reflects the shares of common stock reserved for issuance related to
the asbestos settlement.

* $16.1 million of legal and related fees as of December 31, 2002.

Asbestos settlement and related costs in 2003 reflected legal and related fees for asbestos-related
matters of $2.8 million. In 2001, asbestos settlement and related costs of $12.0 million included
$8.1 million related to the Company’s guarantee, resulting from the Cryovac transaction, of specified
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debt payable by W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., which filed for reorganization along with its parent
company Grace, and $3.9 million of legal and related fees.

Cryovac Transaction

On March 31, 1998, the Company completed a multi-step transaction that brought the Cryovac
packaging business and the former Sealed Air Corporation’s business under the common ownership of
the Company. These businesses operate as subsidiaries of the Company, and the Company acts as a
holding company. As part of that transaction, the parties separated the Cryovac packaging business,
which previously had been held by various direct and indirect subsidiaries of the Company, from the
remaining businesses previously held by the Company. The parties then arranged for the contribution
of these remaining businesses to a company now known as W. R. Grace & Co., and the Company
distributed the Grace shares to the Company’s stockholders. As a result, W. R. Grace & Co. became a
separate publicly owned company. The Company recapitalized its outstanding shares of common stock
into a new common stock and a new convertible preferred stock. A subsidiary of the Company then
merged into the former Sealed Air, which became a subsidiary of the Company and changed its name
to Sealed Air Corporation (US).

Contingencies Related to the Cryovac Transaction

In connection with the Cryovac transaction, Grace and its subsidiaries retained all liabilities arising out
of their operations before the Cryovac transaction, whether accruing or occurring before or after the
Cryovac transaction, other than liabilities arising from or relating to Cryovac’s operations. Among the
liabilities retained by Grace are liabilities relating to asbestos-containing products previously
manufactured or sold by Grace’s subsidiaries prior to the Cryovac transaction, including its primary
U.S. operating subsidiary, W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn., which has operated for decades and has been
a subsidiary of Grace since the Cryovac transaction. The Cryovac transaction agreements provided that,
should any claimant seek to hold the Company or any of its subsidiaries responsible for liabilities
retained by Grace or its subsidiaries, including the asbestos-related liabilities, Grace and its subsidiaries
would indemnify and defend the Company.

Since the beginning of 2000, the Company has been served with a number of lawsuits alleging that, as a
result of the Cryovac transaction, the Company is responsible for alleged asbestos liabilities of Grace
and its subsidiaries, some of which were also named as co-defendants in some of these actions. Among
these lawsuits are several purported class actions and a number of personal injury lawsuits. Some
plaintiffs seek damages for personal injury or wrongful death, while others seek medical monitoring,
environmental remediation or remedies related to an attic insulation product. Neither the former
Sealed Air nor Cryovac ever produced or sold any of the asbestos-containing materials that are the
subjects of these cases. None of these cases has reached resolution through judgment, settlement or
otherwise. As discussed below, Grace’s Chapter 11 bankruptcy proceeding has stayed all these cases.

While the allegations in these actions directed to the Company vary, these actions all appear to allege
that the transfer of the Cryovac business as part of the Cryovac transaction was a fraudulent transfer or
gave rise to successor liability. Under a theory of successor liability, plaintiffs with claims against Grace
and its subsidiaries may attempt to hold the Company liable for liabilities that arose with respect to
activities conducted prior to the Cryovac transaction by W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. or other Grace
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subsidiaries. A transfer would be a fraudulent transfer if the transferor received less than reasonably
equivalent value and the transferor was insolvent or was rendered insolvent by the transfer, was
engaged or was about to engage in a business for which its assets constitute unreasonably small capital,
or intended to incur or believed that it would incur debts beyond its ability to pay as they mature. A
transfer may also be fraudulent if it was made with actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud creditors.
If a court found any transfers in connection with the Cryovac transaction to be fraudulent transfers, the
Company could be required to return the property or its value to the transferor or could be required to
fund liabilities of Grace or its subsidiaries for the benefit of their creditors, including asbestos
claimants. The Company has reached an agreement in principle and subsequently signed a settlement
agreement, described below, that will resolve all these claims. Previously, the Company was unable to
estimate the loss or range of loss in the event that there had been a finding that the Cryovac
transaction was a fraudulent transfer or gave rise to successor liability.

In the Joint Proxy Statement furnished to their respective stockholders in connection with the Cryovac
transaction, both parties to the transaction stated that it was their belief that Grace and its subsidiaries
were adequately capitalized and would be adequately capitalized after the Cryovac transaction and that
none of the transfers contemplated to occur in the Cryovac transaction would be a fraudulent transfer.
They also stated their belief that the Cryovac transaction complied with other relevant laws. However,
if a court applying the relevant legal standards had reached conclusions-adverse to the Company, these
determinations could have had a materially adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated results of
operations and financial position.

On April 2, 2001, Grace and a number of its subsidiaries filed petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court in the District of Delaware.
Grace stated that the filing was made in response to a sharply increasing number of asbestos claims
since 1999.

In connection with its Chapter 11 filing, Grace filed an application with the Bankruptcy Court seeking
to stay, among others, all actions brought against the Company and specified subsidiaries related to
alleged asbestos liabilities of Grace and its subsidiaries or alleging fraudulent transfer claims. The court
issued an order dated May 3, 2001, which was modified on January 22, 2002, under which the court
stayed-all the filed or pending asbestos actions against the Company and, upon filing and service on the
Company, all future asbestos actions. No further proceedings involving the Company can occur in the
actions that have been stayed except upon further order of the Bankruptcy Court.

Committees appointed to represent asbestos claimants in Grace’s bankruptcy case recelved the court’s
permission to pursue fraudiilent transfer and other claim§ against the Company and its subsidiary
Cryovac, Inc., and against Fresenius, as discussed below. The clalms against Fresenius are based upon a
1996 transaction between Fresenius and W. R. Grace & Co. — Conn. Fresenius is not affiliated with
the Company. In March 2002, the court ordered that the issues of the solveiicy of Grace following the
Cryovac transaction and whether Grace received reasonably equivalent value in the Cryovac transaction
would be tried on behalf of all of Grace’s creditors. This proceeding is pendmg in the U.S. District
Court for the District of Delaware (Adv. No. 02-02210).:

In June 2002, the court permitted the U.S. government to intervene as a plaintiff in the fraudulerit
transfer proceeding, so that the U.S. government could pursue allegations that remediation expenses
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were underestimated or omitted in the solvency analyses of Grace conducted at the time of the Cryovac
transaction. The court also permitted Grace, which asserted that the Cryovac transaction was not a
fraudulent transfer, to intervene in the proceeding. In July 2002, the court issued an interim ruling on
the legal standards to be applied in the trial, holding, among other things, that, subject to specified
limitations, post-1998 claims should be considered in the solvency analysis of Grace. The Company
believes that only claims and liabilities that were known, or reasonably should have been known, at the
time of the 1998 Cryovac transaction should be considered under the applicable standard.

On September 20, 2002, in an unrelated bankruptcy case, Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors of
Cybergenics Corp. v. Chinery, 304 F3d 316 (3d Cir. 2002), the United States Court of Appeals for the
Third Circuit held that only a trustee in bankruptcy or a debtor-in-possession could prosecute a
fraudulent transfer action. Since the plaintiffs in the fraudulent transfer case against the Company were
the Committees and not a trustee or debtor, and since the law of the Third Circuit is binding in the
District of Delaware, where the proceeding was pending, it was uncertain whether the Committees had
authority under the law to prosecute the constructive fraudulent transfer case and, accordingly, the
future posture of the case was uncertain. In light of the Cybergenics decision, on September 27, 2002,
the court postponed the trial date, which had originally been set for September 30, 2002, and then on
October 24, 2002 issued an order rescheduling the trial to begin on December 2, 2002 but granting the
parties permission to ask the Third Circuit to hear an immediate appeal of the order. On October 31,
2002, the Company asked the Third Circuit for permission to appeal the order. Given these
circumstances, the Company did not know whether the Committees would be permitted to prosecute
the fraudulent transfer and other claims against the Company or whether the Third Circuit might hold
that some other party (perhaps the debtor-in-possession or a trustee) might have to prosecute these
claims if it so chose. In the Grace bankruptcy proceeding, the debtor-in-possession had already taken
the position that it did not believe that the 1998 transaction was a fraudulent transfer.

On November 18, 2002, Judge Alfred M. Wolin, the judge hearing the Company’s case, advised the
parties that the Cybergenics decision would be reheard en banc, which had the effect of vacating the
prior decision.under Third Circuit rules. Judge Wolin also ordered the Company’s fraudulent
conveyance trial to commence on December 9, 2002 and ordered the parties to appear for mediation
on November 27, 2002,

On November 27, 2002, the Company reached an agreement in principle with the Committees
prosecuting the claims against the Company and Cryovac, Inc., to resolve all current and future
asbestos-related claims arising from the Cryovac transaction. On the same day, the court entered an
order confirming that the parties had reached an amicable resolution of the disputes among the parties
and that counsel for the Company and the Committees had agreed and bound the parties to the terms
of the agreement in principle. As discussed above, the agreement in principle calls for payment of

9 million shares of Sealed Air common stock and $512.5 million in cash, plus interest on the cash
payment at a 5.5% annual rate starting on December 21, 2002 and ending on the effective date of the
Grace plan of reorganization, when the Company is required to make the payment. These shares: are
subject to customary anti-dilution provisions that adjust for the effects of stock splits, stock dividends
and other events affecting the Company’s common stock. On December 3, 2002, the Company’s Board-
of Directors approved the agreement in principle. The Company received notice that both of the
Committees had approved the agreement in principle as of December 5, 2002. The parties subsequently

85




SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

(Amounts in tables in millions of dollars, except share and per share data)

Note 18 Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

signed a definitive settlement agreement as of November 10, 2003 consistent with the terms of the
agreement in principle. On November 26, 2003, the parties jointly presented the definitive settlement
agreement to the court for approval. After approval of the agreement, the agreement will eventually be
incorporated into Grace’s plan of reorganization and, assuming approval by Grace’s creditors as part of
the approval of the plan of reorganization, will then be implemented.

As a condition to the Company’s obligation to make the payments required by the settlement, Grace’s
plan of reorganization must be consistent with the terms of the settlement, including provisions for the
trusts and releases referred to below and for an injunction barring the prosecution of any asbestos-
related claims against the Company and its affiliates. In that case, the settlement will provide that,
upon the effective date of Grace’s plan of reorganization and payment of the shares and cash, all
present and future asbestos-related claims against the Company and its affiliates that arise from alleged
asbestos liabilities of Grace and its affiliates (including former affiliates that became affiliates of the
Company through the Cryovac transaction) will be channeled to and become the responsibility of one
or more trusts to be established under Section 524(g) of the Bankruptcy Code as part of Grace’s plan
of reorganization. The settlement will also resolve all fraudulent transfer claims against the Company
and its affiliates arising from the Cryovac transaction as well as the Fresenius claims described below.
The settlement will provide that the Company and its affiliates will receive releases of all those claims
upon payment. Under the agreement, the Company cannot seek indemnity from Grace for the
Company’s payments required by the settlement. The Company expects that the order approving the
settlement agreement will also provide that the stay of proceedings involving the Company described
above will continue through the effective date of Grace’s plan of reorganization, after which the
Company will be released from the liabilities asserted in those proceedings and their continued
prosecution against the Company will be enjoined.

The Company does not know when Grace’s plan of reorganization will be presented to the court for
approval, nor does it know whether the plan of reorganization will be.consistent with the terms of the
settlement or if the other conditions to the Company’s obligation to pay the settlement amount will be
met. If these conditions are not satisfied or not waived by the Company, the Company will not be
obligated to pay the settlement amount. However, if the Company does not pay the settlement amount,
the Company and its affiliates will not be released from the various asbestos-related, fraudulent
transfer, and indemnification claims made against them, and all of these claims would remain pending
and would have to be resolved through other means, such as through agreement on alternative
settlement terms or trials.

In January 2002, the Company flled a declaratory judgment action against Fresemus Medical Care
Holdings; Inc., its parent, Fresenius AG, a German company, and specified affiliates in New York State
court asking the court to resolve a contract dispute between the parties. The Fresenius parties
contended that the Company was obligated to indemnify them for liabilities that they might incur as a
result of the 1996 Fresenius transaction mentioned above. The Fresenius parties’ contention was based
on their interpretation of the agreements between them and W. R. Grace & Co. -—— Conn. in
connection with the 1996 Fresenius transaction. In February 2002, the Fresenius parties announced that
they had accrued a charge-of $172.0 million for these potential liabilities, which include pre-transaction
tax liabilities of Grace and the costs of defense of litigation arising from Grace’s Chapter 11 filing. The
Company believed that it was not responsible to indemnify the Fresenius parties under the 1996
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agreements and filed the action to proceed to a resolution of the Fresenius parties’ claims. In

April 2002, the Fresenius parties filed a motion to dismiss the action and for entry of declaratory relief
in its favor. The Company opposed the motion, and in July 2003, the court denied the motion without

prejudice in view of the November 27, 2002 agreement in principle referred to above. As noted above,

under the settlement agreement, there will be mutual releases exchanged between the Fresenius parties
and the Company releasing any and all claims related to the 1996 Fresenius transaction.

In view of Grace’s Chapter 11 filing, the Company may receive additional claims asserting that the
Company is liable for obligations that Grace had agreed to retain in the Cryovac transaction and for
which the Company may be contingently liable. To date, no material additional claims have been
asserted or threatened against the Company.

Final determinations and accountings under the Cryovac transaction agreements with respect to matters
pertaining to the transaction had not been completed at the time of Grace’s Chapter 11 filing in 2001.
The Company has filed claims in the bankruptcy proceeding that reflect all of the costs and liabilities
that it has.incurred or may incur that Grace and its affiliates agreed to retain or that are subject to
indemnification by Grace and its affiliates under the Cryovac transaction agreements, other than
payments to be made under the settlement agreement. Grace has alleged that the Company is
responsible for specified amounts under the Cryovac transaction agreements. Any amounts for which
the Company may be liable to Grace may be used to offset the liabilities of Grace and its affiliates to
the Company. The Company intends to seek indemnification by Grace and its affiliates for defense
costs related to asbestos and fraudulent transfer litigation and the Fresenius claims, and approximately
$8.1 million paid by the Company on account of its guaranty of debt issued by W. R. Grace & Co. —
Conn. Except to the extent of any potential setoff or similar claim, the Company expects that its claims
will be as an unsecured creditor of Grace. Since portions of the Company’s claims against Grace and
its affiliates are contingent or unliquidated, to the Company cannot determine the amount of the
Company’s claims, the extent to which these claims may be reduced by setoff, how much of the claims
may be allowed, or the amount of the Company’s recovery on these claims, if any, in the bankruptcy
proceeding. ‘

On September 15, 2003, the case of Senn v. Hickey, et al. (Case No. 03-CV-4372) was filed in the U.S.
District Court for the District of New Jersey (Newark). This lawsuit seeks class action status on behalf
of all persons who purchased or otherwise acquired securities of the Company during the period from
March 27, 2000 through July 30, 2002. The lawsuit names the Company and specified current and
former officers and directors of the Company as defendants. The Company is required to provide
indemnification to the other defendants, and accordingly the Company’s counsel is also defending
them. The lawsuit makes a number of allegations against the defendants. The principal allegations are
that during the above period the defendants materially misled the investing public, artificially inflated
the price of the Company’s common stock by publicly issuing false and misleading statements and
violated GAAP by failing to accrue for the Company’s contingent liability for asbestos claims arising
from past operations of Grace. The plaintiffs seek compensatory damages and other relief. The
Company intends to vigorously defend the lawsuit, since the Company believes that it properly
disclosed its contingent liability for Grace’s asbestos claims. Although the Company currently believes
that it should have no liability in this lawsuit, until the lawsuit has progressed beyond its current
preliminary stage, the Company cannot estimate the potential cost of an-unfavorable outcome, if any.
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Leases

The Company is obligated under the terms of various leases covering primarily warehouse and office
facilities and production equipment, as well as smaller manufacturing sites that it occupies. The
Company accounts for substantially all of its leases as operating leases. Net rental expense was

$27.0 million, $24.3 million and $23.2 million for 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Estimated future
minimum annual rental commitments under noncancelable real and personal property leases are as
follows: 2004 — $27.2 million; 2005 — $21.5 million; 2006 — $16.1 million; 2007 — $13.3 million;
2008 — $9.9 million; and subsequent years — $10.2 million.

Long-Term Commitments
The Company has the following jong-term commitments:

* Approximately $18.9 million for the purchase of equipment over a five-year period which began
in 2003, together with a potential termination fee in an amount to be determined. The
Company’s obligation is reduced or increased based on market price changes for the equlpment
and changes in the Packagmg Machinery Manufacturers Index. Estimated future minimum
annual commitments are as follows: 2004 — $3.9 million; 2005 — $4.5 million; 2006 —

$5.0 million; and 2007 — $5.5 million. Failure to purchase any of the minimum annual
requirements in any year obligates the Company to pay an amount of 45% of such shortfall.
During 2003 the Company did not meet the minimum equipment purchase requirements and
recorded a charge of $1.0 million.

* Approximately $12.9 million minimum commitment for the purchase of telecommunications and
network capacity and services over a four-year period that began in 2004,

* Approximately $8.4 million to a supplier if the Company fails to purchase 126.3 million pounds
of specified raw materials, at the then current market price, over a ten-year period that began in
May, 2002. The amount of the potential contingent payment declines in proportion to the
Company’s purchase of minimum quantities required under the contract. At December 31, 2003,

-the Company’s purchases were in line with the minimum quantlty requirements under the
© -agreement.

. '_Apprommately $6.0 million to a supplier of raw materials under an agreement that provides that

the Company commits to purchase a specified quantity of raw materials at a fixed price through
2004.

Environmental Matters

The Company is subject toe loss contingencies resulting from environmental laws and regulations, and it
accrues for anticipated costs associated with investigatory and remediation efforts when an assessment
has indicated that a loss is probable and can be reasonably estimated. These accruals do not take into
account any discounting for the time value of money and are not reduced by potential insurance
recoveries, if any. The Company does not believe that. it is reasonably possible that its liability in excess
of the amounts that it has accrued for environmental matters will be material to its consolidated
statements of operations, balance sheets or cash flows. Environmental liabilities are reassessed
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whenever circumstances become better defined or remediation efforts and their costs can be better
estimated. The Company evaluates these liabilities periodically based on available information,
including the progress of remedial investigations at each site, the current status of discussions with
regulatory authorities regarding the methods and extent of remediation and the apportionment of costs
among potentially responsible parties. As some of these issues are decided (the outcomes of which are
subject to uncertainties) or new sites are assessed and costs can be reasonably estimated, the Company.
adjusts the recorded accruals, as necessary. The Company believes that these exposures are not
material to its consolidated results of operations and balance sheets, The Company believes that it has
adequately reserved for all probable and estimable environmental exposures.

Note 19 New Accounting Pronouncements

Recently Issued Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, Accounting Guidance and Disclosure
Requirements

In July 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,”” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 141 requires that the purchase method of accounting be used
for all business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001 as well as all purchase method business
combinations completed after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill and intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but instead be tested for impairment at least
annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. This standard also required that intangible
assets with definite useful lives be amortized over their respéctive estimated useful lives to their
estimated residual values and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting
for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” The Company adopted the provisions of SFAS
No. 141 upon issuance and adopted SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 2002. Any goodwill and any
intangible assets determined to have an indefinite useful life that were acquired in a purchase business
combination completed after June 30, 2001 were not amortized, but were evaluated for impairment.
Goodwill and intangible assets acquired in business combinations completed before July 1, 2001 were
amortized through the end of 2001.

In connection with the transitional impairment evaluation, SFAS No. 142 required the Company to
assess whether goodwill and other intangible assets were impaired as of January 1, 2002. As required by
this statement, the Company completed its assessment process on a reporting unit basis as of June 30,
2002 and determined that no impairment charge was necessary as of January 1, 2002. A reporting unit
is the operating segment unless, at businesses one level below that operating segment — the
“component” level — discrete financial information is prepared and regularly reviewed by management
and the component has economic characteristics that are different from the economic characteristics of
the other components of the operating segments, in which case this component is the reporting unit. A
company must use a fair value approach to test goodwill for impairment. A company must recognize an
impairment charge for the amount, if any, by which the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds its fair
value. The Company derives an estimate of fair values for the Company as a whole and for each of the
Company’s reporting units by using discounted cash flows, equity market capitalization and comparative
market multiples.

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had unamortized goodwill in the amount of
$1,939.5 million and $1,926.2 million, respectively. Amortization expense related to goodwill was
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$57.0 million in 2001. Beginning January 1, 2002, in accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company
stopped recording amortization expense related to goodwill. Although the Company no longer
systematically amortizes goodwill, this standard requires that the Company conduct periodic reviews.to
assess whether or not the carrying amount of goodwill may be impaired. These reviews could result in
future write-downs of goodwill which would be reflected as a charge against operating income.

As required by SFAS No. 142, goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have to be
tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. The
Company completed its annual testing for impairment for 2003 and 2002 during the fourth quarters of

each year and determined that no impairment charge was necessary on a reporting unit basis in either
period. :

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had identifiable intangible assets with definite useful
lives with a gross carrying value of $70.8 million and $69.1 million, respectively, less accumulated
amortization of $54.5 million and $47.7 million, respectively. These identifiable intangible assets
therefore are immaterial to the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Amortization of identifiable
intangible assets was approximately $6.1 million for-2003. Assuming no change in the gross carrying
value of identifiable intangible assets from the value at December 31, 2003, the estimated amortization
for the year ended December 31, 2003 and the next four succeeding years is approximately $6.1 million
per year. These assets are reflected in “other assets” in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. At
December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were no identifiable intangible assets, other than goodwill, with
indefinite useful lives as defined by SFAS No. 142.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the basic and diluted earnings per common share
computations for the year ended December 31, 2001 as if SFAS No. 142 were adopted as of January 1,
2001 (shares in millions):

For the Year Ended
December 31, 2001

December 31, Add Back: December 31,
© 2001 Goodwill 2001
As Reported Amortization  Adjusted

Basic EPS:

Numerator o .

Net Carmings . . ottt c et et $156.70 $57.01 $213.71
Add: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock . . ... 7.45 - 7.45
Less: Preferred stock dividends . ............... ... .......... 55.02 — 55.02
Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders — basic . ............ $109.13 $57.01 $166.14-
Denominator ‘

Weighted.average common shares outstanding — basic . .. ...... N 83.69 — 83.69
Basic earnings per common share. . . ............ T e $ 130 $ 0.69 $ 199
Diluted EPS: ' '

Numerator .

Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders — basic ......... ... $10943 $57.01 $166.14
Less: Excess of book value over repurchase price of preferred stock .. ... 7.45 — 7.45
Add: Dividends associated with repurchased preferred stock........... 0.3 — 03
Net earnings ascribed to common shareholders — diluted ... ......... $101.98 $57.01 $158.99
Denominator ‘ ‘

Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic . . . . ............ 83.69 — 83.69
Effect of conversion of repurchased preferred stock ............ sene 0.21 — 0.21
Weighted average common shares outstanding — diluted . . . .. ......... 83.90 — 83.90
Diluted earnings per common share ........... e et $ 122 $ 0.67 $ 1.89

In December 2003, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin

(“SAB”) 104, “Revenue Recognition.” The SAB updates portions of the interpretive guidance included
in Topic 13 of the codification of staff accounting bulletins in order to make the guidance consistent
with current authoritative accounting literature. The principal revisions relate to the incorporation of
certain sections of the staff’s frequently asked questions document on revenue recognition into

Topic 13. The adoption of SAB 104 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2003, FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN) 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness to Others, an
interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 and a rescission of FASB Interpretation No. 34”
was issued. This Interpretation enhances disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its interim and
annual financial statements about its obligations under guarantees. The Interpretation also clarifies that
a guarantor is required to recognize, at inception of a guarantee, a hablhty for the fair value of the
obligation undertaken. The initial recognition and measurement provisions of the Interpretation were
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applicable to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002, and the disclosure requirements
were effective for financial statements for interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002.
The adoption of FIN 45 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial '
statements. :

In April 2003, the FASB issued Statement No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No. 149 is intended to result in more consistent reporting
of contracts as either freestanding derivative instruments subject to SFAS No. 133 in its entirety, or as
hybrid instruments with debt host contracts and embedded derivative features. In addition, SFAS

No. 149 clarifies the definition of a derivative by providing guidance on initial net investments related
to derivatives. SFAS 149 is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003. The
adoption of SFAS No. 149 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.

On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Asset Retirement Obligations,” which
provides the accounting requirements for retirement obligations associated with tangible long-lived
assets. This statement requires entities to record the fair value .of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation in the period in which it is incurred. The adoption of SFAS No. 143 did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the Emerging Issues Task Force issued EITF 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer
(Including a Reseller) for Certain Consideration Received from a Vendor,” which states that cash
consideration received from a vendor is presumed to be a reduction of the prices of the vendor’s
products or services and should, therefore, be characterized as a ‘reduction of cost of sales when
recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. That presumption is overcome when the
consideration is either a reimbursement of specific, incremental, identifiable costs incurred to sell the
vendor’s products or a payment for assets or services delivéred-to the vendor. EITF 02-16 is effective
for arrangements entered into after December 31, 2002. The adoption of EITF 02-16 did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensanon —_
Transition and Disclosure,” which prov1des alternative methods of transition for companies that choose
to switch to the fair value method of ‘accounting for stock _options. SFAS No. 148 also makes changes in .
the disclosure requirements for stock-based compensatxon regardless of which method of accounting is
chosen. The Company had terminated all prev1ously maintained stock option plans effective March 31,
1998 in’ connection with the Cryovac transaction, except with respect’ to options that were still
outstanding as of that date. The adoption of SFAS No. 148 did not have a material 1mpact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In April 2002, FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of SFAS No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of SFAS
No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” SFAS 145 amends existing, guldance on reporting gains and losses
on the extmgmshment of debt to prohibit the classification of the gain or 10ss as extraordinary, as the
use of such extmgunshments have become part of the risk management strategy of many companies.
SFAS No. 145 also amends SFAS No. 13, “Accountmg for Leases,” to require sale-leaseback accounting
for certain lease modifications that have economic effects similar to sale-leaseback transactions. The
provisions of Statement 145 related to the rescission of SFAS No. 4 “Reportlng Gains and Losses from
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Extinguishment of Debt,” were applied in fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. The provisions of
Statement 145 related to Statement 13 were effective for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002. In
December 2003, the Company used net cash of $208.2 million to repurchase, at a premium in the open
market, $122.5 million face amount of its 8.75% senior notes and $50.0 million face amount of its
6.95% senior notes and terminate interest rate swaps on the 8.75% senior notes with a total notional
amount of $100.0 million which resulted in a loss of $33.6 million, which the Company reflected in the
statement of operations as “Loss on debt repurchase” in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 145.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal
Activities.” SFAS No. 146 nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force or EITF Issue No. 94-3, “Liability
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including
Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)” and requires that a liability for a cost associated with an
exit or disposal activity be recognized and measured initially at fair value in the period in which the
liability is incurred. Under EITF 94-3, a liability for an exit cost was required to be recognized at the
date of an entity’s commitment to an exit plan. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 is expected to result in
delayed recognition for some types of costs as compared to the provisions of EITF 94-3. SEAS No. 146
is effective for new exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002 and does not
affect amounts currently reported in the Companys consolidated financial statements. SFAS No. 146
will affect the types and timing of costs included in future restructuring programs, if any.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity.” SFAS No. 150 establishes standards for how an issuer
classifies and measures specified financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity.
It requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset
in some circumnstances). Many of those instruments were previously classified as equity. SFAS No. 150
became effective for the Company on July 1, 2003, The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2003, FASB issued SFAS No. 132 (revised), “Employers Disclosures about Pensions and
Other Postretirement Benefits.” SFAS No. 132 (revised) prescribes employers’ disclosures about
pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans; it does not change the measurement or
recognition of those plans. SFAS No. 132 (revised) reforms and revises the disclosure requirements
contained in the original Statement. It also requires additional disclosures about the assets, obligations,
cash flows, and net periodic benefit cost of defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement
benefit plans. The statement generally is effective for U.S. plan disclosures for fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2003. Disclosures for non-U.S. plans are not affected until fiscal years ending after
December 15, 2004. The Company’s dlsclosures in Note 11 incorporate the changes prescribed by SFAS
No. 132 (revxsed)

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. (“FIN”) 46 (revised December 2003),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” which addresses how a business enterprise should
evaluate whether it has a controlling financial interest in an entity through means other than voting
rights and, accordingly, should consolidate the entity. 'FIN 46R replaces FIN 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities,” which was issued in January 2003. The Company will be required to apply
FIN 46R to variable interests in VIEs created after December 31, 2003. For variable interests in VIEs
created before January 1, 2004, the Interpretation will be applied beginning on January 1, 2005. For
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any VIEs that must be consolidated under FIN 46R that were created before January 1, 2004, the
assets, liabilities, and noncontrolling interests of the VIE initially would be measured at their carrying
amounts with any difference between the net amount added to the balance sheet and any previously
recognized interest being recognized as the cumulative effect of an accounting change. If determining
the carrying amounts is not practicable, fair value at the date FIN 46R first applies may be used to
measure the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interest of the VIE. The Company does not currently
expect the adoption of FIN 46R to have a material impact on the 2004 consolidated financial
statements.

Note 20 Interim Financial Information (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter(2)
2003 (1) o » _
Netsales .......oooveuunnn.. [P e e $8229 $865.6 $908.7 $934.8
Grossprofit . ... ... e 259.5 2695 2889 294.9
Net earnings. . .............. F I 61.7 65.8 66.1 46.9
Preferred stock dividends ... .......... ..t 13.3 12.9 24 —
Earnings per common share — basic(3) ................. 0.57 0.63 0.45 0.55
Earnings per common share — diluted(3) ............... 0.52 0.56 0.41 0.50
2002 (1) ' v
Net SalES .« .\ttt e $746.1 $786.3 $825.8 § 846.1
Grbssprofit.,.............................; ..... 2506 2600 264.1 2829
Net earnings (loss) . ... .. e e 60.5 66.0 66.2 (501.8)
Preferred stock dividends . .. ... .. .. .o L . 13.7 13.6 13.3 133
Earnings (loss) per common share — basic(3) ............ 0.56 0.66 0.70 (6.12)
Earnings (loss) per common share — diluted(3) ........... - 056 0.61 0.62 (6 13)

(1) The sum of the four quarterly amounts may not equal the full year amounts due to’ roundmg in
each period.

(2) In November 2002 the Company reached an agreement in principle with the appropnate parties
to resolve all current and future asbestos-related claims made against it and its affiliates in
connection with the Cryovac transaction. The parties signed a definitive settlement agreement as of
November 10, 2003 consistent with the terms of the agreement in principle. In connection with this
settlement, the Company recorded a pre-tax charge of $850.1 million in the consolidated statement
of operations in 2002, which resulted in the Company’s net loss for the year ended December 31,
2002. See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(3) The sums of the four quarterly earnmgs per common share amounts may not equal the amounts
reported for the full years since each period is calculated separately.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that are designed to ensure that information required to
be disclosed in the Company’s reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms and that the Company’s employees accumulate this information and
communicate it to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding the required disclosure. In
designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any
controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable
assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily must apply its
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures under Rule 13a-15. Based upon that evaluation, the -
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

There has not been any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the
Company’s . most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II1
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Part of the information required in response to this Item is set forth in Part I of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant,” and the balance except as set
forth below will be included-in the Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under the captions “Election of Directors — Information Concerning Nominees” and
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” All such information is incorporated
herein by reference.

The Company has adopted a Code of Conduct applicable to all officers and employees and a
supplemental Code of Ethics for Senior Financial Executives applicable to the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller, Treasurer, and all other employees performing
similar functions for the Company. The texts of the Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethics for
Senior Financial Executives are posted on the Company’s Internet web site at www.sealedaircom. The
Company will post amendments to the Code of Conduct and the Code of Ethics for Senior Financial
Executives on its Internet web site. The Company will also post waivers applicable to any of the senior
financial officers listed above from provisions of the Code of Conduct or the Code of Ethics for Senior
Financial Executives on its Internet web site.

The Company’s Board of Directors has adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines and charters for its
three standing committees, the Audit Committee, the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee, and the Organization and Compensation Committee. Copies of the Corporate Governance
Guidelines and the charters are posted on the Company’s Internet web site at www.sealedaircom and
are available in print to any stockholder who requests them by calling the Company at 201-791-7600 or
writing to Investor Relations, Sealed Air Corporation, Park 80 East, Saddle Brook, New Jersey
07663-5291. '

The Company’s Audit Committee is comprised of directors Hank Brown, who serves as chairman,
Michael Chu and Lawrence R. Codey. The Company’s Board of Directors has determined that each of
the three members of the Audit Committee is an audit committee financial expert in accordance with
the standards of the Securities and Exchange Commission and that each is independent, as defined in
the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. applicable to the Company and as
determined by the Board of Directors.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required in response to this Item will be set forth in the Company’s Proxy Statement
for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Director Compensation,” “Executive
Compensation—Summary Compensation Table” and “Meetings and Committees of the Board of
Directors; Status of Members — Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.” Such
information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Except as set forth below, the information required in response to this Item will be set forth in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the caption “Voting
Securities.” Such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information as of December 31, 2003

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2003 with respect to shares of Common
Stock that may be issued under the Contingent Stock Plan of Sealed Air Corporation and the Sealed
Air Corporation 2002 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors.

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance Under

Number of Securities to be Weighted-Average Equity Compensation
Issued Upon Exercise of Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Securities Reflected in
Warrants and Rights Warrants, and Rights Column (a))
Plan Category(1) (a) (b) ' (©
Equity compensation plans approved
by stockholders(2) . ............. 70,560 ) 985,806
Equity compensation plans not
approved by stockholders . . . .. SN — — —
Total . . ... . 70,560 ‘ L — 985,806

(1) The table does not include information concerning equity compensation plans that have been
terminated. Stock option plans in which employees of the Cryovac packaging business participated
were terminated as of March 31, 1998 in connection with the Cryovac transaction except with
respect to options that were still outstanding as of that date. At December 31, 2003, a total of
188,830 shares of Common Stock were issuable upon the exercise of those outstanding options at
an average per share exercise price of $39.36.

(2) Consists of the Contingent Stock Plan and the 2002 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors.
Column (3) includes 60,500 shares awarded under the Contingent Stock Plan but not yet issued as
of December 31, 2003, as well as 10,060 deferred stock umits held by non-employee directors. The
exercise price for shares awarded under the Contingent Stock Plan is $1.00 per share. The exercise
price for deferred stock units held by non-employee directors is $0.10 per share, all of which had
been paid to the Company prior to December 31; 2003.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

None.

Item 14, Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required in respornse to this item will be included in the Company’s Proxy Statement
for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the captions “Principal Independent Auditor Fees”
and “Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures.” All such information is incorporated
herein by reference. : ‘
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Documents filed as a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(i)i -Financidl_Statements and Financial Statement Schedule

See In"dex'to‘Cbnsolidated Financial Statements and Schedule on page 38 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. :

(ii) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description
2.1 Distribution Agreement dated as of March 30, 1998 among the Company, W. R. Grace &
Co.-Conn., and W.R. Grace & Co. (Exhibit 2.2 to the Company’s Current Report on

- Form 8-K, Date of Report March 31, 1998, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference.)

3.1 Unofficial Composite Amended and Restated Certificate of-Incorporation of the Company as
currently in effect. (Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Registrationi-Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 333-108544, is incorporated herein by reference.)

32  Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company as currently in effect. (Exhibit 3.3 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.)

4.1 Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2003, of the Company, as Issuer to SunTrust Bank as Trustee,

4 regarding 5.625% Senior Notes Due 2013 and 6.875% Senior. Notes Due 2033, (Exhibit 4.1 to
the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2003, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.)

4.2 Indenture, dated as of July 1, 2003, of the Comipany, as Issuer, to SunTrust Bank, as Trustee,
regarding 3% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2033. (Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated
herein by reference.)

43 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2003, between the Company, as Issuer, and
the initial purchasers of the Company’s 3% Convertible Senior Notes Due 2033. (Exhibit 4.3
_to the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2003, File
No. 1- 12139 is incorporated herein by reference)

10.1° Employee Benefits Allocation Agreement dated as of March 30, 1998 among the Company,
W. R. Grace & Co.-Conn. and W. R. Grace & Co. (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current

Report on Form 8-K, Date of Report March 31, 1998, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein
by reference.)

10.2  Tax Sharing Agreement dated as of March 30, 1998 by and among the Company, W. R.
Grace & Co.-Conn. and W. R. Grace & Co. (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, Date of Report March 31, 1998, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference.)
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Exhibit
Number

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

Description
Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors of the Company. (Annex E to the

Company’s Proxy Statement for the 1998 ‘Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.)*

W. R. Grace & Co. 1996 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. (Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q of W. R. Grace & Co. for the quarter ended March 31, 1997, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.)*

W. R. Grace & Co. 1994 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. (Exhibit 10.6 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed October 10, 1996 of W. R. Grace & Co., File No. 1-12139, is
incorporated herein by reference.)*

W. R. Grace & Co. 1989 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended. (Exhibit 10.5 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed October 10, 1996 of W. R. Grace & Co., File No. 1- 12139, is
incorporated herein by reference.)*

Form of Contingent Stock Purchase Agreement-Section 162(m) Officer. (Exhibit 10.8 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.)*

Form of Contingent Stock Purchase Agreement-Officer. (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, File No. 1-12139,
is incorporated herein by reference.)* .

Form of Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement. (Exhibit 4.4 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8, Registration No. 333-59195, is incorporated herein by reference.)*

Sealed Air Corporation Performance-Based Compensation Program. (Annex A to the
Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.)*

Contingent Stock Plan of the Company, as amended. (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000, File No. 1-12139,
is incorporated herein by reference.)*

Sealed Air Corporation 2002 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors. (Annex A to the

Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2002 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated
herein by reference.)*

Form of Stock Purchase Agreement for use in connection with the Company’s 2002 Stock
Plan for Non-Employee Directors. (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002, File No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by
reference.)*

Sealed Air Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors. (Exhibit 10.21 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, File
No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.)*

Agreement in Principle, dated November 27, 2002, by and among the Official Committee of
Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants, the Official Committee of Asbestos Property Damage
Claimants, the Company, and the Company’s subsidiary, Cryovac, Inc. (Exhibit 10.22 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, File

No. 1-12139, is incorporated herein by reference.)
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Exhibit
Number

10.16

10.17

21
23
31.1

312

321

322

Description

Settlement Agreement and Release, dated November 10, 2003, by and among the Official
Committee of Asbestos Personal Injury Claimants, the Official Committee of Asbestos
Property Damage Claimants, the Company, and the Company’s subsidiary, Cryovac, Inc.
(Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Amendment No. 3 to its Registration Statement on Form S-3,
Registration No. 333-108544, is incorporated herein by reference.)

Revolving Credit Facility (3-year), dated as of December 19, 2003, among the Company,
certain of the Company’s subsidiaries, banks and financial institutions party thereto, and
Citibank, N.A. as agent for the lenders.

Subsidiaries of the Company.
Consent of KPMG LLP.

Certification of William V. Hickey, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a), dated March 11, 2004.

Certification of David H. Kelsey, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, pursuant to
Rule 13a-14(a), dated March 11, 2004.

Certification of William V. Hickey, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, pursuant to 18

U.S.C. § 1350, dated March 11, 2004.

Certification of David H. Kelsey, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, pursuant to 18
US.C. § 1350, dated March 11, 2004.

* Compensatory plan or arrangement of management required to be filed as an exhibit to this report
on Form 10-K.
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(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

The Company filed the following Current Report ont‘lF‘o?m 8-K during the fiscal quarter ended

December 31, 2003:

Date Of Report
November 4, 2003

Disclosures

Under Item 5 — “Other Events and Regulation FD

- Disclosure,” the Company reported that it had

become aware of a lawsuit seeking class action status
on behalf of certain acquirors of the Company’s
securities (Senn v. Hickey, et al.)

The Company furnished the following Current:‘Re'port on Form 8-K during the fiscal quarter ended

December 31, 2003:

Date Of Report
October 22, 2003

Disclosures

Under Items 7(c) — “Exhibits” and 12 — “Results
of Operations and Financial Condition,” the
Company disclosed its financial results for the thlrd
quarter of 2003 and its outlook for the full year 2003.
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SEALED AIR CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE 11
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reéserves
Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001
{In millions of dollars)

Balance At Charged To Balance At
Beginning Of  Costs And End Of

Description 7 . Year Expenses Other  Deductions Year
Year ended December 31, 2003: :

Allowance for doubtful accounts.......... $18.7 $ 2.1 $13 $(4.2)(1) $17.9

Inventory obsolescence reserve ... ... ..... $28.1 $ 7.0 $1.0 $(4.8)(2) $313
Year ended December 31, 2002:

Allowance for doubtful accounts. ......... $25.4 $52 $(2.6)  $(9.3)(1) $187

Inventory obsolescence reserve ... ........ $30.3 $ 55 $ — . 3(0.1(2) 3281
Year ended December 31, 2001:

Allowance for doubtful accounts.......... = $21.2 $87 $09  $(54)1) $254

Inventory obsolescence reserve . . ... ... ... $24.3 $10.2 $0.7 $(4.9)(2) $303
(1) Primarily accounts receivable balances written off.
(2) Primarily items removed from inventory.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized. A D

SEALED AIR CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: March 11, 2004 By: /s/ William V. Hickey

William V. Hickey
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Date

By /s/ William V. Hickey March 11, 2004

William V. Hickey
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

By /s/ David H. Kelsey March 11, 2004
David H. Kelsey '
Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer)

By /s/ Jeffrey S. Warren March 11, 2004

Jeffrey S. Warren
Controller (Principal Accounting
Officer)

By /s/ Hank Brown March 11, 2004

Hank Brown
Director

By /s/ Michael Chu March 11, 2004

Michael Chu
Director

By /s/ Lawrence R. Codey March 11, 2004

Lawrence R. Codey
Director
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By

By

By

By

Signature

/s/ T. J. Dermot Dunphy

T J. Dermot Dunphy
Director

/s/ Charles F. Farrell, Ir.

Charles F. Farrell, Jr.
Director

/s/ Kenneth P. Manning

Kenneth P. Manning .
Director

/s/ William J. Marino

William J. Marino
Director
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March 11, 2004




EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The following table sets forth the name and state or other jurisdiction of incorporation of the
Company’s subsidiaries. Except as otherwise indicated, each subsidiary is wholly owned, directly or

indirectly, by the Company and does business under its corporate name.

Ciras CV

Corporativo Cryovac S.R.L. de C.V.
CPI Packaging, Inc.

Cryovac Australia Pty. Ltd.

Cryovac Brazil Ltda.

Cryovac B.V.

Cryovac Chile Holdings, LLC
Cryovac China Holdings I, Inc.
Cryovac Far East Holdings, LLC.
Cryovac (Gaoming) Co., Ltd.**
Cryovac Holdings S.R.L. de C.V.
Cryovac, Inc.t

Cryovac India Private Limited
Cryovac International Holdings, Inc.
Cryovac Leasing Corporation
Cryovac (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Cryovac Packaging Portugal Embalagens, Ltda.

Cryovac (Philippines). Inc.

Cryovac Poland Holdings, Inc.

Cryovac Rigid Packaging Pty. Ltd.
Cryovac (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.

Cryovac Systems (Hong Kong) Limited
Cryovac (Thailand) Limited

Dry Chill Pty. Ltd.

Drypac Pty. Ltd.

EEIG VES'™

Getpacking Limited

Getpacking.com, GmbH

Invertol SR.L. de C.V.

Kelder Plastibox B.V.

Noja Inmobiliaria, S.A. de C.V.

Omni Supply Inc.**

Polymask Corporation*

Poly Packaging Systems, Inc.
Polypride, Inc.

Producembal-Produgao de Embalagens, Ltda
Reflectix, Inc. ,

Saddle Brook Insurance Company
Sealed Air Africa (Pty) Ltd.

Sealed Air Argentina S.A.

Sealed Air Australia (Holdings) Pty. Limited
Sealed Air Australia Pty. Limited
Sealed Air Belgium NV

Sealed Air Botswana (Pty.) Limited
Sealed Air Brasil Ltda.

Sealed Air B.V.

Sealed Air (Canada) Co./CIE

Netherlands
Mexico
Delaware
Australia
Brazil
Netherlands
Delaware
Cayman Isiands, BWI
Delaware
China

Mexico
Delaware
India
Delaware
Delaware
Malaysia
Portugal
Philippines
Delaware
Australia
Singapore
Hong Kong
Thailand
Australia
Australia
France

United Kingdom
Switzerland
Mexico
Netherlands
Mexico

North Carolina
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Portugal
Delaware
Vermont
South Africa
Argentina
Australia -
Queensland, Australia
Belgium
Botswana
Brazil
Netherlands
Ontario, Canada




Sealed Air (Canada)} Holdings BV

Sealed Air Central America, S.A.

Sealed Air Chile Industrial Ltda.

Sealed Air (China) Limited

Sealed Air Colombia Ltda.

Sealed Air Corporation (US)

Sealed Air de Mexico S. de R.L. de C.\V.
Sealed Air Denmark A/S

Sealed Air de Venezuela, S.A.

Sealed Air Embalagens Ltda.

Seaied Air Finance B.V.

Sealed Air Finance II B.V.

Sealed Air Finance Ireland

Sealed Air Finance, LLC

Sealed Air Foreign Sales Corp.

Sealed Air Funding Corporation

Sealed Air (Gaoming) Packaging Co., Ltd.
Sealed Air GmbH

Sealed Air GmbH

Sealed Air (Greenore) Limited

Sealed Air Hellas S.A.

Sealed Air Holdings (New Zealand) I, LLC
Sealed Air Holdings (UK) Limited
Sealed Air Hong Kong Limited

Sealed Air Hungary Kft.

Sealed Air (India) Limited

Sealed Air International LLC

Sealed Air (Ireland) Limited

Sealed Air (Israel) Ltd.

Sealed Air Italy S.R.L.

Sealed Air Japan Limited

Sealed Air Kaustik ZAO**

Sealed Air Korea Limited

Sealed Air (Latin America) Holdings II, LLC
Sealed Air Limited

Sealed Air Limited

Sealed Air LLC

Sealed Air Luxembourg S.C.A.

Sealed Air Luxembourg S.a.r.l

Sealed Air Luxembourg (I) S.a.r.l.

Sealed Air Luxembourg (II) S.a.r.l.
Sealed Air (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Sealed Air Management Holding GmbH & Co., KG
Sealed Air Management Holding Verwaltungs GmbH
Sealed Air Multiflex GmbH

Sealed Air Netherlands (Holdings) B.V.
Sealed Air Netherlands (Holdings) I B.V.
Sealed Air Netherlands (Holdings) II B.V.
Sealed Air Nevada Holdings Limited
Sealed Air (New Zealand)

Sealed Air Norge AS

Sealed Air 000

Sealed Air Oy

Sealed Air Packaging Holdings (Israel) Ltd.

Netherlands
Guatemala
Chile
Delaware
Colombia
Delaware
Mexico
Denmark
Venezuela
Brazil
Netherlands
Netherlands
Ireland
Delaware
Barbados
Delaware
China
Germany
Switzerland
Ireland
Greece
Delaware
United Kingdom
Hong Kong
Hungary

Delaware

Delaware
Ireland
Israel

Italy

Japan
Russia
Korea
Delaware
Ireland
United Kingdom
Delaware
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Malaysia
Germany
Germany
Germany
Netheriands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Nevada. .
New Zealand
Norway
Russia .
Finland
Israel




Sealed Air Packaging Limited

Sealed Air Packaging LL.C

Sealed Air Packaging, S.L.

Sealed Air Packaging S.A.S.

Sealed Air Packaging (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
Sealed Air Packaging S.R.L.

Sealed Air Peketieme Ticaret Limited Sirketi
Sealed Air Peru S.R.L.

Sealed Air (Philippines) Inc.

Sealed Air Polska Sp. z.0.0.

Sealed Air (Puerto Rico) Incorporated
Sealed Air S.AS.

Sealed Air SEE Ltd.

Sealed Air (Singapore) Pte. Limited
Sealed Air S.I1..

Sealed Air Spain (Holdings) SL
Sealed Air Spain (Holdings) II, SL
Sealed Air S.R.L.

Sealed Air s.r.o

Sealed Air Svenska AB

Sealed Air Systems S.A.

Sealed Air Taiwan Limited

Sealed Air (Thailand) Limited

Sealed Air (Ukraine) Limited

Sealed Air Uruguay S.A.

Sealed Air Venezuela, S.A.

Sealed Air Verpackungen GmbH
Shanklin Corporation

Soinpar Industrial Ltda.

Tart s.r.o***

*®

* %

The Company directly or indirectly owns 50% of the outstanding shares.

United Kingdom
Delaware

Spain

France

China

Italy

- Turkey

Peru
Philippines
Poland
Delaware
France
Greece
Singapore
Spain
Spain
Spain

Ttaly

Czech Republic
Sweden
France
Taiwan
Thailand
Ukraine
Uruguay
Venezuela
Germany
Delaware
Brazil
Czech Republic

The Company directly or indirectly owns a majority of the outstanding shares.

*** The Company directly or indirectly owns less than 50% of the outstanding shares.

t  Cryovac does business in certain states under the name “Sealed Air Shrink Packaging Division.”

Certain subsidiaries are omitted from the above table. Such subsidiaries, if considered in the aggregate
as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary as of December 31, 2003.




EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, William V. Hickey, President and Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sealed Air Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the. registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) Al significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the reglstrant s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2004 : /s/ William V. Hickey

William V. Hickey
President and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

1, David H. Kelsey, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sealed Air Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness. of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 11, 2004 ‘ /s/ David H. Kelsey

David H. Kelsey
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification of CEO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursunant te
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”) for -
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission .on the
date hereof (the “Report”), I, William V. Hickey, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby
certify, pursuant to -18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ William V. Hickey

Name: William V. Hickey
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 11, 2004




EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification of CFO Pursuant to’
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Sealed Air Corporation (the “Company”) for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the
date hereof (the “Report”), I, David H. Kelsey,:as:Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to:§ 906 of the Sarbanes -Oxley-Act of 2002,
that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s{ David H. Kelsey

Name: David H. Kelsey
Title: Chief Financial Officer
Date: March 11, 2004
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